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Disclaimer
This document contains statements about expected 
future events and fi nancials of Rushil Décor Limited, 
which are forward-looking. By their nature, forward-
looking statements require the Company to make 
assumptions and are subject to inherent risks and 
uncertainties. There is signifi cant risk that the 
assumptions, predictions and other forward-looking 
statements may not prove to be accurate. Readers 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements as a number of factors could cause 
assumptions, actual future results and events to differ 
materially from those expressed in the forward-looking 
statements. Accordingly, this document is subject 
to the disclaimer and qualifi ed in its entirety by the 
assumptions, qualifi cations and risk factors referred to in 
the Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual 
Report.

Please fi nd our online version at 
https://www.rushil.com/fi nancial

Or simply scan to download

Investor information
Market Capitalisation as at 31st March, 2019 : ` 685 Crore 
CIN : L25209GJ1993PLC019532
BSE Code : 533470 
NSE Symbol : RUSHIL
Bloomberg Code : RDL:IN
Dividend Declared : 5% (` 0.50 per share)
AGM Date : Saturday, 21st September, 
                                                                                        2019    
AGM Venue Registered offi ce of the Company at S. No. 125, Near 

Kalyanpura Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, 
Tal. Kalol, Dist. Gandhinagar-382845, Gujarat INDIA. 

Shareholding 
Structure

Promoters and Promoters Group (52.85%)
Public (47.15%)

https://www.rushil.com/financial


VISION STATEMENT
Create a better everyday life for our 
customers. Our vision is to offer a wide 
range of well-designed, environment friendly 
functional products at affordable prices and 
commit to deliver growth consistently to our  
investors and employees. Our objective is 
to have long-standing and trustful investor, 
customer and employee relationships 
by creating ‘tangible value’ consistently, 
effi ciently and ethically.

MISSION STATEMENT
Delivering sustainable growth consistently 
to our investors and employees. Exceed our 
internal and external customer requirements 
through continuous improvement, and 
inspire employees to do their best by 
offering opportunities for personal 
development and enabling them realize their 
full potential.

Rushil Décor Limited (referred as ‘RDL’ or ‘the Company’), 
with a committed journey over twenty-fi ve years since 1993, 
is a key manufacturer of wood engineered products. The key 
product categories include Medium Density Fibre (MDF) Board, 
Laminate Sheets and Poly Vinyl Chloride (PVC) Board. 

Our diverse, durable and eco-friendly offerings provide latest 
awe-inspiring designs to the millennials and next generation 
customers. All this comes with the highest standards of 
quality, in an affordable manner. Our essence of innovation and 
excellence in producing sustainable and world-class products 
have redefi ned the residential, commercial and institutional 
spaces.

We have successfully positioned ourselves as one 
of the leading brands in the Laminates segment and 
the domestic MDF Board manufacturer. We aim to 
become the fi rst choice in the Laminates and Panel 
industry in India and in the world.

BEAUTIFYING HOMES. 
GLORIFYING LIVES.

*EBIDTA: Earnings before Interest, 
Depreciation, Tax and Amortization

*EPS: Earnings Per Share        *PAT: Profi t after Tax

`352.23 Cr
Revenues 
in 2018-19

`45.14 Cr
EBIDTA 

in 2018-19

`14.33 Cr
PAT 

in 2018-19

`9.61
EPS 

in 2018-19

400+
Employee 
strength



The generation of the millennials and Gen Z is all for 
‘readymade’ due to their swift and busy lifestyle. From tea to 
table, they need everything readymade. The same applies to 
the furniture industry as well when it comes to the selection 
of the furniture. Be it for a house or an offi ce space. This 
will lead to a strong demand in the modern eco-friendly 
offerings. 

This is where our position as a leading interior infrastructure 
player in India will be advantageous. Our products are 
crafted with expertise and excellence to make them best-
in-class in their respective categories. Our products 
– MDF Board, Laminates Sheets and PVC Boards – are 
manufactured across fi ve state-of-the-art facilities across 
India. It allows us to encash the budding opportunities from 
the diverse markets. 

OFFERINGS FOR THE 
GEN-NEXT… 

Why are we preferred?

Affordable User-friendly Best-in-class 
quality

Aesthetic 
appeal Consistency Convenience

2 Rushil Decor Limited



Design fi rst, quality 
fi rst brand approach

De-risking geographic 
& customer segments

Product innovation 
& value engineering

Customer education and 
smart fashion coupled 

with value-based products

Strategic 
Competitive Advantage:

01 - 16 17 - 84 86 - 140
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Uses
The MDF 
boards for pre-
lamination can 
be used in:

• Kitchen 
cabinet doors

• Offi ce home 
furniture

• High gloss 
digital 
printing 
laminated 
board

4 Ft. X 8 Ft
Size

7 mm
to 30 mm

Thickness 

We are India’s leading manufacturer of Medium Density 
Fibre Board (MDF). A new-age product, MDF is sourced 
through Agroforestry, made from dried Eucalyptus and Silver 
Oaks’ wood fi bre. 

This board is an advanced form of wood panels. It has 
replaced Plywood industry. It is set to be the future of 
the furniture industry. MDF board allows precise routing, 
machining and fi nishing techniques for a superior fi nish. It 
is more stable than solid wood which withstands changes 
due to heat and humidity better.

Our modern manufacturing unit based in Karnataka has 
state-of-the-art CNC machines that make MDF with 
homogeneity and less wastage. The opportunity landscape 
for MDF in India and other geographies continues to be 
manifold. The budding business optimism encourages us 
to enhance capacities to make the most of a fl ourishing 
demand scenario. Our products are an ideal choice for 
making strong and durable furniture and creating unique 
interiors. Our proposed new unit set up in Andhra Pradesh 
will allow us to leverage the underlying opportunities.

ECO-FRIENDLY 
AND MODERN

4 Rushil Decor Limited



Pre-laminated 
MDF Board
The Vir pre-laminated MDF Board 
products are made by compressing 
decorative Melamine-impregnated 
paper on to the MDF Boards under 
controlled heat and pressure. 
Being available in various fi nishes, 
sizes and designs, they enhance 
the interiors of homes and work 
spaces. They are available in wide 
range of shades, in both, solid and 
woodgrain textures catering across 
a range of industries. 

150+
Distributors

MDF Unit
Chikmagalur,
Karnataka,

India

1,100+
Dealers

Proposed

MDF Unit
Atchutapuram, 

Visakhapatnam, 
Andhra Pradesh

2
Branches

28 States
pan-India 
presence

01 - 16 17 - 84 86 - 140
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34.9 lakhs
Sheets 

produced 
per annum

3
Manufacturing 

units based 
in Gujarat

82.6%
Capacity 
utilisation

ISO
9001:2008

ISO
14001:2004

BSOHSAS 
18001:2007

Vir Laminates emerge as the leading brand in the organised 
Laminates segment. We are the design leaders and quality 
experts in this segment. Our products fi nd their applications 
across interior, exterior and heavy-duty industrial utilities. 
We offer a variety of sheet designs at a competitive price 
point in the domestic as well as export markets.

We have three best-in-class facilities, all based in Gujarat. 
Our product excellence is reinstated with quality certifi cates 
and compliance of quality systems. Our dedication to 
innovate and improve our product range of premium quality 
and designs is what gives us the edge over our competition.

UNMATCHED DESIGNS. 
UNCOMPROMISED QUALITY.

6 Rushil Decor Limited



50+
Textures & 

fi nishes in HPL 
segment alone

4
Consignment 

stockists

5
Branches

28 States
pan- India 
presence

46
Distributors

2
Depots

1950
Dealers

500+
Designs

v

INDIA

AUSTRALIA

AFRICA

ASIA

SOUTH 
AMERICA

NORTH 
AMERICA

EUROPE

WORLD
PRESENCE

This map is a generalised illustration only for the ease of the reader to understand the locations, and is not intended to be used for reference purposes. The 
representation of political boundaries and the names of geographical features / states do not necessarily reflect the actual position. The Company or any of 
its directors, offi cers or employees cannot be held responsible for any misuse or misinterpretation of anyinformation or design thereof. The Company does not 
warrant or represent any kind in connection to its accuracy or completeness
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PVC is a 100% eco-friendly, green product. It is a 
composition of recycled natural fi bres like wood fi bre 
(in powder form usually) or agriculture waste (rice husk, 
bagasse, wheat straw), mixed with polymers such as Poly 
Vinyl Chloride (PVC). 

We leverage our strengths of being quality and engineering 
experts to give our customers an effi cient product. The PVC 
boards can be used in both, interior and exterior grades. 
PVC is the best substrate which can be used without any 
laminate or coating. The refi ned surface of PVC gives 
ready-to-print/paint surface which doesn’t need surfacer/
putty fi lling. It can be used with solvent-joining which is 
the fastest-ever system for furniture making and sandwich 
construction.

PVC can be used in all modular furniture products e.g. 
doors, kitchen carcass, wardrobe shutters, bathroom 
vanities, partitions and many more.

GREEN FUTURE. 
AGRI-ENGINEERING WAY.

8 Rushil Decor Limited



5,760 MT
per annum

Capacity

Applications
CONSUMER GOODS
Electronic items Characteristics: 

Malleability, 
enables precise 
and speedy 
engineering

CONSTRUCTION
Decking, siding 
and fencing

Characteristics: 
Eco-friendly, 
sturdy, flexible 
and non-
hazardous

AUTOMOTIVE
Interiors rear 
shelves and 
trims for trunks 
& spare wheels 
and interior trims 
for vehicle doors

Characteristics:  
Eco-friendly, 
lightweight and 
100% recycled 
material

FURNITURE
PVC Application: 
Interiors, ceilings 
and modular 
furniture

Characteristics:  
Strength, 
durability, 
seamless 
workability and 
solvent joinery 
system

01 - 16 17 - 84 86 - 140
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We have successfully 
positioned ourselves as 
one of the leading brands 
in the Laminates segment 
and domestic MDF Board 
manufacturer. We aim to 
become the fi rst choice in the 
Laminates and Panel industry 
in India and in the world.

MANAGING 
DIRECTOR’S 
MESSAGE

10 Rushil Decor Limited



Since its inception, 

the Company has 

focused on operating 

procedures that 

consider both 

the material and 

intangible aspects 

for which our 

business enterprises 

are responsible. 

Dear Stakeholders, 

Let me take the pleasure to report 
that your Company had an excellent 
year with improvements across 
several fronts.  Each year brings 
with it a measurable progress in 
operational developments as well 
as expansion of the strategies, 
policies and processes that are the 
foundation of our Company. We 
are privileged to have the time to 
refi ne and streamline our operating 
procedures and make sure that 
they comply with regulatory 
compliances. 

Since its inception, the Company 
has focused on operating 
procedures that consider both the 
material and intangible aspects 
for which our business enterprises 
are responsible. These can range 
from simple actions like building 
effi cient and 100% green products. 
Every decision that we make 
ultimately imposes itself on our 
operating environment, and thus 
affects sustainable achievement of 
corporate goals in the future.

During the year 2018-19, the 
Company’s performance was 
satisfactory with Total Revenue of 
` 352.23 Cr. EBIDTA was ` 45.14 
Cr and EBIDTA Margin was 12.82%. 
PAT was ` 14.33 Cr and PAT Margin 
was 4.07%.

The steady performance in fi nancial 
numbers is generated through our 
consistent drive to achieve beyond 
the expected aspirational limits and 
our incessant efforts to become a 
recognised force in the engineered 
wood product industry.

Indian continued to maintain its 
growth momentum, emerging as 
sixth largest economy globally 
and the third largest by purchasing 
power parity (PPP) (Source: Indian 
Express and The Economic Times).

The industry has a huge penetration 
opportunity for India in the MDF 
segment.

MDF v/s Plywood 
consumption

GLOBAL 

Plywood
35%

MDF
65%

INDIA  

Plywood
94%

MDF
6%
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According to World Bank Study, the 
Asian markets are estimated to be 
the biggest consumer of furniture 
with large demand generating from 
India.  Stabilisation of GST and 
several other factors like sectoral 
transformation from unorganised 
to organised sector, a variety of the 
Government-sponsored missions 
like ‘Make in India’, ‘Housing-for-
All’ will further boost the positive 
momentum. The furniture market in 
India is anticipated to cross $27 Bn 
by 2022, on account of expanding 
working population base, rising 
number of household units and 
increasing disposable income. 
Besides that, increasing number of 
hotels along with growing tourist 
footfalls, combined with growing 
awareness regarding newer designs 
of furniture and changing consumer 
lifestyle are also expected to aid the 
country’s furniture market over the 
next fi ve years.

There is an interesting thing to 
note that, in India, an average age 
of home buyer has dropped from 
40 to 27, and youth population with 
unique and individual preferences 
are opting for modern furniture 
rather than traditional furniture. 
Improving literacy rate and growing 
infl uence of Western culture are 
motivating Indian consumers 
to adopt modern lifestyle. 
The modernisation of offi ces, 
commercial space, educational 
and medical institutions are also 
driving the demand for stylish and 
aesthetic interiors. 

At Rushil, we are strongly poised to 
leverage this opportunity through 
our next-gen product offerings. 
We have devised ‘4F strategy’ that 
addresses our growth priorities 
going ahead. Fundamentally, we 
look forward to penetrate our 
products into larger segments, 
strengthen our regional leadership 
in the South and penetrate deeper 
into the other markets of Eastern 
India. The geographical stronghold 
will be aided by macro factors 
and capacity expansions that will 
allow us to build the ‘furniture of 
the future’. Besides that, we shall 
continue to be nature-friendly 
through responsible sourcing of 
wood. 

I would like to thank everyone at 
RDL for their contribution towards 
the achievements in 2018-2019, 
the people who used our products 
for their confi dence in us, our 
stakeholders and partners for their 
collaboration, and our shareholders 
for their continued support. Last but 
most importantly, our employees, 
without whom we would not have 
been able to fulfi l our obligations 
of progressive development in 
all spheres. It is with a sense 
of pride that we can look at the 
achievements of 2018-19 and be 
even more optimistic of what 2019-
20 may bring!

Best Wishes,

Krupesh Thakkar

According to  
World Bank Study, 
the Asian markets 

are estimated to 
be the biggest 

consumer of 
furniture with large 

demand generating 
from India.
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FINANCIAL & 
GEOGRAPHIC 
STRONGHOLD
• Strong fi nancial 

performance
• Regional leadership 

(South India)
• Expanding in other 

markets (East India)

02
FUNDAMENTALS 
OF GROWTH
• Product penetration 

through multiple 
customer channels

• Housing defi cit & 
macro demand

• Capacity expansion

01

FUTURE OF 
FURNITURE
• MDF & PVC led value 

engineering
• Quality performance
• Design integrity & 

thinking

03
THE AGRO-FORESTRY 
EDGE
• Responsible 

sourcing of wood
• Access to low-cost 

raw material
• Second income for 

farmers

04

Future 
Priorities:

4F Strategy

01 - 16 17 - 84 86 - 140
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FINANCIAL 
OVERVIEW

TOTAL REVENUE (` in Cr)

2014-15

27
8.

08

2015-16

29
7.

57

2016-17

30
8.

78

2017-18

34
6.

23

2018-19

35
2.

23

EBITDA (` in Cr)

2014-15

30
.6

8

2015-16

36
.1

9

2016-17

50
.5

7

2017-18

59
.1

9

2018-19

45
.1

4
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PAT MARGIN (%)

2014-15

(0
.2

4)

2015-16

2.
40

2016-17

7.
94

2017-18

8.
95

2018-19

4.
07

EBITDA MARGIN (%)

2014-15

11
.0

3

2015-16

12
.1

6

2016-17

16
.3

8

2017-18

17
.1

0

2018-19

12
.8

2

EARNINGS PER SHARE (` per share)

2014-15

(0
.4

5)

2015-16

4.
96

2016-17

17
.2

8

2017-18

21
.3

0

2018-19

9.
61

PAT (` in Cr)

2014-15

(0
.6

6)

2015-16

7.
14

2016-17

24
.5

3

2017-18

30
.9

8

2018-19

14
.3

3
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Our humble offerings towards the community
We at RDL have a strong belief that a business will fl ourish if 
the community from where it evolves, fl ourishes. Therefore, 
we have a strong connect with the community in terms of 
giving back to them as part of our business process.   

We have identifi ed some thrust areas, where we can 
channelise the resources. In that direction, we have taken 
several initiatives towards education, health, orphanages, 
animal welfare, rural development projects, , eradication of 
poverty and hunger. Additionally, our interest in protecting 
the environment has led us to planting trees and moving 
towards adopting green products.

We also partner with local communities, women & children, 
youth, elders, marginalised segments and community 
heroes. Our CSR expenditure during the year indicates the 
value that our CSR programmes have been delivering to 
society. Thus, through all these activities, we seek to provide 
our posterity with a brighter future.

GIVING BACK TO OUR 
COUNTERPARTS FROM 
WHERE WE GAIN

`64,96,931
 CSR expenditure 

in 2018-19
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NOTICE is hereby given that the Twenty Fifth Annual General 
Meeting of the members of Rushil Decor Limited (CIN: 
L25209GJ1993PLC019532) will be held on Saturday, 21st 

of the Company situated at S. No. 125, Near Kalyanpura 
Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol, 
Dist. Gandhinagar - 382845, Gujarat, India to transact the 
following businesses:

Ordinary Business:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial 
Statements of the Company for the Financial Year 
ended 31st March, 2019 and the Report of the Board of 
Directors and Auditors thereon.

2.
Financial Year ended 31st March, 2019.

3. To appoint a Director in place of Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. 
Thakkar (DIN: 00208843), who retires by rotation and, 
being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.

Special Business:

4.  Appointment of Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara  
(Din: 08341541) as a Director

Ordinary 
Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Section 
152 , Section 161 and other applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) read with the Companies 

Ramanik T. Kansagara (DIN: 08341541), who was appointed 
as an Additional Director of the Company with effect 
from 2nd February, 2019 by the Board of Directors of the 

General Meeting and who is eligible for appointment and has 
consented to act as Director of the Company and in respect 
of whom the Company has received a notice in writing 
from a Member under Section 160 of the Act proposing his 

is hereby appointed as a Director of the Company, liable to 
retire by rotation.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors and/or the 
Company Secretary be and are hereby authorised to settle 

effect to this resolution and to do all such acts, deeds and 
things as may be necessary, proper or expedient for the 
purpose of giving effect to this resolution”.

5.  Re-appointment of Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat (DIN: 
01359807) Independent Director of the Company for a 

Special 
Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 
149, 150,152, read with Schedule IV and any other applicable 
provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) read with 

2015 (“Listing Regulations”) (including any statutory 

in force), Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat (DIN:01359807), who 
was appointed as an Independent Director of the Company 
in the 20th Annual General Meeting of the Company held 
on 29th September, 2014 and who holds position as an 
independent director in the Company up to the date of this 
Annual General Meeting and who also meets the criteria for 
independence as provided in Section 149(6) of the Act along 
with the rules framed thereunder and Regulation 16(1) of the 
Listing Regulations and who have submitted a declaration to 
that effect and in respect of whom the Company has received 
a notice in writing from a Member under Section 160 of Act 

Company, be and is hereby re-appointed as an Independent 
director of the Company, not liable to retire by rotation, to 

21st day of September, 2024 on the Board of the Company.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors and/
or Company Secretary of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised to do all acts and take all such steps as may 
be necessary, proper or expedient to give effect to this 
Resolution.”

6.  Re-appointment of Mrs. Jingle Thakkar (DIN: 
06941497) Independent director of the Company for a 

Special 
Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of Sections 
149, 150, 152, read with Schedule IV and any other applicable 
provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) read 

re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force), Mrs. 
Jingle Thakkar (DIN: 06941497), who was appointed as an 
Independent Director of the Company in the 20th Annual 
General Meeting of the Company held on 29th September, 

Notice of 25Th Annual General Meeting
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2014 and who holds position as an independent director 
up to 6th August, 2019 and who also meets the criteria for 
independence as provided in Section 149(6) of the Act along 
with the rule framed thereunder and Regulation 16(1) of the 
Listing Regulations and who have submitted a declaration to 
that effect and in respect of whom the Company has received 
a notice in writing from a Member under Section 160 of the 

Company, be and is hereby re-appointed as an Independent 
director of the Company, not liable to retire by rotation, to 

6th August, 2024 on the board of the Company.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors and/
or Company Secretary of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised to do all acts and take all such steps as may 
be necessary, proper or expedient to give effect to this 
Resolution.”

Transactions entered into by the Company with Related 
Party

Ordinary 
Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to Regulation 23 of Securities 

applicable provisions if any, consent of the members be 

related party transactions entered into by the Company with 
related party “M/s. Rushil International, a Partnership Firm” 
(Promoter of the Company) as set out in the explanatory 
statement annexed to the notice convening this meeting.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Board of Directors and/
or Company secretary of the Company be and is hereby, 
authorised to do all acts and take all such steps as may 
be necessary, proper or expedient to give effect to this 
resolution.”

NOTES:

1.  The explanatory statement setting out the material 
facts pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 
2013, relating to special business under Item No. 4 to 7 
to be transacted at the Meeting is annexed hereto and 
forms part of the notice.

Standard on General Meeting issued by the institute 

of Company Secretaries of India of the Person seeking 
appointment/re-appointment as Director under Item 
No. 4,5 & 6 of the Notice are also annexed.

2.  A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND AND VOTE IS 
ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND AND 

PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF THE COMPANY.

Pursuant to Section 105 of the Companies Act, 2013, a 
person can act as proxy on behalf of members not more 

more than 10% of the total share capital of the Company 
carrying voting rights. In case a proxy is proposed to 
be appointed by a Member holding more than 10% of 
the total share capital of the Company carrying voting 
rights, then such person shall not act as a proxy for any 
other member.

The instrument of proxy, in order to be effective, should 
be deposited either in person or through post at the 

duly completed and signed not later than forty-eight 
hours before the commencement of the Meeting. A 
Proxy form is annexed to this report. Proxy forms 
submitted on behalf of the limited companies or any 

copy of resolution/letter of authority, as applicable. 
The proxy-holder shall prove his identity at the time of 
attending the Meeting.

3.  Corporate members intending to send their authorised 

Resolution together with the specimen signature(s) 
of the authorised representative(s) under the said 
resolution to attend and vote on their behalf at the 
Meeting.

4.  Members / Proxies/Authorised Representatives are 

5.  In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, the 

order of names as per the Register of Members of the 
Company will be entitled to vote.

6.  The Final dividend, as recommended by the Board, if 

owners of shares as on Friday, 13th day of September, 
2019 as per the details furnished to the Company by 
Depositories for this purpose. In case of shares held in 
physical form, dividend will be paid to the shareholders, 

Notice (Contd.)
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whose names shall appear on the Register of Members 
as on Friday, 13th day of September, 2019.

7.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 91 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, the Register of Members and 
the Share Transfer Books of the Company will remain 
closed from Saturday, 14th day of September, 2019 to 
Saturday, 21st September, 2019 (both days inclusive) 

Meeting.

8. Members holding shares in demat form are hereby 
informed that bank particulars registered with their 
respective Depository Participants, with whom they 
maintain their demat accounts will be used by the 
Company for the payment of Dividend. The Company 

directly from the Members holding shares in demat 
form for any change of bank particulars. Such changes 
are to be intimated only to the Depository Participants 
of the Member. Members holding shares in demat form 

their bank account details, email address, nominations, 
power of attorney, change of name, change of address, 
PIN code etc., only to their Depository Participants if 
shares held in dematerialised form and to the Registrar 
and Share Transfer Agents of the Company if shares 
held in physical form.

securities of listed companies can be transferred only 
in dematerialised form with effect from April 1, 2019, 

transposition of securities.

 In view of this and to eliminate all risks associated 
with the physical shares and for ease of portfolio 
management, members holding shares in physical 

holding to dematerialised form. Members can contact 
the Company or our Registrar and Transfer Agent 
Bigshare Services Private Limited for assistance in 
this regard. Members can also visit the Company’s 
Website https://www.rushil.com/OtherPdf/Guidance_
on_Dematerialization_of_Physical_Shares.pdf to know 
the process of Dematerialisation of Shares.

10. Members desiring any information as regards the 

Company atleast seven days before the date of AGM 
so as to enable the management to keep information 
ready at AGM.

11. Pursuant to provision of Section 124 of the Companies 

Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and 

circulars and amendments thereto, the amount of 
dividend remaining unpaid or unclaimed for a period 

Company had, accordingly transferred ` 9,012/- being 
unpaid and unclaimed dividend amount pertaining 

uploaded on the Company’s website www.rushil.com. 
Members, who have not encashed Final Dividend for 

declared by the Company, are advised to write to the 

Company or to the Registrars & Share Transfer Agents 
of the Company Big Share Services Private Limited 
at 1st Floor, Bharat Tin Works Building, Opp. Vasant 

- 400059, Maharashtra. Tel No.: 022- 62638200, email 
address: investor@bigshareonline.com and website : 
www.bigshareonline.com.

shares in respect of which dividend has not been paid 
or claimed for last seven consecutive years shall be 
transferred by the Company to the designated Demat 

a period of thirty days of such shares becoming due 

` 10/- each on which the 
dividend remained unpaid or unclaimed for last seven 
consecutive years with reference to the due date of 22nd 
October, 2018, were transferred during the Financial 

prescribed procedure. Further, all the shareholders who 
have not claimed / encashed their dividends in the last 
seven consecutive years from Financial Year 2011-
12 are advised to claim the same. In case, valid claim 
is not received, the Company will proceed to transfer 

accordance with the procedure prescribed under the 

13. Members holding shares in electronic mode may note 
that their dividend would be paid through National 

The dividend would be credited to their bank account 

Notice (Contd.)
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as per the mandate given by the members to their DPs. 

dividend would be paid through warrants.

14. In accordance with Section 101 and 136 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rules made thereunder, 
the Notice of the 25th AGM along with Attendance Slip 
and Proxy Form as a part of the Annual Report 2018-19 is 
being sent by electronic mode to those Members whose 
e-mail addresses are registered with the Company/

a physical copy of the same. For Members who have 
not registered their e-mail addresses, physical copies 
are being sent by the permitted mode. All the above 
documents are also available on the website of the 
Company i.e www.rushil.com.

15. The Annual Report 2018-19 of the Company circulated 
to the members of the Company will be made available 
on the Company’s website www.rushil.com.

16. To support the ‘Green Initiative’, members who have 
not recorded or registered their email addresses are 

if any, with the Depository Participants, if the shares are 
held in dematerialised form and with the Company’s 
Registrar & Transfer Agent if the shares are held in 
physical form.

17. All documents referred to in the accompanying notice 
and explanatory statement will be kept open for 

of the Company on all working days during business 
hours prior to date of Annual General Meeting.

18. Members can avail the facility of nomination in 
respect of securities held by them pursuant to the 
provision of Section 72 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Members holding shares in physical form and desiring 
to avail this facility may send their nomination in the 

shares in electronic mode may contact their respective 
Depository Participant (DP) for availing this facility.

has mandated the submission of Permanent Account 
Number (PAN) by every participant in securities 
market. Members holding shares in electronic form 

their Depository Participants with whom they are 
maintaining their demat accounts. Members holding 
shares in physical form can submit their PAN to the 
Company.

20. The Company’s Registrar and Transfer Agents for its 
share registry work (physical and electronic) is M/s. 
Bigshare Services Private Limited located at 1st Floor, 
Bharat Tin Works Building, Opp. Vasant Oasis, Makwana 

investor@
bigshareonline.com and Website: www.bigshareonline.
com.

21. In compliance with the provisions of Section 108 of the 
Act read with Rule 20 of the Companies (Management 
and Administration) Rules, 2014 and Regulation 

pleased to offer the facility of voting through electronic 
means and the businesses set out in the Notice above 
may be transacted through such electronic voting.

 The facility of voting through electronic means is 
provided through the e- voting platform of Central 
Depository Services (India) Limited (“remote e-voting”).

22. The facility for voting, through the Ballot Paper shall 
also be made available at the meeting and Members 
attending the meeting who have not casted their vote 
by remote e-voting shall be able to exercise their right 
of Voting at the meeting through the Ballot Paper. The 
members who have cast their vote by remote e-voting 
prior to the meeting may also attend the meeting but 
shall not be entitled to cast their vote again.

23. The Members who avail the facility of voting, through 
the Remote e-voting, cannot vote at the Meeting. If a 
member casts vote by both modes, then voting done 
through e-voting shall prevail and voting done through 
the Ballot form at meeting shall be treated invalid.

24. The Members holding shares as on the cut-off date 
i.e. Friday, 13th day of September, 2019 shall be 
reckoned for voting purpose and a person who is not a 
Member as on the cut-off date should treat this Notice 
for information purposes only. The voting rights of 
members shall be in proportion to their shares of the 

cut-off-date.

25. The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel 
and their shareholding, maintained under Section 170 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and the Register of Contracts 
or Arrangements in which the directors are interested 
maintained under Section 189 of the Companies Act, 
2013 will be available for inspection by the members at 
the Annual General Meeting.

Notice (Contd.)
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26. The Route Map showing directions to reach the venue 
of the AGM is annexed.

27. The instructions for shareholders voting electronically 
are as under:

 (i)  The voting period begins on Tuesday, 17th day of 
September, 2019 (9:00 am) and ends on Friday, 
20th day of September, 2019 (5:00 pm). During 
this period shareholders’ of the Company, holding 
shares either in physical form or in dematerialised 
form, as on the cut-off date (record date) of Friday, 
13th day of September, 2019 may cast their vote 
electronically. The e-voting module shall be 
disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter.

 (ii)  Shareholders who have already voted prior to the 
meeting date would not be entitled to vote at the 
meeting venue.

 (iii)  The shareholders should log on to the e-voting 
website www.evotingindia.com.

 (iv) Click on Shareholders.

  b.   For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 
Digits Client ID,

  c.   Members holding shares in Physical Form 
should enter Folio Number registered with the 
Company.

Click on Login.

  (vii)  If you are holding shares in demat form and had 
logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted 
on an earlier voting of any company, then your 
existing password is to be used.

Notice (Contd.)

 
For Members holding shares in Demat Form and Physical Form

PAN
Department (Applicable for both demat shareholders as well as 
physical shareholders) 

Dividend Bank Details OR Date of Birth (DOB)
format) as recorded in your demat account or in the Company 
records in order to login.

company please enter the member id / folio number in the 
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 (ix)  After entering these details appropriately, click on 

(x)  Members holding shares in physical form will 
then directly reach the Company selection screen. 
However, members holding shares in demat form 
will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu wherein 

that this password is to be also used by the 
demat holders for voting for resolutions of any 
other company on which they are eligible to vote, 
provided that company opts for e-voting through 
CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not 
to share your password with any other person 
and take utmost care to keep your password 

(xi)  For Members holding shares in physical form, 
the details can be used only for e-voting on the 
resolutions contained in this Notice.

for which you choose to vote i.e. Rushil Decor 
Limited.

to the Resolution and option NO implies that you 
dissent to the Resolution.

to view the entire Resolution details.

(xv)  After selecting the resolution you have decided 

click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on 

(xvi)  Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, 
you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xvii)  You can also take a print of the votes cast by 
clicking on “Click here to print” option on the 
Voting page.

(xviii) If a demat account holder has forgotten the login 

enter the details as prompted by the system.

Custodians:

  Non-Individual shareholders (i.e. other than 

register themselves as Corporates.

A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing 
the stamp and sign of the entity should be emailed 
to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

After receiving the login details a compliance 
user should be created using admin login and 
password. The compliance user would be able to 
link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on.

The list of accounts linked in the login should be 
mailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com and 
on approval of the accounts they would be able to 
cast their vote.

A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and 
Power of Attorney (POA) which they have issued in 
favour of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded 
in PDF format in the system for the scrutiniser to 
verify the same.

Questions (“FAQs”) and e-voting manual available 
at www.evotingindia.com , under help section or 
write an email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.
com.

28. Other Instructions:

i)  The Remote e-voting period commences on 
Tuesday, 17th day of September, 2019 (9:00am) 
and ends on Friday, 20th day of September, 2019 
(5:00 pm). At the end of Remote e-voting period, 
the facility shall forthwith be blocked. Once the 
vote on a resolution is cast by a shareholder, the 
shareholder shall not be allowed to change it 

ii)  The Scrutiniser shall, immediately after the 
conclusion of voting at the Meeting, would count 
the votes cast at the Meeting, thereafter unblock 
the votes cast through remote e-voting in the 
presence of at least two witnesses not in the 
employment of the Company and make, not later 
than 48 hours of conclusion of the Meeting, a 
consolidated Scrutiniser’s report of the total votes 
cast in favour or against, if any, to the Chairman 
or a person authorised by him in writing who shall 
countersign the same.

Notice (Contd.)
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iii)  The Results on above resolutions shall be declared 
not later than 48 hours from the conclusion of 
the Meeting of the Company and the resolutions 
will be deemed to be passed on the Meeting date 

in favor of the resolutions.

iv)  The results of voting declared along with 
Scrutiniser’s Report(s) will be published on the 
website of the Company (www.rushil com) and on 
the website of CDSL e-Voting at www.evotingindia.
com within 48 hours from the conclusion of the 
Meeting and the same shall also be simultaneously 

v)  The Company has appointed CS Shalin Jain, 
Practicing Company Secretary (ACS Membership 

No: 30427 & CP No.: 21379) as the Scrutiniser 
for overseeing the voting and remote e-voting 
process in a fair and transparent manner.

Company Secretary at the below mentioned 
address for resolving their grievances:

 Name:   Modi Hasmukh Kanubhai

 Designation:  Company Secretary

  Address:    Rushil House, Near Neelkanth 
Green Bungalow, Off. Sindhu 
Bhavan Road, Shilaj, Ahmedabad 
-380058

ipo@rushil.com

  Telephone:  (079) 61400400

  Fax:    (079) 61400401

Notice (Contd.)

Explanatory Statement Pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies 
Act, 2013

FOR ITEM NO. 4:

Board of Directors appointed Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara (DIN: 
08341541) as an Additional Director of the Company with 
effect from 2nd February, 2019 under section 161(1) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 based on the recommendation of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. In terms of the 

only up to the date of the ensuing Annual General Meeting 
(‘AGM’) but is eligible for appointment as a Director, whose 

terms of Section 160(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 received 
a notice in writing form a Member proposing his candidature 

Mr. Ramanik Kansagara is associated with the Company 
at three Laminated Sheets Manufacturing Plants. He was 
working as Vice President-Production at the three laminate 
sheet manufacturing plants located at Gujarat. Having a wide 
experience of around 27 years in the Laminate Industry, he 
is trust worthy and has given his contribution for expansion 
and development of the Company. He has entrusted the 
substantial control of the affairs of the manufacturing 
Laminate plants of the Company. He has wide experience 

administration and management, budgeting etc.

The Board considers that his continued association would 

continue to avail services of Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagra as a 
Director.

The Company has received from Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagra 
(i)  Consent in writing to act as Director in Form DIR-
2 pursuant to Rule 8 of Companies (Appointment and 

form DIR-8 in terms of Companies (Appointment and 

LIST/COMP/14/2018-19 dated June 20, 2018 that he is not 

any other such authority.

Brief resume and other details of Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagra 
whose appointment is proposed here is provided in the 

Save and except the above, none of the other directors / Key 
Managerial Personnel of the Company / their relatives are, in 

the resolution.

https://www.evotingindia.com/
https://www.rushil.com/
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The Board recommends the Resolution set out in Item No. 4 
of the Notice for approval by the shareholders as an Ordinary 
Resolution.

For item No. 5

Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat was appointed as an independent 
director in the 20th Annual General Meeting of the Company 

of the 25th Annual General Meeting of the Company or upto 

the date of conclusion of this Annual General Meeting.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has considered 
and recommended the re-appointment of Mr. Shankar Prasad 

consecutive years from the date of this Annual General 
Meeting i.e. from the date of 21st September, 2019 and the 
same was also approved by the Board of Directors vide their 
meeting held on 18.05.2019. The board of directors has carried 
out performance evaluation of Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat as 

2013.

The Company has in terms of Section 160(1) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 received a notice in writing from a Member proposing 

The Company has received from Mr. Shankar Prasad bhagat 
(i) Consent in writing to act as Director in Form DIR-2 pursuant 

Directors) Rules, 2014 (ii) Intimation in form DIR-8 in terms 

section 164(2) of the Companies, Act, 2013 and (iii)Declaration 
to the effect that he meets the criteria of independence 
as provided in section 149 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013 

COMP/14/2018-19 dated June 20, 2018 that he is not been 

such authority.

Further, in the opinion of the Board Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat 

thereunder for re-appointment as an Independent Director and 
is independent of the management.

Brief resume and other details of the Mr. Shankar Prasad 
Bhagat whose re-appointment is proposed hereby is provided 

herewith.

The Board considers that his continued association would 

continue to avail services of Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat as an 
Independent Director.

The terms and conditions of re-appointment of Mr. Shankar 
Prasad Bhagat shall be open for inspection by the Members at 

hours on any working day.

In compliance with the provisions of Section 149 read with 
Schedule IV of the Act, the re-appointment of Mr. Shankar 
Prasad Bhagat as Independent Director is now being placed 
before the Members for their approval.

Save and except the above, none of the other directors / Key 
Managerial Personnel’s of the Company / their relatives are, in 

the resolution.

The Board recommends the Resolution set out in Item No. 5 
of the Notice for approval by the shareholders as a Special 
Resolution.

For item No.6:

Mrs. Jingle Thakkar was appointed as an independent director 
in the 20th Annual General Meeting of the Company for a term 

independent director was completed on 6th August, 2019 
and she is eligible for re-appointment in the ensuing general 

August, 2019.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has considered 
and recommended the re-appointment of Mrs. Jingle Thakkar, 

years w.e.f 7th August, 2019 and the same was also approved 
by the Board of Directors vide their meeting held on 18.05.2019. 
The board of directors has carried out performance evaluation 

IV to the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company has in terms of Section 160(1) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 received a notice in writing from a Member proposing 

The Company has received from Mrs. Jingle Thakkar (i) 
Consent in writing to act as Director in Form DIR-2 pursuant 

Directors) Rules, 2014 (ii) Intimation in form DIR-8 in terms 

section 164(2) of the Companies, Act, 2013 and (iii)Declaration 
to the effect that she meets the criteria of independence as 
provided in section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 read 

COMP/14/2018-19 dated June 20, 2018 that she is not been 

such authority.

Explanatory Statement Pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013
(Contd.)
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thereunder for re-appointment as an Independent Director and 
is independent of the management.

Brief resume and other details of the Mrs. Jingle Thakkar 
whose re-appointment is proposed hereby is provided in the 

The Board considers that her continued association would 

to continue to avail services of Mrs. Jingle Thakkar as an 
Independent Director.

The terms and conditions of re-appointment of Mrs. Jingle 
Thakkar shall be open for inspection by the Members at the 

hours on any working day.

In compliance with the provisions of Section 149 read with 
Schedule IV of the Act, the re-appointment of Mrs. Jingle 
Thakkar as Independent Director is now being placed before 
the Members for their approval.

Save and except the above, none of the other directors / Key 
Managerial Personnel of the Company / their relatives are, in 

the resolution.

The Board recommends the Resolution set out at Item No. 6 of the 
Notice for approval by the shareholders as a Special Resolution.

For item No. 7:

Pursuant to the provisions of Regulation 23 of Securities and 

effect from 1st October, 2015 has also prescribed seeking of 
shareholder’s approval for material related party transactions.

The Company has entered into following material related party transactions with the related party during the year under review:

Name of the related Party Relationship Nature of transaction Transaction done during the 
year ended 31st March, 2019 

(Amount ` in Lakhs)
Rushil International, A 

Partnership Firm
Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar 
and Mr. Ghanshyambhai 
A. Thakkar Directors of 

the Company are partners 
in Rushil International, A 

Loan Taken from Rushil 
International

5360

This unsecured loan was taken from M/s. Rushil International, Partnership Firm a Promoter of the Company as precondition of 
credit facility provided by banker of the Company. Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar and Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar directors of the 
Company are partners in the Partnership Firm.

2015, related parties of the Company shall abstain from voting on said resolution.

The Board recommends the Resolution set out at Item No. 7 of the Notice for approval by the shareholders as an Ordinary 
Resolution.

None of the Directors or key managerial personnel or their relatives are, in anyway, concerned or interested in the said resolution 
except Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar and Mr. Ghanshyam A. Thakkar directors, of the Company as well as their relatives.

By Order of the Board,
For Rushil Decor Limited

Date:  23.07.2019 Hasmukh K. Modi
Place: Ahmedabad Company Secretary

 S. No. 125, Nr. Kalyanpura Patia, Village. Itla,  
Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol, Dist. Gandhinagar - 382845.

 L25209GJ1993PLC019532
Website: www.rushil.com

Explanatory Statement Pursuant to Section 102 of the Companies Act, 2013
(Contd.)
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Annexure to Item no. 4 to 6 of the Notice

Secretarial Standard on General Meeting issued by the institute of Company Secretaries of India with respect to the Appointment 
/ Re-appointment of Directors at the ensuing Annual General Meeting is as under:

Name of the Director Mr. Ghanshyambhai 
A. Thakkar

Mr. Ramanikbhai T. 
Kansagra

Mr. Shankar Prasad 
Bhagat

Mrs. Jingle Thakkar

00208843 08341541 01359807 06941497
Date of Birth 18.11.1943 15.09.1963 10.06.1951 09.04.1991
Date of joining the Board 08.03.2007 02.02.2019 01.10.2009 07.08.2014

B.Sc., Diploma in Chartered 
Accountant

Chartered 
Accountant

functional areas in General 
Management, 

Production and 
Purchase

Vast experience 
in production of 
laminate sheets

More than 30 years 
of experience in 

Audit, Accounts and 
Finance.

of Tax, Audit, 
Finance, VAT etc.

No. of Shares held in the Company 1990900 NIL NIL NIL
Directorship in listed Company (Other 
than Rushil Décor Limited)

NIL NIL 1.Amrapali Capital 
And Finance 

Services Limited

2.Minal  Industries 
Limited

NIL

Chairmanship held in other listed 
Companies (Other than Rushil Décor 
Limited)

NIL NIL Chairmanship in 
Audit Committee- 
Amrapali Capital 

And Finance 
Service Limited 

Membership in  
Audit committee- 
Minal  Industries 

Limited 

Membership in  
Stakeholder’s 
relationship 

Committee- Minal  
Industries Limited 

NIL

Disclosure of relationships between 
Directors inter-se

Mr. Ghanshyambhai 
A. Thakkar is 
a father of Mr. 

Krupeshbhai G. 
Thakkar (Managing 

Director) of the 
Company

No relationship No relationship No relationship

For other details such as the number of meetings of the board attended during the year, remuneration drawn and relationship 
with other directors and key managerial personnel in respect of above directors, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report 
which is a part of this Annual Report.
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Prominent Land Mark near Venue of AGM for Easy Location:

Mansa Bus stand.



To

The Members,

statements for the year ended 31st March, 2019.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY AND HIGHLIGHTS

(` in Lakhs)
Particulars 2018-19 2017-18

34374.21 35097.57
Other Income 849.02 270.68

4513.89 5919.39
862.91 752.93

3650.98 5166.46
Less: Financial Costs 1359.04 870.23

2291.94 4296.23
858.44 1203.82

1433.50 3092.41
Add: Other Comprehensive Income/loss for the year (3.35) (11.26)
Total Comprehensive Income 1430.15 3081.15

7830.92 4837.06
Less: Final Dividend Paid 74.66 72.53
Less: Tax on Final Dividend 15.34 14.76
Balance carried forward 9171.07 7830.92

Board’s Report

Net revenue from operations decreased to ` 34374.21 Lakhs 
as against ` 35097.57 Lakhs in the previous year showing a 
decline of ` 723.36 Lakhs.

` 2291.94 Lakhs 
as against ` 4296.23 Lakhs in the previous year showing a 
decline of ` 2004.29 Lakhs.

` 1433.50 Lakhs 
` 3092.41 Lakhs in the previous year.

affected mainly due to MDF Board revenues gone down 
from ` 172.52 Crores in last year to ` 156.46 Crores in the 
FY 2018-19. Further, MDF Board division’s PBIT is also 
gone down by ` 16.34 Crores in the FY 2018-19. During the 
year, Company reduced the prices of MDF Board in line with 
overall scenario in the MDF Industry and also carried out 
some sales promotion expenses for MDF product keeping in 
mind to capture the market in competition.

The detail about the segment-wise position of business is 
mentioned in the Management Discussion and Analysis Report.

There are no material changes and commitments affecting 

of this Report.

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

The Board of Directors of your company, has decided not 
to transfer any amount to the Reserves for the year under 
review.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors of your company, in its meeting held 

of `

value of `
31st March, 2019, subject to the approval of the Members at 
the ensuing 25th Annual General Meeting. The Final dividend 
is payable to those Shareholders whose names appear in the 
Register of Members as on the Book Closure / Record Date.

28 Rushil Decor Limited



Board’s Report (Contd.)

If the dividend as recommended by board of directors is 
approved by the Shareholders then total outflow of Dividend 
amount will be ` 74,65,666/- excluding dividend distribution 
tax on the dividend.

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Company has two main business segments, i.e. MDF and 
laminates. In FY18-19, MDF contributed 46% of Company’s 
revenue and laminates contributed 53% of revenue. During 
the year, new capacities were added in Thin and Thick MDF 
Industry which ultimately result in aggressive price cuts. 
The price cut was largely driven by incremental capacities 
coming on ground mainly in North and South India.

This very badly impacted to the industry volumes as 
the dealers were anticipating further price cut by other 
Companies thereby maintaining thin inventories in the 
business.

It was ultimately triggered to lower realisations and 

The price war in the MDF Segment might be short term till 
the market absorbed the capacity addition over the next 1 
or 2 years.

Our new MDF Board production plant will come in operation 
in the South India (Andhra Pradesh) with additional capacity 
of 800 CBM per day in the next year. This is expected to 
substitute imports in a big way due to logistical savings and 
a depreciating INR. It is also expected to take position of 
plywood because there is very big gap between utilisation of 
plywood and MDF Board.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year, Company has issued and allotted 2,13,872 

occasions. The detail of allotment made is as under:
Date of Allotment 28.04.2018 19.07.2018
No. of shares allotted 1,90,372 23,500
Issued Price per Share (`) 945.00 865.00
Total amount ` 17.99 Crores ` 2.03 Crores

the paid up share capital is ` 14,93,13,320.00 divided into 
` 10 each.

CREDIT RATING

India Ratings and Research Private Limited (India Ratings) 
has downgraded Company’s Long-Term Issuer Rating to 
‘IND BBB’ from ‘IND A-’. The Outlook is Negative.

Some of the Reasons which considered by credit rating 
agency for downgraded credit ratings are as follow:

going project;

2. Delay or inability to make funding arrangements and/or 
raw material supply tie-up for the ongoing capex;

net leverage remaining over 3.5x on a sustained basis;

4. Continuous oversupply of MDF in the industry.

INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION FUND (IEPF)

transferred to IEPF

  Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 

Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 
2016 (“The Rules”), the Company had sent individual 
notices to the shareholders who have not claimed 
their dividends for past seven consecutive years. The 
Company had also advertised the same in the Financial 

action from the shareholders who have not claimed 
their dividends for past seven consecutive years. The 

Amount of ` 9,012.00 for FY 2010-2011 to Investor 

with Section 124(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 read 

Authority in the month of November, 2018 who have 
not claimed their dividends for past seven consecutive 
years from the date of transfer to the unpaid dividend 
account.

  The details of such shares transferred have been 
uploaded in the Company’s website at https://www.

.

  The Shareholders /claimants whose shares and 

Account may claim the shares or apply for refund by 

Authority from time to time.
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transferred to the IEPF and the due dates for such transfer.

 
(As on 31st March, 2019)

Due date of Transfer 
to IEPF Authority

Final Dividend for FY 2011-12, AGM held on 20-08-2012 3207.00 20-09-2019
Final Dividend for FY 2012-13, AGM held on 27-09-2013 8312.00 28-10-2020
Interim Dividend in FY 2015-16, Board Meeting held on 12-03-2016 11570.00 15-04-2023
Final Dividend for FY 2015-16, AGM held on 27-09-2016 2993.50 29-10-2023
Final Dividend for FY 2016-17, AGM held on 23-09-2017 3648.00 24-10-2024
Final Dividend for FY 2017-18, AGM held on 22-09-2018 58,570.50 22-10-2025

Board’s Report (Contd.)

As per above table, the Company will transfer the 
shares on which the dividend has remained unclaimed 

Authority at the due date. The Company has sent 
individual letters to the shareholders for claiming the 
said dividend and has also advertised the same in the 
newspapers in accordance to the Rules. Members 

dividends referred above before they are transferred to 

Details of shares/shareholders in respect of which 
dividend has not been claimed, are provided on our 
website at https://www.rushil.com/iepf. The same can 

at www.iepf.gov.in. The shareholders are therefore 
encouraged to verify their records and claim their 
dividends of all the earlier seven years, if not claimed.

Fund Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) 
Second Amendment Rules, 2017 is as under:

Modi

Designation: Company Secretary

Postal Address: Rushil Décor Limited, Rushil 
House, Near Neelkanth Green Bungalow, Off 

Shilaj, Ahmedabad – 380058

ipo@rushil.com and cs@virlaminate.com

The aforesaid detail is also available on the web 
address of the Company at https://www.rushil.com/

DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

Retirement by rotation and subsequent re-appointment:

Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar (DIN 00208843), Whole Time 
Director, is liable to retire by rotation at the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting, pursuant to Section 152 and other applicable 
provisions, if any, of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the 

enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force), and being 
eligible have offered himself for re-appointment.

Appropriate business for his re-appointment is being 
placed for the approval of the shareholders of the Company 
at the ensuing AGM. The brief resume of the Director and 
other related information has been detailed in the Notice 
convening the ensuing AGM of the Company.

Re-appointment of Independent Director:

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the 
Act”), the members at their 20th Annual General Meeting 
held on 29th September, 2014 had appointed Mr. Shankar 
Prasad Bhagat (DIN 01359807) and Mrs. Jingle Thakkar 

Mrs. Jingle Thakkar are eligible for re-appointment as an 

years not liable to retire by rotation.

The Board of Directors at their meeting held on 18th May, 2019, 
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the ensuing 
25th AGM and on the recommendation of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, considered and approved the re-
appointment of Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat and Mrs. Jingle 
Thakkar as the Independent Directors of the Company.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of the Act and 
based on the recommendation of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee, the re-appointment of Mr. 
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Shankar Prasad Bhagat and Mrs. Jingle Thakkar for a period 

Members through a Special Resolution at the 25th Annual 
General Meeting.

Appropriate resolutions for the reappointment of the 
aforesaid directors are being moved at the ensuing Annual 
General Meeting, which the board recommends for your 
approval.

Change in Board Composition

was reappointed in the previous Annual General Meeting 
held on 22nd September, 2018 as director of the Company 

He resigned from the Board with effect from 2nd February, 
2019 due to his personal reasons. The Board placed on 
record its appreciation for the valuable contribution and 
services rendered by Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar during his 
tenure as Whole time Director of the Company.

The Board of Directors of the Company at their meeting held 
on 2nd February, 2019, based on the recommendation of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, had approved the 
appointment of Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara (DIN 08341541) 

to approval of shareholders of the Company. Mr. Ramanik T. 

25th Annual General Meeting.

Approval of the shareholders is sought at the 25th AGM 
for the appointment of Mr. Ramnik T. Kansagara as the 

The Board and Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
recommended his appointment.

Key Managerial Personnel

As per the provisions of Sections 2(51) and 203 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, 
Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar, Whole time Director, Mr. 
Krupesh G. Thakkar, Managing Director, Mr. Keyur M. Gajjar, 

the key managerial personnel of the Company.

DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

All Independent Directors have submitted the declarations 

(LODR) Regulations, 2015 that they meet the criteria of 
independence as provided in Section 149(6) of the Companies 

Act, 2013 as well as clause (b) of sub-regulation (1) of 

he/she is not aware of any circumstance or situation, which 
exist or may be reasonably anticipated, that could impair or 
impact his/her ability to discharge his/her duties with an 
objective independent judgment and without any external 
influence and that he/she is independent to management. 
The Independent directors have complied with the code for 
independent director as prescribed in schedule IV of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

The company had formulated and implemented code of 
conduct for the board of directors and senior management 
personnel which is available on the Company’s 
website: https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/or-

Regulation-2015.pdf

NUMBER OF MEETINGS OF THE BOARD AND ITS 
COMMITTEES

The details of the meetings of Board of directors and its 
Committees convened during the Financial Year 2018-19 
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report, which forms 
part of this Report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are various committees constituted as stipulated 

Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee and Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Committee. Brief details pertaining to 
composition, terms of reference, meetings held and attendance 

has been enumerated in Corporate Governance Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS

During the year, all recommendations of Audit Committee 
were approved by the Board of Directors.

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has formulated and adopted the Nomination 
and Remuneration Policy in accordance with the provisions 
of Companies Act, 2013 read with the Rules framed 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee have 

of the Company and persons in the Senior Management of 

Board’s Report (Contd.)
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the Company, their remuneration including determination 

Directors and other matters as provided under sub-section 
(3) of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 (including any 

time being in force).

The salient aspects covered in the Remuneration policy 
have been outlined in the corporate governance report which 
forms part of this report.

EVALUATION OF THE PERFORMANCE OF THE BOARD, 
COMMITTEES AND INDIVIDUAL DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with Rules framed there under and in compliance with the 

has carried out the annual evaluation of the performance 
of the Board as a whole, Individual Directors including 
Independent Directors, Non-Independent Directors, 
Chairperson and the Board Committees. A structured 

the inputs received from the Directors, covering various 

composition of the Board and its Committees, Meetings of 
the board, functioning of the board, effectiveness of board 
processes, Board culture, execution and performance of 

The exercise was also carried out to evaluate the 
performance of individual Directors including the Chairman 
of the Board, who were evaluated on parameters such as 
level of engagement and contribution, independence of 
judgment, safeguarding the interest of the Company and its 
minority shareholders etc.

The performance evaluation of the Independent Directors 
was carried out by the entire Board excluding the director 
being evaluated. The performance evaluation of the 
Chairman and the Non Independent Directors was carried 
out by the Independent Directors who also reviewed the 
performance of the Key Managerial Personnel. The Directors 
expressed their satisfaction with the evaluation process.

Further, based on the performance evaluation of the 
Independent Directors Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat and 
Mrs. Jingle Thakkar to be reappointed for second term of 

Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company at 
their respective Meetings held on 18.05.2019 recommended 
the re-appointment of the aforesaid directors as 

years commencing from the dates on which their present 
appointments with the Company expire.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES OF THE 
COMPANY

Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) 
Rules, 2014 in respect of Directors/employees of the 
Company is set out in “Annexure - [1]” of this report.

The statement containing the information of the employees 

read with Rule 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 will be 

Secretary. In terms of Section 136 of the Act, the Reports and 
Accounts are being sent to the Members and others entitled 
thereto, excluding the aforesaid information of employees 
which is available for inspection by the members at the 

working days of the Company up to the date of the ensuing 
Annual General Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

with Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, Board of 

(a)  in the preparation of the annual accounts for the 

accounting standards have been followed and there are 
no material departures from the same;

(b)  they have selected such accounting policies and applied 
them consistently and made judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for 
preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

(d)  they have prepared annual accounts on a going concern 
basis;

(f)  they have devised proper systems to ensure compliance 
with the provisions of all applicable laws and that such 

Board’s Report (Contd.)
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INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS SYSTEMS AND THEIR 
ADEQUACY

The Board has adopted policies and procedure for ensuring 

adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its 
assets, the prevention and detection of fraud and errors, the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and 

During the year no reportable material weakness in the 
design or operation were observed.

FRAUDS REPORTED BY THE AUDITOR

The auditor of the Company has not reported any fraud to 
the Audit Committee or Board or to the Central Government 
under Section 143(12) of the Companies Act, 2013.

PUBLIC DEPOSITS

During the year under review, Company has not accepted 
any deposit within the meaning of Sections 73 and 74 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Acceptance 
of Deposits) Rules, 2014. Further, Company does not have 
any deposit which is in violation of Chapter V of the Act.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS

The details of Loans, guarantee and Investments covered 
under the provisions of Section 186 of the Act are given 
in the Notes to the Financial Statements forming part of 
Annual Report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the FY 2018-19, Company has entered into some 

2(76) of the Companies Act, 2013, which were in the ordinary 
course of business and at arms’ length basis. Further, the 
transactions were in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, read with rules framed thereunder 

with related parties were entered with approval of the Audit 
Committee.

statements.

The Company has formulated a policy on related party 
transactions, the same is available on Company’s website at 
https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Rushil_Related_
Party_Transaction_Policy.pdf

The detail disclosure of these transactions in Form AOC- 2 
pursuant to Section 134 (3)(h) of the Companies Act, 2013 
read with Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 
is set out as “Annexure [2]”to this Report.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

year 2018-19 carried out in areas of promoting education, 

poverty and malnutrition (food supply), plantation activity, 
old age home and such other facilities for senior citizen, 
rural development, animal welfare etc. These activities are 
in accordance with Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013 
and CSR Policy of the Company.

The CSR expenditure incurred by the Company during the FY 
2018-19 as well as other details of initiatives undertaken by 
the Company during the Financial Year in CSR has detailed 
in this Annual Report. The Annual Report on CSR activities is 
attached as Annexure - [3] to this Report.

The Policy on CSR of the company Pursuant to Section 
135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies 
(Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) Rules, 2014 is 
available on https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/
Corporate-Social-Responsibility-Policy-of-RDL.pdf.

CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, 
FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 8(3) of the 
Companies(Accounts) Rules, 2014, is annexed here with as 
“Annexure - [4]”.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Company has a robust Risk Management policy. The 
Company through Board and Audit Committee oversees 

impact assessment, effective implementation of the 
mitigation plans and risk reporting. Risk Management forms 
an integral part of the Company’s planning process.

The Audit Committee has additional oversight in the area 

the business and functions are systematically addressed 
through mitigating actions on continuing basis.

There are no risks, which in the opinion of the Board threaten 
the existence of the Company.
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VIGIL MECHANISM

Your Company has established a Vigil Mechanism/ 
Whistle Blower Policy which is in compliance with the 
provisions of Section 177(9) of the Companies Act, 2013 
and Regulation 4(2)(d)(iv) read with Regulation 22 of 

stakeholders, including individual employees, directors 
and their representative bodies, to freely communicate their 
concerns about illegal or unethical practices, instances of 
unethical behavior, actual or suspected fraud or violation 
of the company’s code of conduct. The Policy provides 

employee(s) and direct access to the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee in appropriate or exceptional cases. The 
Protected Disclosures, if any reported under this Policy 
will be appropriately and expeditiously investigated by the 
Chairman.

Your Company hereby affirms that no Director, employee 
or any other personnel has been denied access to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and that no complaint 
was received during the year.

The Whistle Blower Policy has been disclosed on the 
Company’s website under the web link https://www.
rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Whistle_Blower_Policy.51.
pdf and circulated to all the Directors / employees.

REGULATORS

Company received closure notices from Gujarat Pollution 
Control Board (GPCB) to stop the Manufacturing process 
of two Laminate Sheet manufacturing units in Gujarat 
at two different occasions and on two different dates. 
Laterly, GPCB temporary revoked the said closure notice 
on both the manufacturing units with some conditions. 
The manufacturing process of both the manufacturing 
units were disturbed during the closure period.

material orders passed by the Regulators, Courts, 

going concern status of the Company and its operations 
in future.

The details of litigation on tax and other relevant matters 
are disclosed in the Auditors’ Report and Financial 
Statements which forms part of this Annual Report.

AUDITORS

STATUTORY AUDITOR

M/s. Parikh & Majmudar, Chartered Accountants were 
appointed as Statutory Auditors of the Company at 
the AGM held on September 27, 2016 for a term of five 
consecutive years.

The Notes on financial statement referred to in the 
Auditors’ Report are self-explanatory and do not call 
for any further comments. The Auditors’ Report dated 
18th May, 2019 is unmodified and does not contain any 

No fraud has been reported by the Auditors to the Audit 
Committee or the Board.

SECRETARIAL AUDITOR

Mrs. Mihika S. Jain, Practicing Company Secretary 
resigned as secretarial auditor of the Company during 
the year. The Board has appointed M/s. Shalin Jain 
& Associates, Company Secretaries, to undertake the 
Secretarial Audit of the Company for the financial year 
2018-19 pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

The Secretarial Audit Report in the prescribed Form No. 
MR – 3 for the Financial Year 2018-19 is annexed herewith 
as “Annexure - [5]” to this Report. The Secretarial Auditor 

remark or disclaimer in his report.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECRETARIAL STANDARD

The Company has complied with Secretarial Standards 
1 and 2 issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries 
of India on Board meetings and General Meetings 
respectively.

IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE ACTION

During the year under review, the Company has not failed 
to implement any Corporate Actions within the specified 
time limit.

Board’s Report (Contd.)
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ANNUAL RETURN

part of the Board’s Report and is annexed herewith as 
“Annexure - [6]”.

The Company has placed a copy of the annual return 

web-link of such annual return as prepared in Form No. 
MGT-7 for the FY 2017-18 is https://www.rushil.com/
AnnualResultPdf/Form_MGT-7_Annual_Return.50.pdf 
The Company will also place the Annual Return for the FY 
2018-19 on the website of the Company in due course.

COST RECORDS AND COST AUDIT

audit as prescribed under the provisions of Section 148(1) 
of the Act, are not applicable for the business activities 
carried out by the Company.

DETAILS OF UTILIZATION OF FUNDS RAISED THROUGH 
PREFERENTIAL ALLOTMENT:

The detail about the utilisation of funds raised by 
Company through Preferential Allotment for an amount of 
` 20.02 Crores during the FY 2018-19 has been covered 
in the Corporate Governance Report which forms part of 
this Report.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

a detailed review of the developments in the industry, 
performance of the Company, opportunities and risks, 
segment wise and product wise performance, internal 
control systems, outlook etc. of the Company is given 
under the head Management Discussion and Analysis 
Report, which forms part of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The report on Corporate Governance along with a 
certificate from the Practicing Company Secretary on 
its compliance for the Financial Year 2018-19, as per 

Regulations, 2015 forms part of the Annual Report and 

annexed to this Report.

Disclosures as per the Sexual Harassment of Women at 

2013

The Company has adopted zero tolerance for sexual 
harassment at workplace and has formulated a policy 
on Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal of Sexual 
Harassment at workplace in line with the provisions of the 
Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 and the rules 
thereunder for prevention and Redressal of complaints of 
sexual harassment at workplace.

The policy aims to provide protection to employees at 
workplace and prevent and redress complaints of sexual 
harassment and for the matters connected and incidental 
thereto, with the objective of providing safe working 
environment, where employees feel secure.

An Internal Complaints Committee has been set up to 
Redress complaints related to sexual harassment. During 
the Financial year 2018-19, the company has not received 
any complaint of sexual harassment at workplace. Further, 
there was not any complaint pending at the beginning of 
the year or at the end of the year.
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For and on behalf of the 
Board of Directors, 

Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar
Date: 23.07.2019     Chairman
Place: Ahmedabad (DIN: 00208843)
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Annexure [1] TO BOARD’S REPORT

Information required under Section 197 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014

A.   Ratio of remuneration of each Director to the median remuneration of all the employees of the Company for the Financial 
Year 2018-19 is as follows:

(Amount in `)

Name of Director Designation Total Annual Remuneration (`)
Ratio of remuneration of director 

to the Median remuneration
Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Whole Time Director 1,19,99,403.00 45.54
Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar Managing Director 1,19,99,806.00 45.54
Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar* Whole Time Director 3,75,653.00 1.69
Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara* 3,06,118.00 7.44

1. *Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar has resigned from the Company w.e.f. 02.02.2019. Further, Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara is appointed 
as additional Director of the Company w.e.f. 02.02.2019 who was till the date of his appointment working in the Company 
as Vice President (Production) for Laminate Sheet division. His remuneration is mentioned for his term as director w.e.f. 
02.02.2019 to 31.03.2019.

2. Independent Directors receiving only sitting fees for attending the board meeting. The sitting fees paid to Independent 
Directors is not covered in the above table. 

3. Median remuneration of the Company for all its employees is `

(Amount in `)

Name of Director Designation
Remuneration (in `)

Increase(%)2018-19 2017-18
Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Whole Time Director 1,19,99,403.00 1,05,69,278.00 13.53%
Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar Managing Director 1,19,99,806.00 1,05,58,679.00 13.65%
Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar** Director 375653.00 4,79,784.00 --
Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara** Director 3,06,118.00 -- --
Mr. Keyur M. Gajjar 57,59,099.00 50,49,658.00 14.05%
Mr. Vipul S. Vora CFO 39,65,758.00 33,26,728.00 19.21%
Mr. Hasmukh K. Modi CS 17,89,799.00 15,48,151.00 15.61%

Notes:

 1.  **Mr. Kaushikbhai J. Thakkar has resigned from the Company w.e.f. 02.02.2019. Further, Mr. Ramanikbhai T. Kansagara 
is appointed as additional Director of the Company w.e.f. 02.02.2019. So, in the above table increase percentage of 
these directors is not mentioned.

 2.  Independent directors receiving only sitting fees for attending the board meeting. So, in the above table, sitting fees 
paid to independent directors are not considered.

 3.  The remuneration to Directors is within the overall limits approved by the shareholders.

C.  Percentage increase in the median remuneration of all employees in the Financial Year 2018-19: 10.70%

D.  Number of permanent employees on the rolls of the Company as on 31st March, 2019:  453 employees

increase in the managerial remuneration:

  Remuneration to Managerial Personnel (MD & WTD) is increased by 13.60% in FY 2018-19 compared to FY 2017-18. While 
Average salary of all employees other than Managerial Personnel is increase by 8.8% in FY 2018-19 compared to FY 2017-18.

and other Employees.
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Form No. AOC-2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and
Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

thereto

1.  Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis:

 Nil

2.  Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis:

 Nil

Annexure [2] TO BOARD’S REPORT
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ANNUAL REPORT ON CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES (CSR) ACTIVITIES

reference to the web-link to the CSR policy and projects or programs:

The CSR policy of the company outline aims for signifying care for the community by identifying some thrust area around, 
which focus on the company‘s CSR initiatives and channelizing the resources which include providing Health, education, 

The CSR Activities undertaken by the Company is within the broad framework of Schedule VII of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Company has framed a CSR Policy in compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and approved by Board of 
Directors, is placed on the Company’s website, which can be accessed through the following link: https://www.rushil.com/
CodesPoliciesPdf/Corporate-Social-Responsibility-Policy-of-RDL.pdf

2. The Composition and meetings of the CSR Committee:

 The composition of the CSR Committee as on 31st March, 2019 is as follows:

Name of the Member Position in Committee Nature of Directorship
Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Chairman Whole time Director & Chairman
Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar Member Managing Director
Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat Member

 Mr. Hasmukh K. Modi, Company Secretary, acts as Secretary to the CSR Committee. During the FY 2018-19, one meeting of 
CSR Committee was held on 10th August, 2018.

` 31,64,36,196.00

` 63,28,724.00

` 63,28,724.00

` 64,96,931.00

 c. Amount unspent, if any: NIL

` 1,68,207.00

(` in Lakhs)
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
Sr. 
No

CSR project Sector in which 
the Project is 

Projects or 
programs

(1) Local area or 
other

(2) Specify 
the State and 
district where 
projects or 
programs was 
undertaken

Amount outlay 
(budget) 

project or 
programs wise

Amount spent 
on the projects 

or programs

Sub – heads:

(1) Direct 
expenditure 

on projects or 
programs

expenditure 
upto to the 

reporting 
period

Amount 
spent : Direct 
or through 
implementing 
agency*

1 Promoting 
education 
by providing 
educational 
materials, 
school fees, 
tuition support 
etc.

Cl. (ii) 
promoting

education

(1) At Mansa, 
Dist.-
Gandhinagar, 
Gujarat, and
 (2) At city 
& district - 
Ahmedabad, 
Gujarat.

12.00 12.40 12.40 Direct and 
through 
implementing 
agency
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(` in Lakhs)
(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8)
Sr. 
No

CSR project Sector in which 
the Project is 

Projects or 
programs

(1) Local area or 
other

(2) Specify 
the State and 
district where 
projects or 
programs was 
undertaken

Amount outlay 
(budget) 

project or 
programs wise

Amount spent 
on the projects 

or programs

Sub – heads:

(1) Direct 
expenditure 

on projects or 
programs

expenditure 
upto to the 

reporting 
period

Amount 
spent : Direct 
or through 
implementing 
agency*

2 Providing 
grocery, food, 
clean drinking 
water, medical 
help etc.

Cl. (i) 

hunger, 
poverty and 
malnutrition

(1) At Mansa, 
Dist.-
Gandhinagar, 
Gujarat, and      
(2) At city 
& district - 
Ahmedabad, 
Gujarat.

35.00 34.77 34.77 Direct and 
through 
implementing 
agency

3 Orphans & Old 
age Facility

Cl. (iii) setting 
up old age 
homes and 
such other 
facilities for 
senior citizens

At Ahmedabad, 
Gujarat

17.00 16.89 16.89 Through 
implementing 
agency

4 Animal Welfare Cl. (iv) animal 
welfare

At Ahmedabad, 
Gujarat

0.20 0.26 0.26 Through 
implementing 
agency

5 Rural 
Development 
Projects

Cl. (x) Rural 
Development

At Gandhinagar 
Gujarat

0.60 0.65 0.65 Direct

Total 64.80 64.97 64.97

 *Company has carried out some of the CSR expenses through implementing agency namely Ghanshyam Parivar Trust. 
This trust has the some common objects as covered in Schedule VII and has an established track record of more than 

Not Applicable

7.  A responsibility statement of the CSR Committee that the implementation and monitoring of CSR Policy, is in compliance 

objectives and Policy of the Company.

(Krupesh G. Thakkar) (Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar)
Date: 23.07.2019 Managing Director Chairman of CSR Committee
Place: Ahmedabad
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PARTICULARS OF CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, 
TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION AND FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
EARNINGS AND OUTGO

(A) CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

as the steps taken by the Company for utilizing 
alternate sources of energy:

  1.  The existing maximum demand controller 
interlock with process load system result in 
decline of demand to 300 KVA per month 
without disturbing company’s process 
system.

  2.  Company has installed PVC foam board 
plant with connected load 1440 KW. The 
approximate savings are ` 7,56,000/- per 
year.

  3.  In Financial Year 2018-19 company had 
purchased 73,59,152 units by open access 

with this the company’s overall cost was 
reduced by ` 0.28/- per unit.  The power 
cost was reduced from ` 8.02 per unit to ` 
7.74 per unit. Therefore, company got the 
benefits of ` 61 lakhs.

  4.  Company has introduced VFD for the 
following motors at the MDF Board 
manufacturing plant of the Company at 
Chikmagalur, Karnataka

    5.5  KW Sanding RAV  motors- 2 nos

     11 KW RAV motor for fibre bin  motor- 
1 nos

    After introducing the VFD, Company made 
saving in energy cost by reducing the power 
consumption of Approximately 24,000 units 
per year.

  5.  Company has installed solar panel at the 
corporate office of the company which 
results in significant power and energy 
saving.

  6.  Company has replaced ordinary MH/MB 

premises in first phase.  The total saving 
are 28,000 units per annum.

Annexure [4] To Board’s Report

  7. The company is doing on Regular basis 
Preventive and corrective maintenance 
of machines as proactive measures to 
optimize energy usage and available time 
of machines.

  8. On the regular basis, Company is doing 
check in the electricity distribution network 
for safe and efficient performance.

  9. Company has fixed Air Ventilation on top 
roof of factory premises running through 
wind energy in replacement of exhaust fans 
which were running through electricity.

  10. Company is doing shift wise power 
consumption analysis to control the 
consumptions. Along with that Company is 

electrical and utility systems.

equipment: NIL

the company have resulted in savings in power 
cost which ultimately resulted into overall cost 
savings of the company.

(B) TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

 (i)  The efforts made by the Company towards 
technology absorption:

  1. Company had Install new Resin dosing 
system of IMAL at glue kitchen for reduction 
of resin consumption. Due to this company 
has saved 6% resin during the FY 2018-19. 
Further calibration is going on and company 
is expecting another 3% saving per annum. 

also improved. As a result the approximate 
resin savings are 1,130 MT.

Chikmagalur, Karnataka results in increase of 
MDF board production to 27% and Lamination 
board production to 25% over the machine 
design capacity that resulted in reduction of 
Power and Thermal energy cost.
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  3. Company on continuous basis modifies 
and upgrades the manufacturing process/
parameters which resulted into cost 
effectiveness, better productivity in terms 

of the products.

  4. Company has introduced Interlocking 
of flue gas temperature system with hot 
air discharge system has resulted in 
reduction of fuel consumption to 1000 MT 
per annum. As a result the saving is ` 25 
lakhs per annum. The fire accident due to 
over temperature is also avoided after the 
installation of this system.

  5. Development of new products, design, 
concept and processes at regular intervals.

  6. Company on continuous basis upgrades 
the chemical formula, new and alternate 
Raw Material consumption etc. for better 

  7. The Company on an on-going basis 
interacts with markets, for technical 
expertise for our industry.

  8. Company has undertaken in house R&D 

press machine with latest technology which 
resulted into saving in production loss and 
increase in productivity.

  10. Company modified / propose to modify 
the following process systems which will 
result into increase in the production and/

   1.  Installation of Roof Top solar panel for 
Solar Power generation in PVC unit.

   2.  VFD installation in cooling tower 
Fan and interlock with the water 
temperature control in RO plant.

   3.  Installations of new VFD’s for following 
motors

      Sanding Dust Fan -2 nos (90KW 
and 75 KW)

Vacuum fan (75 KW)

   4.  Installation of servo motors system 
in lamination machine for loading 
and unloading motors for better 

plant outdoor in next phase.

substitution:

   Company is covered under the design products 
industry. New designs and varieties in products 
has always remained the demand of customers. 
So, development of new products and creativity 

sustain and increase the market share of the 
company. Company has derived various benefits 
from new and improved technology and R&D 

reduced cost of final products, Reduction in 
process time, Conservation of energy, Smooth 
processing, conservation of environment, 
Increase in customer base, Increase in the brand 
value of Company etc.

 (iii)  Imported Technology (imported during the last 3 

year):

   The Company has not imported any technology 
during the last three years.

(C) FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS AND OUTGO

  Foreign exchange earned in terms of actual inflows 
during the Financial Year 2018-19 was ` 101.17 Cr 

  Foreign exchange outgo in terms of actual outflows 
during the Financial Year 2018-19 was ` 9.60 Cr 
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Annexure [5] To Board’s Report

 Form No. MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH, 2019

[Pursuant to Section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No.9 of the Companies  
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members,

Rushil Decor Limited

(CIN: L25209GJ1993PLC019532)

Ahmedabad.

I have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of 
applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good 
corporate practices by Rushil Decor Limited (hereinafter 
called the “Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a 
manner that provided me a reasonable basis for evaluating 
the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and 
expressing my opinion thereon.

maintained by the company and also the information 

representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, 
I hereby report that in my opinion and to the best of  my 
understanding, the Company has, during the audit period 

complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and 
also that the Company has proper Board- processes and 
compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner 
and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

I have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and 

to the provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) and the rules 
made thereunder;

(ii) Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (“SCRA”) 
and the rules made thereunder;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 2018 and the Regulations and 
Bye-laws framed thereunder;

rules and regulations made thereunder to the extent of 
Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment 

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed 

Act, 1992 (“SEBI Act”) to the extent applicable to the 
Company:-

Regulations, 2011;

(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 
as amended;

Regulations, 2018;

(Registrar to an Issue and Share Transfer Agent) 
Regulations, 1993 regarding the Act and dealing 
with Client;

that is to say:

 b) The Hazardous Wastes (Management, Handling 
and Trans boundary Movement) Rules, 2008

 c) The Water (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act, 
1974 and Rules made thereunder

 d) The Air (Prevention & Control of Pollution) Act, 
1981

 e) Intellectual Property Acts

 f) Customs Act, 1962

 g) Indian Boilers Act, 1923

 h) Indian Forest Act read with State Rules

 i) Bureau of Indian Standards Act, 1986

I have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses 
of the following:

 i.  Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India (ICSI).

 ii.  The Listing Agreements entered into by the 
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During the period under review the Company has complied 
with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above.

I further Report that:

i. The Board of Directors of the Company is duly 

The changes in the composition of the Board of 
Directors that took place during the period under review 
were carried out in compliance with the provisions of 
the Act.

Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda 
were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system 
exists for seeking and obtaining further information and 

and for meaningful participation at the meeting.

iii. None of the directors in any meeting dissented on any 
resolution and hence there was no instance of recording 
any dissenting member’s view in the minutes.

I further report that
processes in the Company commensurate with the size 
and operations of the Company to monitor and ensure 
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
guidelines.

I further report that during the audit period there were no 

affairs of the Company in pursuance of the above referred 
laws, Rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc. except 
as follow:

During the year, Company has issued and allotted 2,13,872 

as follows:

Date of Allotment 28.04.2018 19.07.2018
No. of shares allotted 1,90,372 23,500
Issue Price per Share (`) 945.00 865.00
Total amount ` 17.99 Crores ` 2.03 Crores

For, Shalin Jain & Associates

Shalin M. Jain
Practicing Company Secretary

Date:  23.07.2019 ACS No: 30427
Place: Ahmedabad CP No: 21379

This Report is to be read with our letter of even date which 
is annexed as ‘Annexure A’ and forms an integral part of this 
report.
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Annexure [5] TO BOARD’S REPORT (Contd.)
Annexure A
To,

The Members,

Rushil Decor Limited

(CIN: L25209GJ1993PLC019532)

Ahmedabad.

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1. Maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility 
of the management of the Company. My responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these secretarial records 
based on my audit.

2. I have followed the audit practices and process as were 
appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the 
correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records. 

that correct facts are reflected in Secretarial records. 
I believe that the process and practices, I followed 
provide a reasonable basis for my opinion.

Company.

representation about the Compliance of laws, rules and 
regulations and happening of events etc.

5. The Compliance of the provisions of Corporate and 
other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is 
the responsibility of management. My examination was 

6. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as 

or effectiveness with which the management has 
conducted the affairs of the Company.

For, Shalin Jain & Associates

Shalin M. Jain
Practicing Company Secretary

Date:  23.07.2019 ACS No: 30427
Place: Ahmedabad CP No: 21379

44 Rushil Decor Limited



Annexure [6] to Board’s Report

FORM NO. MGT-9

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

[Pursuant to section 92(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 and rule 12(1) of the Companies  
(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

I. REGISTRATION AND OTHER DETAILS:
i) CIN L25209GJ1993PLC019532
ii) Registration Date 24-05-1993
iii) Name of the Company Rushil Decor Limited
iv) Category / Sub-Category of the Company Company Limited by shares/ Non-

Government Company
v) S. No. 125, Near Kalyanpura Patia, Village 

Itla, Gandhinagar-Mansa Road, Taluka 
Kalol, Dist.: Gandhinagar – 382845, 
Gujarat, India
Tel: (079) 61400400
Fax: (079) 61400401

vi) Whether listed company Yes / No 

Sr. 
No. Symbol
1 533470
2

vii) Name, Address and Contact details of Registrar and Transfer Agent, if any Big Share Services Pvt. Ltd.
1st Floor, Bharat Tin Works Building,  
Opp. Vasant Oasis, Makwana Road, 

Maharashtra, India
Tel: (022) 62638200
Fax:(022) 62638299

bhagwan@bigshareonline.com
II. PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of 
the company

As per attachment - A

III. PARTICULARS OF HOLDING, SUBSIDIARY AND ASSOCIATE COMPANIES Company has no Holding, Subsidiary or 
Associate Company.

IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of 
Total Equity)
i)   Category-wise Share Holding As per attachment – B
ii)  Shareholding of Promoters As per Attachment – C
iii) Change in Promoters’ Shareholding ( please specify, if there is no change) As per Attachment – D
iv)  Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders (other than Directors, 

Promoters and Holders of GDRs and ADRs)
v)  Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel As per Attachment – F

V. INDEBTEDNESS
Indebtedness of the Company including interest outstanding/accrued but 
not due for payment

As per Attachment – G

VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL
A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole-time Directors and/or Manager As per Attachment – H
B. Remuneration to other directors As per Attachment – I
C. Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel other than MD/MANAGER/WTD As per Attachment – J
VII. As per Attachment – K
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Annexure [6] to Board’s Report (Contd.)

ATTACHMENT - A

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

All the business activities contributing 10% or more of the total turnover of the company is as follows:

Sl. 
No. 

NIC Code of the   
of the company

1 Laminated Sheets and other allied items 1709 53.22%
2 Medium Density Fiber Board 1621 45.25%

ATTACHMENT – B

IV. SHARE HOLDING PATTERN (Equity Share Capital Breakup as percentage of Total Equity)

i) Category-wise Share Holding

Category of Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year 
(As on 01.04.2018)

No. of Shares held at the end of the year  
(As on 31.03.2019) % Change 

during the 
year Demat Physical Total

% of Total 
Shares Demat Physical Total

% of Total 
Shares

A. Promoters 
(1) Indian

6045914 0 6045914 41.08 6045914 0 6045914 40.49 (0.59)
b)  Central Govt 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
c)   State Govt (s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
d)  Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e)  Banks / FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
f)   Any Other….
f-1)  Firm representing 

through its Partners
1845770 0 1845770 12.54 1845770 0 1845770 12.36 (0.18)

Sub-total (A) (1):- 7891684 0 7891684 53.62 7891684 0 7891684 52.85 (0.77)
(2) Foreign 

a) NRIs – Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Other – Individuals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
c) Bodies Corp. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
d) Banks / FI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
e) Any Other…. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sub-total (A) (2):- 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total shareholding of Promoter (A) 
= (A)(1)+(A)(2) 

7891684 0 7891684 53.62 7891684 0 7891684 52.85 (0.77)

B. Public Shareholding 
1. Institutions

a) Mutual Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
b) Banks / FI 3775 0 3775 0.03 3792 0 3792 0.03 0.00
c) Central Govt 0 0 0 0 34 0 34 0.00 0.00
d) State Govt(s) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
e) Venture Capital Funds 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
f)  Insurance Companies 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00
g) FIIs 170167 0 170167 1.16 121621 0 121621 0.81 (0.35)
h)  Foreign Venture Capital 

Funds
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0.00

i)  Others (Foreign Portfolio 
Investor)

2093066 0 2093066 14.22 1785490 0 1785490 11.96 (2.26)

Sub-total (B)(1):- 2267008 0 2267008 15.41 1910937 0 1910937 12.80 (2.61)
2. Non-Institutions

a) Bodies Corp.
     i) Indian 2310472 0 2310472 15.70 2523196 0 2523196 16.90 1.2
    ii) Overseas 175000 0 175000 1.19 472912 0 472912 3.17 1.98
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Category of Shareholders

No. of Shares held at the beginning of the year 
(As on 01.04.2018)

No. of Shares held at the end of the year  
(As on 31.03.2019) % Change 

during the 
year Demat Physical Total

% of Total 
Shares Demat Physical Total

% of Total 
Shares

b) Individuals
i)  Individual shareholders 

holding nominal share 
capital upto `  1 lakh

365198 5 365203 2.48 375719 5 375724 2.52 0.04

ii)  Individual shareholders 
holding nominal share 
capital in excess of ` 1 
lakh

921168 0 921168 6.26 756022 0 756022 5.06 (1.20)

c) Others (Partnership Firm) 317460 0 317460 2.16 317460 0 317460 2.13 (0.03)
Clearing Members 357399 0 357399 2.43 324843 0 324843 2.18 (0.25)
NRI 520 0 520 0.00 70 0 70 0 0.00
NRI (REPAT) 39730 0 39730 0.27 25314 0 25314 0.17 (0.10)
NRI (NON REPAT) 71701 0 71701 0.49 333050 0 333050 2.23 1.74
Corporate Body NBFC 115 0 115 0.00 120 0 120 0 0

Sub-total (B)(2):- 4558763 5 4558768 30.98 5128706 5 5128711 34.35 3.37
Total Public Shareholding (B)=(B)
(1)+  (B)(2)

6825771 5 6825776 46.38 7039643 5 7039648 47.15 0.77

C. Shares held by Custodian for 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Grand Total (A+B+C) 14717455 5 14717460 100.00 14931327 5 14931332 100.00 0.00

Note: During the FY 2018-19, total 2,13,872 new Equity Shares were allotted to non-promoter shareholder through Preferential 
issue basis. Therefore, The Total Paid up Share Capital is increased from 1,47,17,460 equity shares to 1,49,31,332 equity shares.

(ii) Shareholding of Promoters and promoter group

Sr. 
No. Shareholder’s Name

Shareholding at the beginning of the year 
(As on 01.04.2018)

Shareholding at the end of the year (As on 
31.03.2019)

% change in 
shareholding 

during the 
yearNo. of Shares

% of total 
Shares of the 

company

%of Shares 

encumbered 
to total 
shares No. of Shares

% of total 
Shares of the 

company

%of Shares 

encumbered 
to total 
shares

1 Ghanshyambhai  Ambalal  Thakkar 1990900 13.53 0 1990900 13.33 0 (0.20)
2 Krupesh Ghanshyambhai Thakkar 

and Ghanshyambhai Ambalal 
Thakkar Repre. Rushil International 
(Partnership Firm)

1845770 12.54 0 1845770 12.36 0 (0.18)

3 Krupesh Ghanshyambhai Thakkar 1542484 10.48 0 1927866 12.91 0 2.43
4 Krupesh G. Thakkar Karta of Krupesh 1389693 9.44 0 1389693 9.31 0 (0.13)

5 Krupa  Krupesh  Thakkar 282415 1.92 0 282415 1.89 0 (0.03)
6 Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Karta of 

Ghanshyambhai Ambalal Thakkar 
385382 2.62 0 0 0 0 (2.62)

7 Dinuben  Ghanshyambhai  Thakkar 246516 1.67 0 246516 1.65 0 (0.02)
8 Rushil  Krupesh  Thakkar 208524 1.42 0 208524 1.40 0 (0.02)
Total 7891684 53.62 0 7891684 52.85 0 (0.77)
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(iii) Change in Promoters and promoter Group’ Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

Sr. 
No. Name of the Promoter

Shareholding at the beginning of the 
year  (As on 01-04-2018) year (01-04-2018 to 31-03-2019)

No. of shares
% of total shares 
of the Company No. of shares

% of total shares 
of the Company

1 Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Karta of Ghanshyambhai Ambalal Thakkar (HUF)
At the beginning of the Year 385382 2.62 -- --

vide Partition Deed dated 07.11.2018
(385382) (2.58) -- --

At the end of the Year -- -- -- --
2 Krupesh Ghanshyambhai Thakkar

At the beginning of the Year 1542484 10.48 -- --

vide Partition Deed dated 07.11.2018

385382 2.58
1927866 12.91

At the end of the Year -- -- 1927866 12.91

Note:  There is no change in the promoter’s shareholding except as mentioned above. During the Financial year, due to 

Partition Deed.

Sl. 
No.

Shareholder’s Name No. Of Shares At The 

The Year
Holding

Reason for 

Decrease
during the year (01.04.2018 

to 31.03.2019
Date No. of Shares Number of 

Shares
Percentage 

of Total 
Shares of The 

Company
1 Elara India Opportunities 

Fund Limited
5,50,200 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 5,50,200 3.68

06-Apr-18 55,000 Transfer 6,05,200 4.05
13-Apr-18 10,000 Transfer 6,15,200 4.12
27-Apr-18 10,000 Transfer 6,25,200 4.19
08-Jun-18 75,000 Transfer 7,00,200 4.69
29-Jun-18 10,000 Transfer 7,10,200 4.76
06-Jul-18 10,000 Transfer 7,20,200 4.82
13-Jul-18 (10,000) Transfer 7,10,200 4.76
31-Aug-18 67,500 Transfer 7,77,700 5.21
24-Sep-18 (7,77,700) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 7,77,700 Transfer 7,77,700 5.21

7,77,700 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 7,77,700 5.21
2.

Limited
37,943 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 37,943 0.25

06-Apr-18 11785 Transfer 49,728 0.33
13-Apr-18 (1008) Transfer 48,720 0.33
20-Apr-18 30 Transfer 48,750 0.33
27-Apr-18 (12760) Transfer 35,990 0.24
11-May-18 (87) Transfer 35,903 0.24
18-May-18 (3134) Transfer 32,769 0.22
25-May-18 (1584) Transfer 31,185 0.21
30-May-18 26200 Transfer 57,385 0.38
01-Jun-18 15993 Transfer 73,378 0.49
08-Jun-18 402087 Transfer 4,75,465 3.18
15-Jun-18 (3513) Transfer 4,71,952 3.16
22-Jun-18 (2816) Transfer 4,69,136 3.14
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Sl. 
No.

Shareholder’s Name No. Of Shares At The 

The Year
Holding

Reason for 

Decrease
during the year (01.04.2018 

to 31.03.2019
Date No. of Shares Number of 

Shares
Percentage 

of Total 
Shares of The 

Company
29-Jun-18 131670 Transfer 6,00,806 4.02
06-Jul-18 (4302) Transfer 5,96,504 4.00
13-Jul-18 1000 Transfer 5,97,504 4.00
20-Jul-18 466 Transfer 5,97,970 4.00
27-Jul-18 (239) Transfer 5,97,731 4.00
03-Aug-18 (7575) Transfer 5,90,156 3.95
10-Aug-18 6065 Transfer 5,96,221 3.99
17-Aug-18 (7156) Transfer 5,89,065 3.95
24-Aug-18 (5519) Transfer 5,83,546 3.91
31-Aug-18 (18387) Transfer 5,65,159 3.79
07-Sep-18 (730) Transfer 5,64,429 3.78
14-Sep-18 (258) Transfer 5,64,171 3.78
21-Sep-18 8120 Transfer 5,72,291 3.83
24-Sep-18 (572291) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 47957 Transfer 47,957 0.32
29-Sep-18 (141) Transfer 47,816 0.32
05-Oct-18 30505 Transfer 78,321 0.52
12-Oct-18 (3226) Transfer 75,095 0.50
19-Oct-18 (15006) Transfer 60,089 0.40
26-Oct-18 (14750) Transfer 45,339 0.30
02-Nov-18 (4700) Transfer 40,639 0.27
09-Nov-18 (114) Transfer 40,525 0.27
16-Nov-18 (100) Transfer 40,425 0.27
23-Nov-18 1041 Transfer 41,466 0.28
30-Nov-18 277 Transfer 41,743 0.28
07-Dec-18 (32) Transfer 41,711 0.28
14-Dec-18 553262 Transfer 5,94,973 3.98
21-Dec-18 (2663) Transfer 5,92,310 3.97
28-Dec-18 938 Transfer 5,93,248 3.97
04-Jan-19 110 Transfer 5,93,358 3.97
18-Jan-19 (10687) Transfer 5,82,671 3.90
25-Jan-19 (22247) Transfer 5,60,424 3.75
01-Feb-19 (3430) Transfer 5,56,994 3.73
08-Feb-19 (15382) Transfer 5,41,612 3.63
15-Feb-19 9984 Transfer 5,51,596 3.69
22-Feb-19 3836 Transfer 5,55,432 3.72
01-Mar-19 (597) Transfer 5,54,835 3.72
08-Mar-19 (1635) Transfer 5,53,200 3.71
15-Mar-19 (8033) Transfer 5,45,167 3.65
22-Mar-19 (5) Transfer 5,45,162 3.65
29-Mar-19 (305) Transfer 5,44,857 3.65

5,44,857 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 5,44,857 3.65
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Sl. 
No.

Shareholder’s Name No. Of Shares At The 

The Year
Holding

Reason for 

Decrease
during the year (01.04.2018 

to 31.03.2019
Date No. of Shares Number of 

Shares
Percentage 

of Total 
Shares of The 

Company
3 Anand Rathi Global Finance 

Limited
5,35,605 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 5,35,605 3.59

25-May-18 (1239) Transfer 5,34,366 3.58
01-Jun-18 (524912) Transfer 9,454 0.06
08-Jun-18 1234 Transfer 10,688 0.07
27-Jul-18 34500 Transfer 45,188 0.30
03-Aug-18 (45188) Transfer 0 0
10-Aug-18 16841 Transfer 16,841 0.11
24-Sep-18 (16841) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 16841 Transfer 16,841 0.11
29-Sep-18 553259 Transfer 5,70,100 3.82
23-Nov-18 (553259) Transfer 16,841 0.11
04-Jan-19 9459 Transfer 26,300 0.18
18-Jan-19 (4800) Transfer 21,500 0.14
25-Jan-19 7131 Transfer 28,631 0.19
08-Feb-19 (7131) Transfer 21,500 0.14
15-Feb-19 (5000) Transfer 16,500 0.11
29-Mar-19 93750 Transfer 1,10,250 0.74
30-Mar-19 113996 Transfer 2,24,246 1.50

2,24,246 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 2,24,246 1.50
4 Tirthankar Shares And 5,04,100 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 5,04,100 3.38

24-Sep-18 (504100) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 504100 Transfer 5,04,100 3.38

5,04,100 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 5,04,100 3.38
5 Shriram insight share 

brokers ltd.
4,61,206 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 4,61,206 3.09

06-Apr-18 893 Transfer 4,62,099 3.09
13-Apr-18 (4269) Transfer 4,57,830 3.07
20-Apr-18 (93) Transfer 4,57,737 3.07
11-May-18 6 Transfer 4,57,743 3.07
18-May-18 (6) Transfer 4,57,737 3.07
25-May-18 143290 Transfer 6,01,027 4.03
01-Jun-18 600 Transfer 6,01,627 4.03
08-Jun-18 (68494) Transfer 5,33,133 3.57
15-Jun-18 1150 Transfer 5,34,283 3.58
22-Jun-18 5141 Transfer 5,39,424 3.61
06-Jul-18 8590 Transfer 5,48,014 3.67
13-Jul-18 6310 Transfer 5,54,324 3.71
20-Jul-18 (6310) Transfer 5,48,014 3.67
03-Aug-18 10624 Transfer 5,58,638 3.74
10-Aug-18 13887 Transfer 5,72,525 3.83
17-Aug-18 (8315) Transfer 5,64,210 3.78
24-Aug-18 34394 Transfer 5,98,604 4.01
31-Aug-18 (48044) Transfer 5,50,560 3.69
07-Sep-18 (48695) Transfer 5,01,865 3.36
21-Sep-18 16650 Transfer 5,18,515 3.47
24-Sep-18 (518515) Transfer 0 0
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Sl. 
No.

Shareholder’s Name No. Of Shares At The 

The Year
Holding

Reason for 

Decrease
during the year (01.04.2018 

to 31.03.2019
Date No. of Shares Number of 

Shares
Percentage 

of Total 
Shares of The 

Company
28-Sep-18 539873 Transfer 5,39,873 3.62
05-Oct-18 17652 Transfer 5,57,525 3.73
12-Oct-18 (10383) Transfer 5,47,142 3.66
07-Dec-18 36204 Transfer 5,83,346 3.91
14-Dec-18 2 Transfer 5,83,348 3.91
21-Dec-18 (12395) Transfer 5,70,953 3.82
28-Dec-18 (95) Transfer 5,70,858 3.82
31-Dec-18 1 Transfer 5,70,859 3.82
04-Jan-19 (20961) Transfer 5,49,898 3.68
11-Jan-19 (4500) Transfer 5,45,398 3.65
18-Jan-19 1700 Transfer 5,47,098 3.66
25-Jan-19 800 Transfer 5,47,898 3.67
01-Feb-19 28262 Transfer 5,76,160 3.86
08-Feb-19 1600 Transfer 5,77,760 3.87
15-Feb-19 45092 Transfer 6,22,852 4.17
22-Feb-19 6821 Transfer 6,29,673 4.22
01-Mar-19 (1863) Transfer 6,27,810 4.20
08-Mar-19 2329 Transfer 6,30,139 4.22
19-Mar-19 300 Transfer 6,30,439 4.22
22-Mar-19 (1090) Transfer 6,29,349 4.22
29-Mar-19 73989 Transfer 7,03,338 4.71
30-Mar-19 (10) Transfer 7,03,328 4.71

7,03,328 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 7,03,328 4.71
6 Aspire Emerging Fund 4,78,500 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 4,78,500 3.20

31-Aug-18 (22109) Transfer 4,56,391 3.06
07-Sep-18 (5920) Transfer 4,50,471 3.02
24-Sep-18 (450471) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 450471 Transfer 4,50,471 3.02

4,50,471 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 4,50,471 3.02
7 Nomura Singapore Limited 1,75,000 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 1,75,000 1.17

27-Apr-18 (10000) Transfer 1,65,000 1.11
24-Aug-18 11000 Transfer 1,76,000 1.18
31-Aug-18 11000 Transfer 1,87,000 1.25
07-Sep-18 84000 Transfer 2,71,000 1.82
24-Sep-18 (271000) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 271000 Transfer 2,71,000 1.82
05-Oct-18 30000 Transfer 3,01,000 2.02
12-Oct-18 35000 Transfer 3,36,000 2.25
21-Dec-18 36254 Transfer 3,72,254 2.49
28-Dec-18 6671 Transfer 3,78,925 2.54
31-Dec-18 20 Transfer 3,78,945 2.54
04-Jan-19 43967 Transfer 4,22,912 2.83
08-Feb-19 50000 Transfer 4,72,912 3.17

4,72,912 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 4,72,912 3.17
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Sl. 
No.

Shareholder’s Name No. Of Shares At The 

The Year
Holding

Reason for 

Decrease
during the year (01.04.2018 

to 31.03.2019
Date No. of Shares Number of 

Shares
Percentage 

of Total 
Shares of The 

Company
8 #Vespera Fund Limited 3,37,500 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 3,37,500 2.26

06-Apr-18 (80000) Transfer 2,57,500 1.72
18-May-18 (257000) Transfer 500 0
15-Jun-18 (500) Transfer 0 0

0 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 0 0
9

Representing Family Fund, 
Partnership Firm

3,17,460 01-Apr-18 0 0 3,17,460 2.13
3,17,460 31-Mar-19 0 0 3,17,460 2.13

10 Shriram Credit Company 
Limited

2,74,445 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 2,74,445 1.84
24-Sep-18 (274445) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 274445 Transfer 2,74,445 1.84
05-Oct-18 (8300) Transfer 2,66,145 1.78
21-Dec-18 (4732) Transfer 2,61,413 1.75
01-Feb-19 (400) Transfer 2,61,013 1.75
08-Feb-19 (5369) Transfer 2,55,644 1.71
15-Feb-19 (1679) Transfer 2,53,965 1.70
22-Feb-19 (3416) Transfer 2,50,549 1.68

2,50,549 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 2,50,549 1.68
11 #Giraben Atulbhai Shah 2,53,899 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 2,53,899 1.70

04-May-18 (75) Transfer 2,53,824 1.70
24-Aug-18 (70400) Transfer 1,83,424 1.23
24-Sep-18 (183424) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 183424 Transfer 1,83,424 1.23
01-Feb-19 (33000) Transfer 1,50,424 1.01
08-Feb-19 (1000) Transfer 1,49,424 1.00
15-Feb-19 (39700) Transfer 1,09,724 0.73
29-Mar-19 (45000) Transfer 64,724 0.43

64,724 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 64,724 0.43
12 2,42,000 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 2,42,000 1.62

24-Sep-18 (242000) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 242000 Transfer 2,42,000 1.62
30-Nov-18 (1500) Transfer 2,40,500 1.61

2,40,500 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 2,40,500 1.61
13 Sumant Kapur 40,000 01-Apr-18 0 Transfer 40,000 0.27

31-Aug-18 114000 Transfer 1,54,000 1.03
24-Sep-18 (154000) Transfer 0 0
28-Sep-18 154000 Transfer 1,54,000 1.03
12-Oct-18 4347 Transfer 1,58,347 1.06
19-Oct-18 9940 Transfer 1,68,287 1.13
26-Oct-18 13962 Transfer 1,82,249 1.22
02-Nov-18 13738 Transfer 1,95,987 1.31
07-Dec-18 20200 Transfer 2,16,187 1.45

2,16,187 31-Mar-19 0 Transfer 2,16,187 1.45

among the Top 10 shareholders as on 01.04.2018

Annexure [6] to Board’s Report (Contd.)

52 Rushil Decor Limited



Sr. 
No. Name

Shareholding

Date

(Decrease) 
in share 
holding 

during the 
year Reason

Shareholding during 
the year (01.04.2018 

to 31.03.2019) 
No. of 

Shares at the 
beginning 

end of 
the year 

(31.03.2019)

% of total 
Shares of the 

Company

No. of

Shares

% of total 
shares 
of the 

company 
Directors:
1 Ghanshyambhai  Ambalal  

Thakkar
1990900 13.53 01.04.2018 - Nil Transaction 

during the year.
1990900 13.33

1990900 13.33 31.03.2019
2 Krupesh Ghanshyambhai 

Thakkar
1542484 10.71 01.04.2018 385382

on Partition of 
Ghanshyamb-

hai Ambalal 

1927866 12.91
1927866 12.91 31.03.2019

3 Shankar Prasad Bhagat - - 01.04.2018 - No Holding and 
Movement dur-

ing the year

-
- - 31.03.2019 -

4 Rohitbhai Bhailalbhai 
Thakkar

- - 01.04.2018 - No Holding and 
Movement dur-

ing the year
- - 31.03.2019

5 Kaushikbhai 
Jaykrishnabhai Thakkar#

- - 01.04.2018 - No Holding and 
Movement dur-

ing the year

- -
- - 31.03.2019

6 Jingle Piyush Thakkar - - 01.04.2018 - No Holding and 
Movement dur-

ing the year

- -
- - 31.03.2019

7 Ramanikbhai Tejabhai 
Kansagara

- - 01.04.2018 - No Holding and 
Movement dur-

ing the year

- -
- - 31.03.2019

Key Managerial Personnel:
1 Keyur Mohanbhai Gajjar - - 01.04.2018 - No Holding and 

Movement dur-
ing the year

- -
- - 31.03.2019

2 Vipul Shantilal Vora - - 01.04.2018 - No Holding 
and Movement 
during the year

- -
- - 31.03.2019

3 Hasmukh Kanubhai Modi 1 - 01.04.2018 -         - 1 -
1 - 31.03.2019 - - 1 -

Note: The Change in Directors’ and  KMPs’ Shareholding in % of total shares of the Company between 01-04-2018 and 31-03-
Due to partition of 

.

the Company on 02.02.2019.
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V. INDEBTEDNESS

(` In Lakhs)
Secured Loans  

excluding deposits Unsecured Loans Deposits Total

i) Principal Amount 9978.36 124.05 - 10102.41
ii) Interest due but not paid - - - -
iii) Interest accrued but not due 9.08 - - 9.08

Total (i+ii+iii) 9987.44 124.05 - 10111.49

Addition 124178.98 9759.82 - 133938.80
Reduction 115210.94 4392.53 - 119603.47
Net Change 8968.04 5367.29 - 14335.33

i) Principal Amount 18905.94 5491.35 - 24397.29
ii) Interest due but not paid - - - -
iii) Interest accrued but not due 49.54 - - 49.54
Total (i+ii+iii) 18955.47 5491.35 - 24446.82

VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

( Amount in `)

Sr. 
No. Particulars of Remuneration 

Total 
Amount

Krupeshbhai 
G. Thakkar

Ghanshyambhai 
A. Thakkar

Kaushikbhai J. 
Thakkar**

Ramanik T. 
Kansagara**

1. Gross salary 
(a) Salary as per provisions 
contained in section 17(1) of the 
Income-tax Act, 1961

1,19,99,806 1,19,99,403 3,75,653 3,06,118 2,46,80,980

Income-tax Act, 1961
-- -- -- -- --

section 17(3) Income-tax Act, 1961
-- -- -- -- --

2. Stock Option -- -- -- -- --
3. Sweat Equity -- -- -- -- --
4 Commission   

 
- others, specify…

-- -- -- --

5. Others, please specify -- -- -- --
Total (A) 1,19,99,806 1,19,99,403 3,75,653 3,06,118 2,46,80,980

Ceiling as per the Act `

Section 198 of the Companies Act, 2013
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B. Remuneration to other directors:

( Amount in `)

Sr. 
No. Particulars of Remuneration 

Name of Directors

Total Amount
Mrs. Jingle 

Thakkar
Shankar Prasad 

Bhagat
Rohitbhai B. 

Thakkar
1. Independent Directors 

committee meetings
15,000 25,000 25,000 65,000

-- -- -- --
-- -- -- --

Total (1) 15,000 25,000 25,000 65,000
2. -- -- -- --

committee meetings

Total (2) -- -- -- --
Total (B)=(1+2) 15,000 25,000 25,000 65,000
Total Managerial Remuneration 

Overall Ceiling as per the Act 
calculated as per Section 198 of the Companies Act, 2013 i.e. ` 2,79,26,242/-

per Section 198 of the Companies Act, 2013 i.e. ` 25,39,399/-

( Amount in `)

Sr. 
no. Particulars of  Remuneration

Key Managerial Personnel

Total Amount
CEO

(Keyur M. Gajjar)
Company Secretary 
(Hasmukh K. Modi)

CFO
(Vipul S. Vora)

1. Gross salary 
(a) Salary as per provisions 
contained in section 17(1) of the 
Income-tax Act, 1961

57,59,099 17,89,799 39,65,758 1,15,14,656

Income-tax Act, 1961
-- -- -- --

section 17(3) Income-tax Act, 1961
-- -- -- --

2. Stock Option -- -- -- --
3. Sweat Equity -- -- -- --
4. Commission -- -- -- --

5. Others, please  specify -- -- -- --
Total 57,59,099 17,89,799 39,65,758 1,15,14,656
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Type 
Section of  the 
Companies Act Brief  Description 

Details of Penalty 

Compounding 
fees imposed 

Appeal  made, if 

A. COMPANY 
Penalty 
Punishment 
Compounding 

B. DIRECTORS 
Penalty 
Punishment
Compounding

C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT 
Penalty 
Punishment
Compounding
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW OF INDIAN ECONOMY

in 2020 from a fairly modest 6.7% in 2018. This would be 
supported by the continued recovery of investment and 
robust consumption amid a more expansionary stance of 

policy.

India is currently the world’s sixth-largest economy as per 

growing trillion-dollar economy globally, ahead of China. 
This acceleration reflects a rebound growth as economic 
activity continued to recover with strong domestic demand. 
While investment continued to strengthen amid the GST 
harmonisation and a rebound of credit growth, consumption 
remained the major contributor to growth. Foreign Direct 
Investment in the Indian real estate sector and the 
Government’s ‘Housing for All’ by 2022 initiative, coupled 
with development of 100 smart cities are some of the growth 
drivers for revival of the real estate and construction sector. 

According to the World Bank, India is in a period of 
unprecedented opportunity, challenge and ambition in its 

purchasing parity terms and it aspires to better the lives of 
all its citizens and will become a high-middle income country 
by 2030, well before the centenary of its independence.

India’s ability to achieve rapid, sustainable development will 

will be central to the world’s collective ambition of ending 
extreme poverty and promoting shared prosperity, as well 
as for achieving the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs).

OUTLOOK

FY 19-20 is likely to start on an uncertain note due to the 
after effects of the general elections in the country. Recent 
round of policy rate cuts announced by the Reserve Bank of 
India are expected to alleviate the tight credit conditions that 
have persisted since the second half of FY 18-19 and thus 
provide a boost to the industrial sector. The construction 
segment is expected to stay depressed with the money 
markets being tight and it is expected that the premium to 
luxury segments will see lower growth.

Going forward, factors such as higher oil prices, rupee 

impact and slow down the speed of growth. However, the 
strength of the economy lies in limited dependence on 
exports, high saving rates, favourable demographics and 

a rising middle class of young generation with a higher 
disposable income. 

(Source: World Economic Outlook report, World Bank, CNBC, 
Economic Times)

1. INDUSTRY STRUCTURE AND DEVELOPMENT

  The wood panel industry includes plywood sheets, 
engineered wood panels (MDF - Medium Density Fibre 
furniture board and particle board) and decorative 
surface products such as laminates. According to the 
World Bank, organised furniture industry is growing at 

183 Bn in 2018. This is driven by a healthy demand 
for wood panels, mainly for new housing construction 
(approximately 90% of the total demand) and the 
remaining (10%) from renovation activity. The revenue 
in the Furniture & Homeware segment may amount to 

a compounded annual growth rate (CAGR 2019-2023) 

by 2023. Online home décor market in India is projected 
to witness a CAGR of 50.42% in terms of revenue over 
the period of 2014-2019. The luxury furniture market is 

CAGR of 4.1% during the forecast period of 2015-2020.

  Furniture manufacturing is driven by the designs 
chosen, the inputs which come from in-house designers 
and market feedback. Manufacturers consider several 
aspects related to the customer (demography, lifestyle, 
motivation and aspiration, needs and preferences), raw 

production process complexity and delivery time) for 
developing different designs, which in turn, determine 
the furniture’s functionality, look & feel and value.

  Steady growth in the Indian economy and the 

influencers on demand generation in the Indian 
furniture industry. The three key drivers that had a 

 1. Changing consumer demographics 

 2. Real estate/housing boom 

 3. Tourism and hospitality industry growth

  The growth in the industry is highly correlated with 
the progression in the housing sector. The Central 
Government’s policy (Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana) to 
ensure ‘Housing for All by 2022’ will be able to boost 
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the revenue for the sector. The implementation of the 

speedy settlement of housing disputes and will amplify 
foreign and domestic investments due to increased 

and increase the sale of houses. In addition, the growth 
of retail, hospitality and healthcare sectors has raised 
the demand for the commercial real estate.

 (Source: Moneycontrol.com, Statista, IBEF)

MEDIUM DENSITY BOARD (MDF)

The market size of Indian MDF industry is nearly ̀  1,600 crore 

of 20%. The focus of the organised players towards MDF is 
increasing whereas the unorganised sector’s presence in it 
is almost negligible.

a high-end plywood and is moisture resistant like plywood. It 
is only 5-10% more expensive than the cheapest priced local 
plywood. At present, the MDF makes up around 6% of the 
Indian plywood and panel industry and is also the smallest 
segment. Globally, the MDF to plywood consumption ratio 
is 65:35. But in India, the same ratio is skewed in favour of 
the later at 10:90. This number indicates that there is huge 
scope for future growth of MDF in the country. Further, 
unlike plywood, MDF being capital-intensive business, the 
threat from unorganised sector is almost negligible in this 
segment.

lifestyle of the millennials and Gen Z geeks. It also serves 
the demand for readymade, branded and low-maintenance 

MDF has already replaced 4 mm plywood application 

and experiences moisture and termites. Hence it is being 
replaced by MDF as it is more resistant to moisture and 
termite. Further, HDHMR (High Density High Moisture 
Resistance) MDF is another growth area if the plywood 
producers don’t improve the thickness of 12 mm. This will 
also lead to replacement of 12 mm plywood by MDF soon.

6515

15
5

Domestic

Furniture parts
Hotel / Institutional

8-10 
years

` 18  
Bn

20% 100%

Sturdy Market Size CAGR Organized
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LAMINATE

The global market for laminates is currently pegged at ` 50,000 crore and is growing at 5-6% per annum.  The Indian laminates 
market is nearly estimated at ` 5,000 crore. The exports contribute around ` 1,000 crore, with the balance being met by domestic 
demand. The industry has traditionally remained largely unorganised, but the share of organised players has seen a gradual rise 
in recent years.

Decorative laminates are the specially-designed laminated sheets of brown Kraft papers and decorative printed papers fused 

and partitions, laminates are the perfect choice to lend an exclusive luxury look. 

Decorative laminates are of three types: high-pressure laminates (HPL), low pressure Laminates (LPL) and edge banding. 

HPL are relatively expensive, but they are extremely durable and have longer life as compared to LPL. HPL is apt for both, vertical 

plywood from possibly warping. It is available in variety of materials.

15-20 
years

` 50  
Bn

10% 55%

Sturdy Market Size CAGR Organized
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POLY VINYL CHLORIDE (PVC)

such as ‘Make in India’ offer indigenous manufacturers an inherent advantage in this market. The PVC can be used in interiors, 
ceilings, modular furniture, interior rear shelves and trims for trunks & spare wheels, and interior trims for vehicle doors. The 
recently commissioned PVC  plant not only provides revenue visibility but also indicates increasing focus on green and durable 
products which is in sync with the market trends and consumer preferences.

As per the Ply Reporter, PVC laminate market will touch 7.5 lakh sheets due to their growing demand of new design in kitchen 

90 degree bend properties. The 90 degree bend is achieved by making a grove on the back on the sheet hence it helps the kitchen 
makers to apply easily in their small-sized workshop, too.

(Source: Moneycontrol.com, Ply Reporter)

10-15 
years

` 10  
Bn

10.7% 30-40%

Sturdy Market Size CAGR Organized
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2. OPPORTUNITIES AND THREATS

 Opportunities:

Brand Image:
technology and infrastructure has helped building 
an incredible brand image. The Company’s premium 
brands such as ‘VIR Laminates’, ‘Signor’ and ‘VIR 
MDF’ are well-known in the market because they 
continuously live up to the brand image of the product, 
giving an aesthetic feel.

Wide Product Range: We offer the largest range of 
decorative surfacing products that suits the widest 
range of budgets, tastes and applications. With the 
focus on changing customer needs, we keep on 
innovating new designs and products. The Company 
has 1100+ designs and 120+  textures, which gives an 
upper hand over the competitors.

MDF Market Growth and Opportunity: As the MDF 
market is largely being untapped in India, there is a 
huge opportunity. The consumption of MDF is just 6% 
in comparison with plywood. Also, there is a huge scope 
for import substitution of demand up to 30-35%. MDF 

as it is 40-50% cheaper. Being a huge capital-intensive 
product, there are no unorganised players, making it a 
100% organised segment.

 The Government policies play 
an important role in growth and development of the 
overall economy. The Goods and Service Tax (GST) has 
reduced the price difference between the organised 
and unorganised sector, giving boost to the organised 

housing matters and will magnify foreign and domestic 
investments due to increased transparency.

Housing Demand: The Pradhan Mantri Awas Yojana 
aims to build 60 million new houses by 2022 of which 
20 million will be in urban centres. Also, according to 
the World Bank report, by 2030, the world will need at 
least 300 million new housing units and large-scale 
investments. This will upturn the demand for furniture.

Also, the growing scope of tourism, retail evolution, 
increasing consumption, ascendant middle class indicate 
potential growth in this segment. To sum it up, the furniture 
market in India is growing on strong fundamentals, with 
demand drivers likely to sustain over the medium term. 

At the same time, the supply side is also encouraging, as 
India has enough availability of key raw materials that are 
used as inputs for furniture making.

 Threats:

High Competition: The intense competition from 
unorganised, organised and foreign manufacturers 

and further penetrate in the market.

Raw Material: The growing population, uncertain 
monsoons and rapid industrialization are major factors 
that have resulted in deforestation, which, in turn, has 
led to possibility of low availability of raw materials. 
Increasing raw material prices and high competition 

margins.

Manpower:

irrespective of brand or size of the Company.

New Entrants: With the entry of more and more 
organised players in the market, it has increased the 
competition in organised sector as well.

operating performance for 2018-19. This was the 
result of effective planning, use of appropriate market 

reasonable price. Also, through various marketing 
strategies, we were able to increase the sales. The 
total revenue of laminate segment was ` 182.93 crore 
in 2018-19 as compared to ` 181.33 crore in 2017-

segment is ` 19.40 crore in 2018-19 as against ` 21.84 
crore in 2017-18 showing a decline of ` 2.44 crore.

 Medium Density Fibre Board (MDF):

  The Company’s performance was satisfactory in MDF 
segment in 2018-19. The total revenue from MDF was 
marginally lower from ` 172.52 crore in 2017-18 to 
`

Taxes was ` 16.33 crore in 2018-19 as compared to ` 
32.67 crore  in 2017-18 showing a decline of ` 16.34 
crore due to overcapacity in the MDF segment. 

Management Discussion and Analysis (Contd.)
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4. OUTLOOK FOR FY 19-20

achieve higher penetration

unorganised players

products

promote products

5. RISK AND CONCERN

  The Company’s ability to foresee and manage business 
risks is crucial in achieving favourable results. Risk 
management at RDL is an integral part of the business, 
focusing to mitigate the adverse impact of risks on 
business objectives. The Company has laid down a 

risk mitigation process. The Board periodically reviews 
the risks and suggests steps to be taken to control 

framework.

6. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS AND THEIR ADEQUECY

adopted for operating procedures, policies and process 
guidelines. The guidelines are well-documented with 

level of responsibility for each functional area. Further, 
the Company has budgetary control system to monitor 
expenditure against approved budgets on an ongoing 
basis. The Company’s robust internal audit programme 
which works to conduct a risk-based audit not only tests 
the adherence to laid down policies and procedures but 
also suggests improvements in the current processes 
and systems.

7.  DISCUSSION ON FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE WITH 
RESPECT TO OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE

 
FY 18-19 as compared to FY 17-18 is as under:

(` in crore)

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18

% of 

Decrease

Gross Revenue from 
Operations

343.74 350.98 (2.06)

22.92 42.96 (46.65)

14.34 30.92 (53.62)

 Operational Performance 

The Company continued to focus on improving 

enhanced its operational performance by establishing 
prudent risk management framework. 

INDUSRIAL RELATIONSHIP FRONT MANAGEMENT  
INCLUDING NUMBER OF PEPOLE EMPLOYED

Human resource practices and policies at RDL ensure 
that all employees, wherever they work, whatever their 

We maintain consistent and transparent diversity policies. 

Our human resource team believes in personnel 
management, which involves planning, organising, 
directing and controlling of the recruitment and resource 
management, training & development, compensation, 
integration and maintenance of people for the purpose of 
contributing to organizational, individual and social goals. 

People power is one of the pillars of success at RDL 
and hence any creative suggestions by the employees 
are always welcomed by the Management. As on 31st 
March, 2019 the Company employs 400+ employees. 
Going ahead, the Company aims to retain and develop the 
existing employees and align their goals with the common 
business vision and mission.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Contd.)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Contd.)

9. THE DETAILS OF SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

compared to the previous year along with the detailed explanation is summarized below:

Sr. 
No.

Key Financial 
Ratios F.Y. 2018-19  F.Y. 2017-18 Changes in % Reasons for change

1. Interest Coverage 
Ratio (in times)

3.24 7.18 (54.71)% Due to bifurcation of interest cost 

and loss account and interest 
income as shown in other income. 
Hence, the netting off of interest is 
not done.

 2.
(in times)

1.19 0.59 101.69% Due to increase in Debt by ̀  147.34 
crore for new MDF plant located at 
Atchutapuram, Vishakhapatnam, 
Andhra Pradesh. Further, the 
commercial production of said 
plant is yet to be commenced.

3. Operating Margin 
(in %)

10.37 14.93 (30.54)%
segment and loss in PVC segment.

4.
(in %) 

4.07 8.93 (54.42)%
segment and loss in PVC segment.

10.  The Return on Net Worth during the FY 18-19 was 7% as compared to 18% in FY 17-18. The reduction of 61.11% in the 

11. CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

  Statements made in the Management Discussion and Analysis describing the various parts may be `forward looking 
statement’ within the meaning of application securities laws and regulations. The actual result may differ from those 
expectations depending upon the economic conditions, changes in the Government regulation and amendments in tax laws 
and other internal and external factors.
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1. COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF GOVERNANCE:

  “Corporate Governance” in its literal sense means 
management of the organisation as a whole. Corporate 
Governance is about to keep great association with 
stakeholders, creation and support of trust with people 
associated with group be it shareholders, regulators, 

that corporate governance means commitment for the 
achievement of value based growth and meeting the 

compromising with ethical standard and set of paradigms. 
The Company is focused on straight forwardness in every 
one of its dealings and spots emphasis on respectability 
and administrative consistence. Your company has been 
improving in Corporate Governance since the foundation 
of the Company. Satisfactory and convenient information 
is basic to responsibility.

  The Board of Directors (‘the Board’) are responsible for and 
committed to sound principles of Corporate Governance 
in the Company. There is a separation of the role of 

practice that has been in place for more than a decade 
in the Company. With the focus on the core corporate 
governance principles of accountability, transparency 
and integrity and adoption of suitable global, local and 
industry best practices, Your Company is moving ahead 
in its pursuit of excellence in corporate governance.

  Your company’s philosophy on Corporate Governance 
is embedded in its rich legacy of ethical governance 
practices, most of which were implemented before they 
were mandatorily prescribed. The Company operates 
within accepted standards of propriety, fair play, 
justice and aims at creating a culture of openness in 
relationships between itself and its stakeholders. Your 
Company ensures transparency in all its dealings and 
in the functioning of the management and the Board. 
It has set up a system which enables all its employees 
to voice their concerns openly and without any fear 

Company are intended to reinforce the capacity of the 
Board of Directors to oversee the administration and to 
upgrade long haul shareholder esteem.

2. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

  The Board of your company has an optimum 

and Woman Directors with conformity of Regulation 

as “Listing Regulations”) as well as the companies Act, 
2013 read with rules framed thereunder, to maintain the 
independence of board and separate its functions of 
management and governance in transparent manner. 

  None of the Directors on the Board is a member of 
more than ten Committees or Chairman of more than 

and Stakeholders Relationship Committee as per 
Regulation 26(1) of the Listing Regulations) across all 
the Public Companies in which he/she is a Director. 
The necessary disclosures regarding their Committee 
positions have been made by all the Directors.

 (a) Composition and Category of Directors:

   The composition of the Board of Directors of the 
Company as on 31st March, 2019 is as follows:

Sr.  
No.

Name of the Director Category

1. Mr. Ghanshyambhai 
A. Thakkar

2. Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar Promoter (Managing 

Director) 
3. Mr. Ramanik T. 

Kansagara**
Additional Director 

4. Mr. Shankar Prasad 
Bhagat

Independent Non-

5. Mr. Rohit B. Thakkar Independent Non-

6. Mrs. Jingle Thakkar Independent Non-

Woman Director

** Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara was appointed as 

meeting held on 02nd Day of February, 2019. His 
appointment will be considered at the ensuring 
Annual General Meeting and he will be liable to retire 
by rotation. His particulars and other details are 
mentioned in the Directors’ Report and in the Notice 
convening the Annual General Meeting and therefore 
are not mentioned separately in this Report.

As per the declarations received from the Directors, 

164 of the Companies Act, 2013. During the year 

Director, of the Company has resigned from the 
Board w.e.f. 02nd Day of February, 2019.
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 (b)  Details of attendance of each Director at Board Meetings and at the last year’s Annual General Meeting is as follows: 

The attendance by the board of directors at the board meetings and at the last Annual General Meeting is as follows:

Sr.  
No. Name of the Director

No. of Board meetings attended 
Attendance at   last  AGM Held Attended

1 Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar 5 5 Yes
2 Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar 5 5 Yes
3 Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar * 5 4 Yes
4 Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara* 5 1 No
5 Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat 5 5 Yes
6 Mr. Rohit B. Thakkar 5 5 No
7 Mrs. Jingle Thakkar 5 3 Yes

(*) Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar had resigned from the Directorship w.e.f 02nd Day of February, 2019 and Mr. Ramanik 

February, 2019.

 (c)  The number of other boards or committee in which director is a chairman or member including names of the listed 
companies where the directors are holding directorship with category of directorship as on 31.03.2019 is as follow:

Sr.  
No.

Name of the Director Category of 
Directorship 

in other Listed 
Companies

Directorship in   Listed 
Company other than this 

Company

Number of Committee 
position held in other 

Public Companies

Name of listed 
company 

other than this 
Company

As 
Chairman

As Board 
Member

As 
Chairman

As 
Committee 

Member
1 Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. 

Thakkar
NA NIL NIL --- --- NA

2 Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar NA NIL NIL --- --- NA
3 Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar * NA NIL NIL --- --- NA
4 Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara* NA NIL NIL -- --- NA
5 Mr. Shankar Prasad 

Bhagat
Independent 

Director
-- 2 1 2 1)  Amrapali 

Capital And 
Finance 
Services 
Limited;

2)  Minal 
Industries 
Limited

6 Mr. Rohit B. Thakkar NA NIL NIL -- -- NA
7 Mrs. Jingle Thakkar NA NIL NIL -- -- NA

Other Directorships do not include all other Companies i.e. Directorships of private limited companies, foreign 
companies and companies under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”). For the purpose of determination of 
limit of the Board Committees, Chairmanship and Membership of the Audit Committee and Stakeholders’ Relationship 
Committee has been considered as per Regulation 26(1)(b) of the Listing Regulations.

* Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar has resigned from the directorship w.e.f. 02.02.2019 and Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara was 
appointed as an additional director in the Company w.e.f. 02.02.2019.

(d) Number of board meetings and dates on which held

than 120 days. 
02.02.2019.
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(e) Disclosure of Relationship between Directors Inter-se:

  Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar is father of Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar and none of the other Directors is having inter-se 
relationship.

(g)  Familiarisation Programme and Web link where details of familiarisation programmes imparted to independent directors 
is disclosed:

  In Compliance with Regulations 25(7) of the Listing Regulations, your Company has put the structure of familiarisation 
Programme for all its Independent Directors, to inform about a brief background of the Company, their roles, rights, 
responsibilities in the Company, nature of the industry in which the Company operates, business model, operations of the 
Company, etc. Periodic presentations are made to the Board on business and performance of the Company.

  The details of such familiarisation programmes for Independent Directors of the Company are posted on the website of 
the Company and it can be access by this link https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Familiarisation_Programs_for_
Independent_Directors.pdf.

in the context of the Company’s business for effective functioning as given below:

 
of  

Industry

 
of company  

business

 
management   

and  
delegation

Business  
Strategies 

Finance and  
Accounting

Stakeholder  
Relationship

Policy  
Development

Visionary 
 Leadership

https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Familiarization_Programs_for_Independent_Directors.pdf
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that they are Independent of the management.

(j) Code of Conduct:

 Your Company has framed Code of Conduct for board 
of directors which includes Code of Conduct for 
Independent Directors which suitably incorporates 
the duties of independent directors as laid down in the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) as well as listing regulations 
and senior management to provide guidance and help 
in recognising and dealing with ethical issues, provide 
mechanisms to report unethical conduct, and to help 
promote a culture of honesty.

 In respect of Financial Year 2018-19, all Board members 
and Senior Management Personnel of the Company 

mentioned at the end of Corporate Governance Report.

(k) Information supplied to the Board of Directors:

 The dates of Board and Committee Meetings were 
communicated to the Directors and Committee 
members respectively well in advance in compliance 
with various provision of the law. Members were given 
agenda in details along with necessary documents and 
information in advance of each meeting of the Board 
and Committee(s) by e-mail as well as in meeting itself 
also except price sensitive information which was 
available in meeting only.

 The Board periodically reviews compliance reports 
with respect to laws and regulations applicable to 
the Company. The Board has available complete 
information as enumerated in Part A of Schedule II of 
the Listing Regulations as well as other information as 

matter for consideration of the Board, in consultation 
with the Chairman. The Meetings of the Board and 

Company.

(l) Independent Directors:

 In compliance with the provisions of section 149, 152, 
Schedule IV and other applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with rules framed thereunder 
and the Listing Regulations, Mr. Shankar Prasad 
Bhagat, Mr. Rohit B. Thakkar and Mrs. Jingle Thakkar 
are Independent Directors of the Company and they are 
not liable to retire by rotation.

under Section 149 (7) of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with the Listing Regulations.

that they are not crossing limit of Chairmanship 
or membership holding in Audit Committee and 
Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee of other 
Companies as mentioned in Regulation 26 (1) of the 
Listing Regulations.

 None of the Independent Directors of your Company 
serve as Independent Directors in more than 7 listed 
entities and in case they are whole-time directors or 
managing director in any listed entity, then he/she 
does not serve as an Independent Director in more than 
3 listed entities as per Regulation 17A of the Listing 
Regulations.

(m) Formal letter of appointment to the Independent 
Directors:

 The Company has issued formal letter of appointment 
to all the Independent Directors on their appointment 
explaining inter-alia, their roles, responsibilities, code 
of conduct, functions and duties as directors of the 
Company. The terms and conditions of appointment of 
independent directors have been hosted on the website 
of the Company and can be accessed at https://www.
rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Terms-and-conditions-
for-appointment-of-Independent-Director.pdf

(n)  Separate Meeting of Independent Directors:

 Pursuant to provision of Schedule IV of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Regulation 25 (3) of the Listing 
Regulations, a separate meeting of Independent 
Directors was held on 11.08.2018 inter alia, for the 
following purposes:

 a.  review of the performance of non-independent 
directors and the board as a whole;

 b.  review of the performance of the chairperson  Mr. 
Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar by taking into account 
the views of all the executive directors and non-
executive directors;

timeliness of flow of information between the 
Company management and the board of director 
that is necessary for the board to effectively and 
reasonably perform their duties;

https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Terms-and-conditions-for-appointment-of-Independent-Director.pdf
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 All the Independent Directors were present in the 
meeting held on 11th Day of August, 2018.

 Your Company has not paid any fees / compensation 
to independent directors except sitting fees within limit 

Rules framed there under for board meeting attended 
by them. There was no pecuniary relationship or 
transactions of Non-executive directors vis-à-vis the 
Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

In Compliance with the various provision of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Rules framed thereunder, the Listing 
Regulations and other applicable law, your Company has 
constituted, (1) Audit Committee (2) Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee (3) Stakeholders Relationship 
Committee (4) Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 

The minutes of Committee meetings are tabled at the next 
Board meetings for their review, consideration, noting 
and doing needful. The minutes of the proceedings of the 
Committee Meetings are captured in the same manner as 
the Board Meetings and in accordance with the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules framed thereunder 
and as per Secretarial Standard - 1.

3. AUDIT COMMITTEE

 (a) Brief description of terms of references:

and independent Audit Committee in line with 
provisions of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with rules framed thereunder and 
Regulation 18 of the Listing Regulations. As on 
31st March, 2019, Audit Committee comprises four 

Mr. Hasmukh K. Modi, Company Secretary acts as 
a secretary to the Audit Committee.

  Role and Term of reference:

   The Role and terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee are in compliance with the provision 
of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with the Rules framed there under and Listing 
Regulations.

   The brief description of role and terms of reference 
of Audit Committee is as under:

 2. recommendation for appointment, remuneration 
and terms of appointment of auditors of Company;

 3. approval of payment to statutory auditors for any 
other services rendered by the statutory auditors;

 4. reviewing, with the management, the annual 

before submission to the board for approval, with 
particular reference to:

director’s responsibility statement to be 
included in the board’s report in terms of 
clause (c) of sub-section (3) of Section 134 
of the Companies Act, 2013;

  b) changes, if any, in accounting policies and 
practices and reasons for the same;

  c) major accounting entries involving estimates 
based on the exercise of judgment by 
management;

  e) compliance with listing and other legal 

  f) disclosure of any related party transactions;

board for approval;

 6.  reviewing, with the management, the statement 
of uses / application of funds raised through an 
issue (public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, 
etc.), the statement of funds utilised for purposes 
other than those stated in the offer document / 
prospectus / notice and the report submitted by 
the monitoring agency monitoring the utilisation 
of proceeds of a public or rights issue, and making 
appropriate recommendations to the board to take 
up steps in this matter;

 7.  reviewing and monitoring the auditor’s 
independence and performance, and effectiveness 
of audit process;
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transactions of the listed entity with related 
parties;

 9. scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

 10. valuation of undertakings or assets of the listed 
entity, wherever it is necessary;

management systems;

 12. reviewing, with the management, performance of 

internal control systems;

if any, including the structure of the internal audit 

heading the department, reporting structure 

by the internal auditors into matters where there 
is suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of 
internal control systems of a material nature and 
reporting the matter to the board;

 16. discussion with statutory auditors before the audit 
commences, about the nature and scope of audit 
as well as post-audit discussion to ascertain any 
area of concern;

 17. to look into the reasons for substantial defaults in 
the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, 
shareholders (in case of non-payment of declared 
dividends) and creditors;

 18. to review the functioning of the whistle blower 
mechanism;

background, etc. of the candidate;

 20. The audit committee is mandatorily reviewing the 
following information:

  1) management discussion and analysis of 

committee), submitted by management;

  3) management letters / letters of internal 
control weaknesses issued by the statutory 
auditors;

  4) internal audit reports relating to internal 
control weaknesses;

  5) the appointment, removal and terms of 
remuneration of the chief internal auditor 
shall be subject to review by the audit 
committee.

  6) statement of deviations:

including report of monitoring agency, 
if applicable, submitted to stock 
exchange(s) in terms of Regulation 
32(1);

   b.  annual statement of funds utilised for 
purposes other than those stated in the 
offer document/prospectus/notice in 
terms of Regulation 32(7).

 21.  Carrying out any other function as may be 

Committee.

 22.  Carrying out any other function as may be referred 
to the Committee by the Board.

 (b)  The details about the composition of the 

attendance at the meetings are as under:

   The Audit Committee met 4 (four) times during 
the Financial Year 2018-19 and the time gap 
between two meetings is not more than 120 days. 
The Meetings were held on (i) 19.05.2018 (ii) 
11.08.2018 (iii) 03.11.2018 and (iv) 02.02.2019.
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Name of the Director Designation Nature of Directorship Audit Committee Meeting details
Held Attended 

Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat Chairman 4 4
Mrs. Jingle Thakkar Member 4 3
Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar** Member 4 3
Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara** Member -- --
Mr. Rohit B. Thakkar Member 4 4

   (**) Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar had resigned from the Directorship and also resigned/ vacated from the audit committee 
membership w.e.f 02nd Day of February, 2019. Further, Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara was appointed as a member of the 
audit committee in the board meeting held on 02.02.2019.

practices. Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat, Chairman of the Audit Committee is a Chartered Accountant and he was present 

the Statutory Auditors regularly attend the meeting of the Audit Committee as permanent invitees. Other invitees are 
invited on need basis to brief the Audit Committee on important matters.

4. NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE:

 (a) Brief description of terms of reference:

and Remuneration Committee as per the 

Act, 2013 read with Rules framed thereunder and 
Regulation 19 of the Listing Regulations.

  The Nomination and Remuneration Committee, as 
on 31st March, 2019, comprises 4 (Four) directors 

Independent Director and one is Chairman of 
the Company. Mr. Hasmukh K. Modi, Company 
Secretary acts as a secretary of the Committee.

  Terms of reference

  The terms of reference of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee inter alia, includes the 
following:

  1.  To formulate and review the criteria for 

and independence of a director;

  2. To recommend to the Board of directors a 
policy relating to the remuneration of the 
directors, key managerial personnel and 
other employees and to ensure compliance 
with the remuneration policy set forth by the 
Company;

  3. To formulate criteria for evaluation of 
performance of Independent Directors and 
the Board of Directors;

  4. To devise a policy on Board diversity;

  5. To report on the systems and on the amount 
of the annual remuneration of directors and 
senior management;

become directors and who may be appointed 
in senior management in accordance with 
the criteria laid down, and recommend to 
the board of directors their appointment and 
removal;

  7. To recommend to the board, all remuneration, 
in whatever form, payable to senior 
management;

  8. To decide whether to extend or continue 
the term of appointment of the independent 
director, on the basis of the report of 
performance evaluation of independent 
directors and recommend to the board;

  9. To specify the manner for effective evaluation 
of performance of Board, its committees 
and individual directors and review its 
implementation and compliance;

  10. To carry out such other works as may be 

the framework of Listing Regulations and 
Companies Act, 2013, as amended from time 
to time.
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are as under:

   The Nomination and Remuneration Committee met 2 (two) time during the Financial Year 2018-19. The Meetings were 
held on 19.05.2018 and 02.02.2019.

   Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat, Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee was present at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company held on 22nd day of September, 2018.

   The details of the composition of the Committee, Name of chairperson & Members and attendance at the meetings 

Name of the Director Designation Nature of Directorship Meeting details
Held Attended

Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat Chairman 2 2
Mrs. Jingle Thakkar Member 2 2
Mr. Rohit B. Thakkar Member 2 2
Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. 
Thakkar

Member Whole Time director & Chairman of the 
Company 

2 2

Directors:

  As per the Nomination and Remuneration Policy 
of the Company, the performance evaluation of 
independent directors is carried out on the basis 
of prescribed criteria including participation 
and contribution by a director in the meeting, 
commitment, effective deployment of knowledge 
and expertise, effective management of 
relationship with stakeholders, integrity and 

Conduct and Independence, willingness to 

responsibilities effectively including attendance 
at meetings, act in the best interest of minority 
shareholders of the Company etc.

 (d)  Nomination and Remuneration Policy of the 
Company

  The Nomination and Remuneration Policy 
formulated and recommended by the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee is duly approved 
by the Board of Directors of the Company. The 
Nomination and Remuneration committee 
has formulated the criteria for appointment 
and remuneration including determination of 

of Directors and other matters as provided under 
sub-section (3) of Section 178 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with Part D of Listing Regulations. 
The remuneration paid to the Directors is as 
per the terms laid out in the Nomination and 
Remuneration Policy of your Company.

  The Nomination and Remuneration policy is 
applicable to all the directors, Key managerial 
Personnel and Senior Management Personnel of 
the Company.

  The Policy provides guidance on:

  (1)   Selection and Nomination of Directors to the 
Board of the Company;

  (2)    Appointment of the Senior Management 
Personnel of the Company; and

  (3)   Remuneration of Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and senior management 
personnel.

  The said policy is available on the website 

rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Remuneration-
Policy-of-RDL.pdf

5. REMUNERATION TO DIRECTORS

 (a)  Pecuniary relationship or transactions with Non-

  There was no any pecuniary relationship or 
transactions with Non-executive director’s vis-à-
vis the Company.

directors:

  Criteria for making payment to non-executive 
director is available on the website of Company 
under the web link https://www.rushil.com/
CodesPoliciesPdf/criteria-of-making-payments-
to-non-executive-directors.pdf

https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Remuneration-Policy-of-RDL.pdf
https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/criteria-of-making-payments-to-non-executive-directors.pdf
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(c)  Disclosure with Respect to Remuneration

(Amount in `)
Name Salary, Perquisites 

and  Allowances 
Sitting Fess Total

Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar 1,05,69,278/- -- 1,05,69,278/-
Mr. Krupeshbhai G. Thakkar 1,05,58,679/- -- 1,05,58,679/-
Mr. Kaushikbhai J. Thakkar** 4,79,784/- -- 4,79,784/-
Mr. Ramanik T. Kansagara** 3,06,118/- -- 3,06,118/-
Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat -- 25,000/- 25,000/-
Mr. Rohitbhai Bhailalbhai Thakkar -- 25,000/- 25,000/-
Mrs. Jingle Thakkar -- 15,000/- 15,000/-

Kansagara was from 02.02.2019 to 31.03.2019.
  Your Company is not paying anything to non-executive director except sitting fees for board meeting attended by them.

incentives.

Moreover, there is no separate provision for payment of severance fees to the Directors.

6. STAKEHOLDERS RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE:

 In compliance with provisions of section 178(5) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rules framed thereunder and 

grievances of the security holders of the Company, including complaints related to transfer of shares, non-receipt of Annual 
Report, non-receipt of declared dividends, etc

 (a) Name of the Director heading the Committee:

Name of the Director Designation Nature of Directorship
Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat Chairman
Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Member Whole Time director & Chairman
Mr. Krupeshbhai G. Thakkar Member Managing Director  

laws and the Listing Regulations.

pending complaints:

   During the Financial Year 2018-19, Company did not receive any complaint from any shareholder of the Company. 
There is no complaint pending at the end of the Financial Year.

OTHER BOARD COMMITTEES

  The Board has constituted following other Board committees besides the committees mentioned above:

 1. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

Composition and Meeting

    Company has constituted Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Committee, in compliance with the provision of 
section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rules framed thereunder.
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   The CSR Committee met 1 (One) time during the Financial Year 2018-19 on 10.08.2018.

    The composition of the CSR Committee as on 31st March, 2019 and the details of members’ participation at the 
respective meeting of the Committee are as under:

Name of the Director Designation Nature of Directorship No. of Meetings
Held Attended

Mr. Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar Chairman Whole Time Director & Chairman 1 1
Mr. Krupeshbhai G. Thakkar Member Managing Director 1 1
Mr. Shankar Prasad Bhagat Member 1 1

Terms of reference

The terms of reference of the CSR Committee are as under:

-   Formulate and recommend to the Board, a Corporate Social Responsibility Policy which shall indicate the 

-  Recommend the amount of expenditure to be incurred on the activities referred to in above clause;

-  Monitor the Corporate Social Responsibility Policy of the Company from time to time.

-   Adhere to Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013 & Companies (Corporate Social Responsibility Policy) 

in force) and;

-  All other activities as informed or delegated by the Board of Directors from time to time

7. GENERAL BODY MEETINGS:

 (a)  Location and time of last three Annual General Meetings (AGMs) were held and special resolutions passed in the 

Financial year ended
AGM

Time Location No. of Special Resolution 
passed

31.03.2018 Saturday, 
22.09.2018

11:30 AM
of the Company at S. No. 
125, Nr. Kalyanpura Patia, 
Village Itla, Gandhinagar 
Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol, 

Dist. Gandhinagar-382845, 
Gujarat, India

--

31.03.2017 Saturday, 
23.09.2017

03.00 PM 2 (Two)

(See Note:1)
31.03.2016 Tuesday, 

27.09.2016
03.00 PM 1 (One)

(See Note:2)

  Note:1: In the Annual General Meeting held on 23.09.2017, 2 (Two) Special Resolutions were passed as follow:

Company for a term of 5 (Five) years;

  2.  Increase in Borrowing limits up to ` 600 Crores (Rupees Six Hundred Crores Only) under Section 180(1)(c) of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

  Note:2: In the Annual General Meeting held on 27.09.2016, 1 (One) Special Resolution was passed as follow:

  Re-appointment of Mr. Rohitbhai B. Thakkar as an Independent Director of the Company for a term of 5 (Five) years;

   Date of Postal Ballot Notice:  07th March, 2018      Voting Period:  15th March, 2018 to 13th April, 2018

   Date of Declaration of Result:  14th April, 2018
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   Date of Postal Ballot Notice:  29th May, 2018         Voting Period:  06th June, 2018 to 05th July, 2018

   Date of Declaration of Result:  06th July, 2018

Sr.
No.

Particulars

1
Promoters

99.9998 0.0002

2 To sell, lease or otherwise dispose off the whole or 
substantially whole of the undertaking of the Company as per 
provision of section 180(1)(A) of the Companies Act, 2013

97.6654 2.3346

 (c) Person who conducted the Postal Ballot exercise

   Mrs. Mihika S. Jain, practicing company Secretary, was appointed as scrutiniser for carrying out the postal ballot process in 
a fair and transparent manner.

 (d) Whether any special resolution is proposed to be conducted through postal ballot:

  No Special Resolution is proposed to be conducted through postal ballot as on the date of this report.

 (e) Procedure for Postal Ballot:

   In compliance with Sections 108, 110 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules framed 

provided electronic voting (e-voting) facility in addition to physical ballot to all its members. For this purpose, the Company 
engaged the services of Central Depository Services Limited (CDSL).

same notice was sent by email to members who have registered their email id with company/registrar. The Company also 

   Voting rights were reckoned on the paid-up value of the shares registered in the names of the members as on the cut-

completed and signed, to the scrutiniser on or before the close of the voting period. Those using the e-voting option were 

forms or e-voting was considered as the date on which the resolution deemed have been passed.

   The scrutiniser completed her scrutiny and submitted her report to the Chairman and the consolidated results of the voting 
www.rushil.

com

Sr.
No.

Particulars

1
Promoters

100.00 NIL

2 To raise further capital through various other modes 100.00 NIL

https://www.rushil.com/
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8. MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

(a) Quarterly results
the Company’s website.

(b) Newspapers wherein results normally 
published

The Quarterly, Half Yearly Financial Results are generally published 

(c) Company’s website, where displayed The separate section named “INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP” in the 
Company’s website www.rushil.com
in respect of interest of various stakeholders. The Annual Report for 

Results of the Company is also available therein.

(d)
releases; institutional investors and analysts, if any are also available on the 

Company’s website.
(e) The presentations made to institutional 

9. GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

(a) AGM: Date, Time and Venue
of the Company at S. No. 125, Nr. Kalyanpura Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar 
Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol, Dist. Gandhinagar – 382845, Gujarat, India.

(b)

 

Financial Year

schedule:

Particulars :

Quarterly Unaudited Results

Quarter ending 30th  June, 2019 : On 23rd July, 2019

Quarter ending 30th  September, 2019 : On or before 14th  November, 
2019

Quarter ending 31st December, 2019 : On or before 14th  February, 
2020

Fourth Quarter and Annual ending on 31st 
March, 2020

: On or before 30th  May, 2020

Date of Book Closure From Saturday, 14th day of September, 2019 to Saturday, 21st day of   September, 
2019 (both days inclusive)

Friday, 13th day of September, 2019

(c) Your Board has recommended a Final Dividend of `
shares of face value of ` 10/-. This is subject to approval by shareholders at the 
ensuing Annual General Meeting.

ended 31st March, 2019, when approved at the Annual General Meeting, will be 
paid after the date of ensuing AGM but within the statutory time limit of 30 days 
from the date of declaration in the AGM.

https://www.rushil.com/
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to `

transferred was on account of dividend unclaimed for seven consecutive years 

Shares transferred to IEPF
shares transferred were on account of dividend unclaimed for seven consecutive 
years.

(d) Name and address of stock 
exchanges at which the 

details of annual listing fee paid

 Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers, Dalal Street, 
Mumbai-400 001 and

CDSL

(e)

   
under:

  

Month BSE Limited (in `) National Stock Exchange of India Limited (in `)

High Low High Low

April-18 837.35 765.00 852.95 768.00

May-18 786.70 605.00 790.00 605.00

June-18 718.55 609.20 714.00 601.10

July-18 686.00 575.00 685.00 580.00

August-18 724.90 614.05 725.35 588.00

September-18 725.00 605.45 727.95 606.05

October-18 630.70 539.95 621.45 534.00

November-18 577.85 528.00 576.95 523.30

December-18 670.40 515.05 670.00 511.00

January-19 666.00 460.00 659.90 453.05

February-19 520.00 390.00 519.90 382.30

March-19 573.20 430.50 575.00 420.00
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 (g) Performance in comparison to board-based indices such as BSE Sensex:

ended 31st March, 2019 are as under:

Month Bombay Stock Exchange (in `) BSE SENSEX

High Low High Low

April-18 837.35 765.00 35213.3 32972.56

May-18 786.70 605.00 35993.53 34302.89

June-18 718.55 609.20 35877.41 34784.68

July-18 686.00 575.00 37644.59 35106.57

August-18 724.90 614.05 38989.65 37128.99

September-18 725.00 605.45 38934.35 35985.63

October-18 630.70 539.95 36616.64 33291.58

November-18 577.85 528.00 36389.22 34303.38

December-18 670.40 515.05 36554.99 34426.29

January-19 666.00 460.00 36701.03 35375.51

February-19 520.00 390.00 37172.18 35287.16

March-19 573.20 430.50 38748.54 35926.94

 (h)  In case the securities are suspended from trading, the Directors Report shall explain the reason thereof:   Not Applicable 

 (i) Registrar to an issue and share transfer agents:

  Share Registrar and Transfer Agent    : 

              Address:1st Floor, Bharat Tin Works Building, 

              Opp. Vasant Oasis, Makwana Road,

              Maharashtra, 400059

              Tel No.: 022- 62638200

              Email: investor@bigshareonline.com

              Website: www.bigshareonline.com

 (j) Share Transfer System:

is system that Share transfers / transmission, if any, is taken up for approval and the transferred security is to be 
dispatched to the transferees within the stipulated time. Detail of transfers / transmission approved by the delegates 
is to be taken for noting by the Shareholders Relationship Committee at its next meeting.
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 (k) Distribution of Shareholding as on 31st March, 2019:

  The distribution of shareholding of the Company as on 31st March, 2019 was as follows:

  (i) By size of shareholding:

No. of Shares No. of Shareholders % of Total 
Shareholders

No. of Shares % of Shareholding

01 to 5000 2944 97.39% 383125 2.57%
5001 to 10000 19 0.63% 145827 0.98%
10001 to 20000 11 0.36% 153809 1.03%
20001 to 30000 5 0.17% 119248 0.80%
30001 to 40000 2 0.07% 73441 0.49%
40001 to 50000 4 0.13% 188265 1.26%
50001 & 100000 13 0.43% 911720 6.11%
100001 & above 25 0.82% 12955897 86.76%
Total 3023 100.00 14931332 100.00

  (ii) Pattern of Shareholding :

Sr. 
No.

Category No. of Shares % of total No. of 
shares

1 Promoters and Promoter Group 7891684 52.85
2 Public Shareholding:

-Financial Institutions / Banks 3792 0.03
-Foreign Institutional Investors (FII) 121621 0.81
-Foreign Portfolio Investors 1785490 11.96
-NBFCs registered with RBI 120 0.00
- Central Government/ State Government(s)/ President of 34 0.00

-Bodies Corporate 2996108 20.07
-Individuals – i. Holding nominal share capital upto ` 2 lakh 428471 2.87
- Individuals – ii. Holding nominal share capital in excess of 
` 2 lakh

703275 4.70

-Clearing Member 324843 2.18
-Non Resident Indians 358434 2.40
-Other (i.e M/s Family fund , a Partnership Firm) 317460 2.13
Total 14931332 100

  (l) Dematerialisation of shares and Liquidity:

    
connectivity with National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) Limited 
(CDSL) through its Registrars & Share Transfer Agents Bigshare Services Private Limited.

   Break up of shares in physical and demat form as on 31st March, 2019:

Sr. 
No.

Particulars No. of Shares % of Shares

1 Demat Segment:

NSDL 12415711 83.15

CDSL 2515616 16.85

2. Physical: 5 0

Total: 14931332 100.00
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NIL

outstanding of foreign currency exposures to mitigate the foreign currency risk. 

currency exposure has a natural hedge. Thus, Company is reducing the majority of foreign exchange risk by proper 
planning.

Company has not any direct impact of Commodity price movement like major fluctuation of crude prices. However, it 
has an indirect impact on the Company since some of our chemical consumption is connected with crude prices and 

 (o) Plant Locations:

Sr 
No.

Unit Address

1 608, GIDC Mansa, Dist. Gandhinagar, Gujarat, India.
2 At Dholakuva Patia, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Mansa, Dist. Gandhinagar, Gujarat, India.
3 S. No. 125, Nr. Kalyanpura Patia, Village. Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol, Dist. 

Gandhinagar, Gujarat, India

Sr 
No.

Unit Address

1.
Karnataka, India.

 (p) Address for correspondence:

1st Floor, Bharat Tin Works Building, 
Opp. Vasant Oasis, Makwana Road,

Maharashtra, India
Tel No.: 022- 62638200

investor@bigshareonline.com
Website: www.bigshareonline.com 
Secretarial Department 
Rushil Decor Limited,
Rushil House, 
Near Neelkanth Green Bungalow, 
Off. Sindhu Bhavan Road, Shilaj, 
Ahmedabad – 380 058

ipo@rushil.com
           cs@virlaminate.com
Tel No.:  079- 61400400 
Fax No.: 079- 61400401
Mr. Hasmukh K. Modi 
Company Secretary
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10. OTHER DISCLOSURES

conflict with the interest of company at large:

   Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder, 
Regulation 23 and other applicable regulations 

made thereunder from time to time) and 
Articles of Association of the Company, the 
Company has taken the loan from its promoter, 
Rushil International, Partnership Firm, as per 
stipulations imposed by the German banks, 
of ` 53,60,45,000/- (Rupees Fifty Three Crore 
Sixty Lakh Forty Five Thousand Only). The Audit 
Committee had given its prior approval for said 
borrowings from Rushil International and board 
of directors of the Company has also approved 
the said transaction in its meeting.

   During the Financial year 2018-19, apart from the 
transaction as mentioned above there was no 

undertaken by the Company under Section 188 of 
the Companies Act, 2013, read with rules framed 
thereunder, Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS 

2015 that may have potential conflict with the 
interest of the Company at large. The Company 
has entered into some transactions with related 

Companies Act, 2013, which were in the ordinary 
course of business and at arms’ length basis and 
the same were duly approved or reviewed by the 
Audit Committee.

   The necessary disclosures regarding the 
transactions with related parties are given in the 

has formulated a Policy on materiality of Related 
Party Transactions and also dealing with Related 
Party Transaction. It is posted on the website 
of the Company which can be accessed by the 

https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/
Rushil_Related_Party_Transaction_Policy.pdf.

 (b)  Details of non-compliance by the Company, 
penalties and strictures imposed on the Company 
by Stock Exchange or the Board or any statutory 
authority on any matter related to capital markets 
during the last three years :

   There is no such non-compliance by the 
Company, penalties, and strictures imposed on 

any statutory authority on any matter related to 
capital markets during the last three years.

Company for Non-disclosure of Loan details 

penalty of ` 7,00,000 /- (Rupees Seven Lakhs 

personnel has been denied access to the Audit 
Committee:

   Pursuant to the provision of the section 177(9) 
of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules 
framed thereunder, Regulation 4(2)(d)(iv) and 22 

has established Vigil Mechanism/ Whistle Blower 

concerns about illegal or unethical practices, 
unethical behavior, actual or suspected fraud or 
violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct or 
ethics policy.

   The details of establishment of such mechanism 
available on the website of the Company and it 
can be access by the following link: https://www.
rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Whistle_Blower_
Policy.51.pdf.

to access the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

 (d)  Details of compliance with mandatory 
requirements and adoption of the non-mandatory 
requirements:

   The Company has complied with all applicable 

https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Rushil_Related_Party_Transaction_Policy.pdf
https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Whistle_Blower_Policy.51.pdf
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the extent they have been adopted are mentioned 
below:

year ended 31st March, 2019 do not contain 

  ii. Reporting of Internal Auditor:

    The Internal Auditor directly reports to the 
Audit Committee.

 (e)  Web link where policy on dealing with Material 
Subsidiaries:

   The Company does not have any subsidiary 
company; however Company has formulated a 
policy for determining material subsidiary and it 
is available on the web link https://www.rushil.
com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Policy-for-determining-
Material-Subsidiary.pdf.

 (f)  Web link where policy on dealing with related 
party transaction:

   The Policy on dealing with related party 
transaction is disclosed on the website of the 
Company and can be accessed at

   https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/
Rushil_Related_Party_Transaction_Policy.pdf

 (g)  Disclosure of commodity price risks and 

   As stated earlier, Company does not have any 
direct impact of Commodity price movement like 
major fluctuation of crude prices. However, it has 
an indirect impact on the Company since some 
of our chemical consumption is connected with 

steps for that.

 (h)  Details of utilisation of funds raised through 

   During the Financial year 2018-19 the Company 

preferential issue to non-promoter shareholders 
on two different occasion amounting to ` 

20,02,29,040/- to fund growth plans and projects. 
The company has utilised the funds in the 
following manner:

  a)  ̀  764.19 Lakhs towards construction of 
new MDF plant located at Atchutapuram, 
Vishakhapatnam, Andhra Pradesh.

  b)  ̀  1238.10 Lakhs towards purchase of 
machinery for new MDF plant located at 
Atchutapuram, Vishakhapatnam, Andhra 
Pradesh.

   Further, the fund is utilised by the Company for 
the purpose as mentioned in the explanatory 
statement as annexed with the notice of postal 
ballot. The company has not issued any funds 

that none of the directors on the board of the 

from being appointed or continuing as directors 

Affairs or any such statutory authority.

Directors on the board of the Company were 

under retirement by rotation and/or continuing as 

of Corporate Affairs or any other statutory 
authorities is attached as “Annexure – A”. 

Company to the statutory auditor.

Statutory Auditor M/s Parikh & Majmudar
Statutory Audit Fees ` 3,50,000/-
Tax Audit Fees ` 1,50,000/-
Total `

 (k)  Disclosures in relation to the Sexual Harassment 

and Redressal) Act, 2013.

Number of 
complaints 

Number of 
complaints 
disposed of 
during the 

Number of 
complaints 
pending as 

on end of the 

NIL

https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Policy-for-determining-Material-Subsidiary.pdf
https://www.rushil.com/CodesPoliciesPdf/Rushil_Related_Party_Transaction_Policy.pdf
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11.  NON-COMPLIANCE OF ANY REQUIREMENT OF 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT OF SUB-PARA 
(2) TO (10) OF SCHEDULE V (C) OF THE LISTING 
REGULATIONS: NIL.

12.  THE DISCLOSURE OF THE COMPLIANCE WITH 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REQUIREMENTS 
SPECIFIED IN REGULATION 17 TO 27 AND CLAUSES 
(B) TO (I) OF SUB REGULATION (2) OF REGULATION 
46 OF LISTING REGULATIONS.

  The Company has complied with all the mandatory 

clauses (b) to (i) of sub–regulation (2) of Regulation 
46 of the listing regulations to the extent as applicable 
with regards to Corporate Governance.

13.  DISCLOSURES WITH RESPECT TO DEMAT SUSPENSE 

  The Company does not have any shares in the demat 
suspense account or unclaimed suspense account.

14.  PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS SEEKING 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING HAVE BEEN PROVIDED 
IN THE NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.

15.  DECLARATION BY THE CEO ON CODE OF CONDUCT 
AS REQUIRED BY SCHEDULE V OF SECURITIES AND 
EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS 
AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 
2015: It is attached as “ANNEXURE – B”.

16.  COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE: 
Shalin Jain & Associates, Practicing Company 

conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated 
under the Listing Regulations attached as “ANNEXURE 
– C”.
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“Annexure – A”

CERTIFICATE OF NON-DISQUALIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

To,

The Members of

Rushil Décor Limited

S. NO. 125, Near Kalyanpura Patia,

Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road,

Tal. Kalol, Dist. Gandhinagar –382845,

Gujarat, India

I have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of Rushil Décor 
Limited having CIN: L25209GJ1993PLC019532
Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol Dist. Gandhinagar–382845, Gujarat, India (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’), 

Regulations, 2015.

(DIN) status at the portal www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to me by the Company & its 

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director DIN Date of appointment in Company

1. Ghanshyambhai Ambalal Thakkar 00208843 08/03/2007
2. Krupesh Ghanshyambhai Thakkar 01059666 24/05/1993
3. Shankar Prasad Bhagat 01359807 01/10/2009
4. Jingle Thakkar 06941497 07/08/2014
5. Ramanikbhai Tejabhai Kansagara 08341541 02/02/2019
6. Rohitbhai Bhailalbhai Thakkar 06538323 30/03/2013

conducted the affairs of the Company.

 Shalin M. Jain
Practicing Company Secretary

ACS No: 30427
Place: Ahmedabad CP No: 21379
Date: 23.07.2019
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“Annexure – C”

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

To,

The Members of

Rushil Decor Limited

I have examined the compliance of Corporate Governance by Rushil Decor Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended on 31st 

It is the responsibility of management to comply with the conditions of Corporate Governance. My examination was limited to 
a review of procedures and implementations thereof adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of 

In my opinion and to the best of my information and according to the explanations given to me, I certify that the Company has 

Regulations, 2015, as applicable to the Company.

effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

 Shalin M. Jain
Practicing Company Secretary

ACS No: 30427
Place: Ahmedabad CP No: 21379
Date: 23.07.2019

“Annexure – B”

DECLARATION ON CODE OF CONDUCT

This is to certify that Company “Rushil Décor Limited” has in place a Code of Conduct applicable to the Board Members as 
well as the Senior Management Personnel and that the same has been uploaded on the Company’s website ‘www.rushil.com’. 

Conduct for All Board Members and Senior Management Personnel of the Company for the Financial Year 2018-19.

Keyur M. Gajjar

Rushil Décor Limited
Place: Ahmedabad
Date: 23.07.2019

https://www.rushil.com/
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TO THE MEMBERS OF 

statements of  (‘’the Company”), 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31st March, 2019, 

comprehensive income), statement of changes in equity and 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, the aforesaid  standalone 

Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India including Indian 

performance including other comprehensive income), its 
Cash flows and changes in equity for the year ended on that 
date.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 

responsibilities under those Standards are further described 
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and 
the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we 

basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters.

Independent Auditor’s Report

Revenue of the company comprises of sale of industrial 
and decorative laminates to its domestic and international 

pre laminated) to its domestic customers. The Company sells 
its products through a network of distributors and dealers 
in the relevant markets and a part of the sales is also made 
as institutional sales/project sales directly to the end use 
customers.

on sale of goods before the control in the goods is transferred.

Our key audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue 
on sale of goods included the following:

We assessed the appropriateness of the Company’s revenue 
recognition policies, including those related to discounts and 
incentives;
We obtained an understanding of process and assessed 
the design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of management’s key internal controls in relation to 
revenue recognition from sale of goods. We also tested the 
Company’s controls over timing of revenue recognition;

transactions around the year end had been recognised in 
the appropriate period on the basis of the terms of sale of 
the contract, particularly with reference to the transfer of 
control in the goods in question with regard to the year end 
transactions.
We inspected key customer contracts/ purchase orders 
to identify terms and conditions related to acceptance of 
goods and the right to return and assessing the Company’s 
revenue recognition policies with reference to the 
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards;

86



Independent Auditor’s Report (Contd.)

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s 
Report thereon

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the 

income), changes in equity and cash flows of the Company in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) 

also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of 
the assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 

the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 

statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due. to fraud or error. 

responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management  either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Standards on 
Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if; individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

statements 

As part of an audit in accordance with Standards on Auditing, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our 
opinion on whether the company has adequate internal 

effectiveness of such controls.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
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transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 

during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence; and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

communication.

1. As required by section 197(16) of the Act, we report that 
the company has paid  remuneration to its directors 
during the year in accordance  with the provisions of and 
limits laid down under section 197 read with schedule V 
to the Act. The remuneration paid to any director is not 
in excess of the limit laid down under section 197 of the 
Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed 
other details under Section 197(16) which are required to 
be commented upon by us.

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 
2016 (‘’the Order”), issued by the Central Government 

the Act, we give in the  “Annexure A” a statement on the 

 a. We have sought and obtained all the information and 
explanations which to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit,

 b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books,

including other Comprehensive Income, Statement 
of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash Flow 

Statement dealt with by this Report are in agreement 
with the books of account.

statements comply with the Indian Accounting 

read with Rule 7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 

 e. On the basis of written representations, received 
from the directors as on 31st March, 2019 taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the 

being appointed as a director in terms of Section 

the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer 
to our separate Report in “Annexure B”. Our report 

and operating effectiveness of the company’s 

 g. With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 

amended, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given 
to us:

  I.  The Company has disclosed the impact of 

the standalone Financial Statements (Refer 
Note No 37 to the Standalone Financial 
Statements.)

  II. The Company did not have any long term 
contracts including derivative contracts for 
which there were any material foreseeable 
losses.

  III There were no amounts which were required 
to be transferred to the Investor Education and 

For 
Chartered Accountants

FR No. 107525W

Partner

Date: 18th May, 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report (Contd.)
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Annexure A  

(i)  (a) The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of property, plant and 
equipment.

 (b)  According to the information and explanations 
given to us, the property, plant and equipment are 

during the year which, in  our opinion is reasonable 
having regard  to the size of the Company and 
nature of its assets. No material discrepancies 

 (c)  According to the information and explanations given 
to us and on the basis of our examination of the 
records of the Company, the title deeds of immovable 
properties are held in the name of the Company. 

 (ii)  As explained to us, the inventories have been 

intervals during the year. The discrepancies noticed 

books of accounts were not material.

 (iii) The Company has not granted any loans secured 

the register maintained under section 189 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.(the Act). 

 (iv) In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has complied 
with the provisions of section 185 and 186 of the Act, 
with respect to the loans given during the year and 
investment made during the year.

(v)   The Company has not accepted any deposits from 
the public during the year under review. (Also refer 
note No 55 of notes forming part of Standalone 

(vi)  As explained to us, the Central Government has not 
prescribed the maintenance of Cost records under 

Act 2013. 

(vii)  (a)  According to the information and explanations 
given to us and on the basis of our examination of 
the records of the Company, amounts deducted/ 
accrued in the books of account in respect of 
undisputed statutory dues including provident 
fund, income-tax, sales tax, value added tax, duty 
of customs, duty of excise,service tax, Goods & 
Service Tax, cess and other material statutory 
dues have been regularly deposited during the year 
by the Company with the appropriate authorities. 
As explained to us, the Company did not have any 
dues on account of employees’ state insurance.

  According to the information and explanations 
given to us, no undisputed amounts payable in 
respect of provident fund, income tax, sales tax, 
value added tax, duty of customs, duty of excise, 
service tax, Goods & Service Tax,cess and other 
material statutory dues were in arrears as at 31st 
March, 2019 for a period of more than six months 
from the date they became payable.

 (b) According to the information and explanations given to us, there are no material dues of sales tax, service tax ,Goods 
& Service Tax and value added tax which have not been deposited with the appropriate authorities on account of any 
dispute. However, according to information and explanations given to us, the following dues of Income Tax, duties of 
Custom and Duty of Excise have not been deposited by the company on account of Dispute: 

Nature of Statues
Amount (In `) (Net of 

payments)
Period to which the 

amount relates
Forum where dispute 
is pending

Income Tax Act 1961 32,270/- FY 2012-13 CIT (A), 9, Ahmedabad
Income Tax Act 1961 2,30,952/- FY 2011-12 CIT (A), 9, Ahmedabad
Central Excise Excise Duty, Interest& 13,20,210/- April 2015 to Feb 

2016
Custom Excise & 
Service Tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Ahmedabad

Central Excise Excise Duty, Interest& 70,75,855/- up to Sept-2012 Custom Excise & Service 
Tax Appellate Tribunal, 
Ahmedabad

The Customs Act 
1962

Custom Duty with 2255536/- with 
Interest  

Custom Excise & 
Service Tax Appellate 
Tribunal, Ahmedabad
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(viii)  According to information & explanations given to us, 
the Company has not defaulted in repayment of its 
dues to Banks or Financial institutions or Government. 
The Company does not have any borrowings from 
debenture holders. 

(ix)  According to the information & explanations given to 
us, the Company did not raise any money by way of 
initial public offer or further public offer (including debt 
instruments) during the year under review. However, the 
term loans raised during the year has been applied for 
the purpose for which they were raised. 

(x)  According to the information and explanations given 
to us,no fraud by the Company or on the Company by 

during the course of our audit. 

(xi)  According to the information and explanations give 
to us and based on our examination of the records 
of the Company, the Company has paid/provided 
for managerial remuneration in accordance with the 
requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of 
section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act. 

(xii)  In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company is not a nidhi 
company. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is 
not applicable. 

(xiii)  According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, transactions with the related parties are in 
compliance with sections 177 and 188 of the Act where 
applicable and details of such transactions have been 

Annexure A  

applicable Ind AS. 

(xiv) According to the information and explanations given 
to us and based on our examination of the records 
of the Company, the Company has made preferential 
allotment of fully paid up equity shares during the year 

Act, 2013 have been complied with and the amount 
raised have been used for the purposes for which the 
funds were raised.

(xv)  According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, the Company has not entered into non-cash 
transactions with directors or persons connected with 
him. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not 
applicable. 

(xvi)  The Company is not required to be registered under 

For 
Chartered Accountants

FR No. 107525W

Partner

Date: 18th May, 2019
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Annexure B 

as at and for the year ended 31st March, 2019. We have audited 

company as of that date. 

The Company’s Board of Directors  is responsible for 

established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 

conduct of the company’s business, including adherence 
to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 

the Act.

Auditor’s’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards 
on Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under 

the Guidance Note issued by ICAI. Those Standards and the 
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

controls operated effectively in all material respects.

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 
control based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 

whether due to fraud or error. 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 

reporting.

Reporting 

a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 

generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 

and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorisations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that 

Financial Reporting 

of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and 
not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the 

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, an 

reporting were operating effectively as at 31st March, 2019, 

established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
issued by the ICAI.

For 
Chartered Accountants

FR No. 107525W

Partner

Date: 18th May, 2019
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(Amount in `)

Particulars
Note  
No.

 As at                        As at                       

(1) Non- current Assets
1

(b) Capital work-in-progress 1
(c) Other Intangible assets 2 10,13,676
(d) Financial Assets
(i) Investments 3 1,25,000 10,000
(ii) Trade receivables 1,71,87,896 1,85,08,010
(iii) 5 9,66,128 23,16,780
(e) Other non-current assets 6 92,91,51,966 23,52,65,212

(2) Current Assets
(a) Inventories 7 87,96,35,235 83,23,63,150
(b) Financial Assets
(i) Trade receivables 8
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents 9 56,51,699
(iii) Bank balances other than (ii) above 10
(iv) 11 3,16,18,262 2,50,00,000
(c) Current Tax Assets      -   -
(d) Other current assets 12

(1) Equity
(a) Equity Share capital 13
(b) Other Equity 1,90,99,03,621

Non-current liabilities

(i) Borrowings 15
(ii)

- dues to micro and small enterprises  -    -   
- dues to other than micro and small enterprises 16a

(iii) 16b 3,73,59,066
17 1,37,56,009

(c) Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 18
(d) Other non-current liabilities 19 8,00,23,368

(i) Borrowings 20
(ii) Trade payables

- dues to micro and small enterprises 21
- dues to other than micro and small enterprises 21  721,529,785 

(iii) 22  156,015,880 
(b) Other current liabilities 23

 18,731,388 
25  2,511,736 

The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 are integral part of these Standalone Financial Statements.

Standalone Balance Sheet 
 

As per our report of even date attached.
For  
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Regn.No.107525W)

Partner                                                               Chairman Managing Director                
DIN :01059666                 

DATE   : 18th May, 2019  Company Secretary 

92



As per our report of even date attached.
For  
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Regn.No.107525W)

Partner                                                               Chairman Managing Director                
DIN :01059666                 

DATE   : 18th May, 2019  Company Secretary 

(Amount in `)

Sr. 
No Particulars

Note 
No.

I 26
II Other Income 27  2,70,67,802 
III

(a) Cost of Materials Consumed 28  1,93,37,07,755  1,89,63,08,560 
(b) 29  6,11,113  1,55,10,713 
(c) Changes in Inventories of Finished goods, Stock-in-Trade and 

Work-in-progress
30  (1,68,15,206)  (10,32,37,753)

(d) Excise duty 31  -   
 (e) 32  25,62,23,170  20,97,93,520 
(f) Finance Costs 33  8,70,23,507 
(g) Depreciation and Amortisation Expense  8,62,91,158 
(h) Other Expenses  89,72,07,136 

35
 (1)    Current Tax  6,58,67,735  10,51,00,000 
 (2)    Deferred Tax  1,99,76,577 

 (16,91,616)

or loss
 5,65,802 

 -    -   
 -    -   

IX

X `

Basic & Diluted 36  9.61  21.27 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 56 are integral part of these Standalone Financial Statements.

Standalone Statement of   
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(Amount in `)
Particulars
(A)

 (16,91,616)
Depreciation and amortisation expense  8,62,91,158 
Interest and Finance cost  8,70,23,507 

 -    61,075 

(Increase) / Decrease in Inventories
(Increase) / Decrease in Trade Receivables  (8,93,83,218)  (1,61,19,356)
(Increase) / Decrease in Financial Assets  19,20,81,303 
(Increase) / Decrease in Other Assets  (23,87,33,919)

 23,02,21,222 
 (3,60,67,700)  1,67,17,072 

 (55,15,525)

 (8,08,62,957)

(B)

Expenses)
 (1,12,31,52,689)

Adjustment for Revaluation Reserve  2,21,00,000  -   
 -    9,60,688 

 (1,15,000)  -   
 (66,18,262)  (2,50,00,000)

Changes in Non Current Assets 

(C)
Money received against warrant  -    (5,00,00,000)
Issue of share capital  21,38,720 
Securities premium  19,80,90,320  19,68,25,200 

Increase / (Decrease) in Short term borrowings  6,16,65,765  1,11,87,665 
Interest and Finance cost  (8,70,23,507)

 (90,00,256)

Opening  56,51,699 
Closing  56,51,699 
Cash & Cash Equivalent as per above comprises of the following:
Cash & Cash Equivalent (Refer Note No.9)  56,51,699 

Notes: 1. The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard 
(IND AS-7) Statement of Cashflows. 
This is the Cashflow Statement referred to in our report of even date.

Standalone Cash Flow Statement 

As per our report of even date attached.
For  
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Regn.No.107525W)

Partner                                                               Chairman Managing Director                
DIN :01059666                 

DATE   : 18th May, 2019  Company Secretary 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
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India and incorporated under the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 1956. Its shares are listed on The 
National Stock Exchange and The Bombay Stock 
Exchange. The Company is primarily engaged 

Chloride Board. The Company presently has 
manufacturing facilities at Itla, Mansa and 
Dholakuva in (Gujarat) and Chikkamagaluru 
(Karnataka).

   Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) through 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Amendment Rules, 2019 and Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Second Amendment Rules, 

Ind AS which the Group has not applied as they are 
effective from 1st April, 2019:

  Recent accounting pronouncements

   Ind AS 116 will replace the existing leases standard, 

116 sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of 
leases for both lessees and lessors. It introduces a 
single, on-balance sheet lessee accounting model 
for lessees. A lessee recognises right-of-use asset 
representing its right to use the underlying asset 
and a lease liability representing its obligation to 
make lease payments. The standard also contains 
enhanced disclosure requirements for lessees. Ind 
AS 116 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements in Ind AS 17. The effect 
on the Financial statements on adoption of Ind AS 
116 is being evaluated by the Company.

   The amendment relating to income tax 
consequences of dividend clarify that an entity 
shall recognise the income tax consequences of 

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements

income or equity according to where the entity 
originally recognised those past transactions or 
events. The Company does not expect any impact 
from this pronouncement. It is relevant to note 
that the amendment does not amend situations 
where the entity pays a tax on dividend which is 
effectively a portion of dividends paid to taxation 
authorities on behalf of shareholders. Such 
amount paid or payable to taxation authorities 
continues to be charged to equity as part of 
dividend, in accordance with Ind AS 12.

  The amendment to Appendix C of Ind AS 12 

bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income 
tax treatments under Ind AS 12. It outlines the 
following: (1) the entity has to use judgement, 
to determine whether each tax treatment should 
be considered separately or whether some can 
be considered together. The decision should be 
based on the approach which provides better 
predictions of the resolution of the uncertainty (2) 
the entity is to assume that the taxation authority 
will have full knowledge of all relevant information 
while examining any amount (3) entity has to 
consider the probability of the relevant taxation 
authority accepting the tax treatment and the 

bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and 
tax rates would depend upon the probability. The 

  Amendment to Ind AS 19 – plan amendment, 
curtailment or settlement- On 30th March, 
2019, Ministry of Corporate Affairs issued 

connection with accounting for plan amendments, 
curtailments and settlements.

  The amendments require an entity: 

current service cost and net interest for 
the remainder of the period after a plan 
amendment, curtailment or settlement; and 

service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, 
any reduction in a surplus, even if that surplus 
was not previously recognised because of the 
impact of the asset ceiling.
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  Effective date for application of this amendment 
is annual period beginning on or after 1st April, 
2019. The Company does not have any impact on 
account of this amendment.

borrowing remains outstanding after the related 
asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that 
borrowing becomes part of the funds that an 
entity borrows generally when calculating the 
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. The 
Company does not expect any impact from this 
amendment. 

  These Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards 
(Ind AS) as prescribed under section 133 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 3 of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015 as amended and other relevant provisions of 
the Act.

  The Financial Statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost convention on accrual basis 

are measured at fair values at the end of each 
reporting period, as explained in the accounting 
policies below.

  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 
of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

  The operating cycle is the time between the 
acquisition of assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The 

operating cycle. Accordingly, all assets and 

current as per the Company’s operating cycle and 

of Financial Statements’ and Schedule III to the 
Companies Act, 2013.’

  Accounting policies have been consistently 
applied consistently to all the periods presented in 

Rupees (‘INR’). Where changes are made in 

previous year are regrouped and re-arranged 
accordingly.

conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

statements and the results of operations during 
the reporting year end. Although these estimates 
are based upon management’s best knowledge of 
current events and actions, actual results could 
differ from these estimates.

at original cost (net of tax/duty credit 
availed) less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses except freehold 
land which is carried at fair value. Cost 
includes cost of acquisition, construction 
and installation, taxes, duties, freight, other 
incidental expenses related to the acquisition, 
and pre-operative expenses including 
attributable borrowing costs incurred during 
pre-operational period.

  ii) Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 

with the item will flow to the company and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of any component 
as a separate asset is derecognised when 
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance 

during the reporting period in which they are 
incurred.

  iii) Assets which are not ready for their intended 
use on reporting date are carried as capital 
work-in-progress at cost, comprising direct 
cost and related incidental expenses.

  iv) On transition to Ind AS, the Company has 
elected to continue with the carrying value 
of all of its property, plant and equipment 
as at 1st April, 2016 measured as per the 

as the deemed cost of the property, plant and 

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements (Contd.)
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fair value.

  v) The Company has exercised the option 

Companies (Accounting Standards) (Second 
Amendment) Rules, 2011 in respect of 
accounting for fluctuations in foreign 

Currency Monetary Items”. On transition to 
Ind AS, aforesaid option is not available for 
loans availed after 1st April, 2016. 

continuous process plants are depreciated 
and/or amortised on the basis of their 

Companies Act, 2013. The assets’ residual 
values and useful lives are reviewed, and 
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

  vii) Depreciation in respect of additions to assets 
has been charged on pro rata basis with 
reference to the period when the assets are 
ready for use. The provision for depreciation 
for multiple shifts has been made in respect 
of eligible assets on the basis of operation of 
respective units. 

  viii) An asset’s carrying amount is written down 
immediately on discontinuation to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. Gains and losses on 
disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount. These are 

of Fixed Assets.

Companies Act, 2013 are as follows :

   Buildings -     3 to 60 years

   Furniture and Fixtures -   10 years 

   Vehicles -     8 to 10 years

  x)  At each balance sheet date, the Company 
reviews the carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment loss. If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the assets is estimated in order 
to determine the extent of impairment loss. 
The recoverable amount is higher of the net 
selling price and the value in use, determined 
by discounting the estimated future cash 
flows expected from the continuing use of the 
asset to their present value.

  i) Intangible assets acquired by payment e.g. 
Computer Software is disclosed at cost less 
amortisation on a straight-line basis over its 
estimated useful life.

  ii) Intangible assets are carried at cost, net of 
accumulated amortisation and impairment 
loss, if any.

  iii) On transition to Ind AS, the Company has 
elected to continue with the carrying value of 
all of its intangible assets as at 1st April, 2016 

that carrying value as the deemed cost of the 
intangible assets.

  iv) Intangible assets are amortised on straight-
line method as follows :

   Computer Software - 5 years 

  v)  At each balance sheet date, the Company 
reviews the carrying amount of intangible 
assets to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the assets is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of impairment loss. The recoverable 
amount is higher of the net selling price and 
the value in use, determined by discounting 
the estimated future cash flows expected 
from the continuing use of the asset to their 
present value.

that arise in the ordinary course of activities 
of the Company which result in increase 
in Equity, other than increases relating to 
contributions from equity participants. 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it 

flow to the Company and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. Revenue is measured at 

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements (Contd.)
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the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable.

  ii) Sale of Goods: Revenue from sales of goods 
is recognised upon transfer of control to  the 
customers. Revenue shown in the Statement 

transfers, returns, trade discounts, cash 
discounts, value added tax, central sales tax 
and Goods and Service Tax. 

  iii) Services: Revenue from Services are 
recognised as and when the services are 
rendered. 

  iv) Export incentives under various schemes are 
accounted in the year of export.

  v) Interest: Interest income is accrued on a 
time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable.

as an expense at the undiscounted amount in 

which the related service is rendered.

basis of third party actuarial valuation, using 
the projected unit credit method, as at the 
date of the Balance Sheet. Every Employee 

service is entitled to Gratuity on terms not 
less favorable than the provisions of The 

obligation is determined by discounting the 
estimated future cash outflows by reference 
to market yields at the end of reporting 
period on government bonds that have terms 
approximating to the terms of the related 
obligation.

plan and the contributions to Employees’ 

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements (Contd.)

year when the contributions to the respective 
funds are due. The Company pays provident 
fund contributions to publicly administered 
provident funds as per local regulations. The 
Company has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid.

  i) The cost of inventories have been computed 
to include all cost of purchases, cost 
of conversion and other related costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition. The costs 
of Raw Materials, Stores and spare parts 
etc., consumed consist of purchase price 
including duties and taxes (other than those 
subsequently recoverable by the enterprise 
from the taxing authorities), freight inwards 
and other expenditure directly attributable to 
the procurement.

  ii) Stock of Raw Materials are valued at cost 
and of those in transit and at port related 
to these items are valued at cost to date. 
Goods and materials in transit are valued at 
actual cost incurred up to the date of balance 
sheet. Material and supplies held for use in 
the production of inventories are not written 

will be used are expected to be sold at or 
above cost.

& Fuels are valued at cost; and of those in 
transit and at port related to these items are 
valued at cost.

  iv) Goods-in-process is valued at lower of cost 
or net realisable value.

  v) Stock of Finished goods is valued at lower of 
cost or net realisable value, and Stock at port 
is valued at Cost.

  vi) Stock-in-trade is valued at lower of cost or 
net realisable value.

  i)  Cash flows are reported using indirect 

for the effects of transactions of a non-cash 
nature and any deferrals or accruals of past 
or future cash receipts or payments. The 
cash flow from regular revenue generating, 
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Company is segregated.

  ii)  Cash and cash equivalents in the balance 
sheet comprise cash at bank, cash/cheques 
in hand and short term investments with an 
original maturity of three months or less. 

as those to be measured subsequently at fair 
value (through the standalone Statement of 

  ii) Trade receivables represent receivables for 
goods sold by the Company up to the end of 

unsecured and are usually received as per the 
terms of payment agreed with the customers. 
The amounts are presented as current assets 
where receivable is due with-in 12 months 
from the reporting date.

  iii) Trade receivables are impaired using the 
lifetime expected credit loss model under 

matrix to determine the impairment loss 
allowance based on its historically observed 
default rates over expected life of trade 
receivables and is adjusted for forward 
looking estimates. At every reporting date, 
the impairment loss allowance is determined 
and updated and the same is deducted 
from Trade Receivables with corresponding 
charge/credit to the standalone Statement of 

the Company has transferred the rights to 

when it has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or when it has 
transferred the control of the asset.

  i) Borrowings are initially recognised and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
net of transaction costs incurred. The 
transaction costs is amortised over the period 
of borrowings using the effective interest 

and Equipment and subsequently under 

  ii) Borrowings are removed from balance sheet 

is discharged, cancelled or expired.

unless the company has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period.

and services provided to the Company up to 

are unsecured and are usually paid as per the 
terms of payment agreed with the vendors. 
The amounts are presented as current 
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 
months after the reporting period. 

are offset and the net amount is reported 
in the balance sheet if there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention 
to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets 
and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

the nature of Forward contracts. Forward 
contracts are executed to hedge the foreign 
exchange rate with respect to liabilities for 
goods and services in foreign currencies. 

recognised initially and subsequently at 
fair value through mark to market valuation 
obtained from Forex Advisors. Gain or loss 
arising from the changes in fair value of 
derivatives is debited to the foreign exchange 
fluctuations in the standalone statement of 

instruments such as derivatives at fair value 
at each balance sheet date.

value at each balance sheet date.

  iii) Fair value is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market 
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Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements (Contd.)

participants at the measurement date. The 
fair value measurement is based on the 
presumption that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place 
either in the principal market for the asset 
or liability, or in the absence of a principal 
market, in the most advantageous market for 
the asset or liability. The principal or the most 
advantageous market must be accessible by 
the Company.

  iv) The fair value of an asset or liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset 
or liability, assuming that market participants 
act in their economic best interest.

  v) A fair value measurement of a non- 

participant’s ability to generate economic 

best use or by selling it to another market 
participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use.

  vi) The Company uses valuation techniques 
that are appropriate in the circumstances 

to measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

  vii) The assets and liabilities which has been 
measured at fair value are, Derivatives and 

presented in Indian Rupees (‘INR’), which is 
also the Company’s functional currency.

  ii) Foreign currency transactions are recorded 
on initial recognition in the functional 
currency, using the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. At each balance 
sheet date, foreign currency monetary items 
are reported using the closing exchange 
rate. Exchange differences that arise on 
settlement of monetary items or on reporting 
at each balance sheet date of the Company’s 
monetary items at the closing rate are 
recognised as income or expenses in the 
period in which they arise.

  iii) Non-monetary items which are carried at 
historical cost denominated in a foreign 
currency are reported using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. 

  As a lessee

and rewards of ownership are not transferred to 

a straight-line basis over the period of the lease 
unless the payments are structured to increase in 
line with expected general inflation to compensate 
for the Company’s expected inflationary cost 
increases.

  i) Borrowing costs are interest and other costs 
(including exchange differences relating to 
foreign currency borrowings to the extent 
that they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs) incurred in connection with 
the borrowing of funds. 

are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or construction of qualifying assets are 
capitalised as part of the cost of such assets 
during the period of time that is required 
to complete and prepare the asset for its 
intended use. A qualifying asset is one that 
takes necessarily substantial period of time 
to get ready for its intended use.

  iii) All other borrowing costs are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred.

  i) Tax expenses comprise of current tax and 
deferred tax including applicable surcharge 
and cess.

  ii) Current Income tax is computed using the 
tax effect accounting method, where taxes 
are accrued in the same period in which 
the related revenue and expenses arise. A 
provision is made for income tax annually, 
based on the tax liability computed, after 
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considering tax allowances and exemptions. 

that a liability due to disallowances or other 
matters is probable.

  iii) Deferred tax is provided using the balance 
sheet approach on temporary differences 
at the reporting date between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their 

purposes at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences, the carry forward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 

the deductible temporary differences, and the 
carry forward unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised.

  iv)  The the carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed at each reporting date 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax assets to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it is become probable that future 

asset to be recovered. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on the tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

  v) Deferred tax is recognised in the statement of 

to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income. As such, deferred tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

  vi) Deferred Tax Assets and Deferred Tax 

right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the Deferred 

to taxes on income levied by same governing 
taxation laws.

has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events; (b) it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying 

the obligation; and (c) a reliable estimate is 
made of the amount of the obligation.

  ii) Contingent liabilities are not provided for but 
are disclosed by way of Notes on Accounts. 
Contingent liabilities is disclosed in case of a 
present obligation from past events (a) when 
it is not probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation; (b) 
when no reliable estimate is possible; (c) 
unless the probability of outflow of resources 
is remote.

  iii) Contingent assets are not accounted but 
disclosed by way of Notes on Accounts where 

  i) The Normal Operating Cycle for the Company 
has been assumed to be of twelve months 

liabilities into “Current” and “Non-Current”.

  ii) The Company presents assets and liabilities 
in the balance sheet based on current and 

  iii) An asset is current when it is (a) expected 
to be realised or intended to be sold or 
consumed in normal operating cycle; (b) 
held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
(c) expected to be realised within twelve 
months after the reporting period; (d) Cash 
and cash equivalent unless restricted from 
being exchanged or used to settle a liability 
for at least twelve months after the reporting 

current.

   i)  An liability is current when (a) it is 
expected to be settled in normal 
operating cycle; (b) it is held primarily 
for the purpose of trading; (c) it is due 
to be discharged within twelve months 
after the reporting period;(d) there is 
no unconditional right to defer the 
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Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements (Contd.)

settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. 

current.

   Government grants are recognised where there 
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attached conditions will be 
complied with. When the grant relates to an 
expense item, it is recognised as income on a 
systematic basis over the periods that the related 
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are 
expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is 
recognised as income in equal amounts over the 
expected remaining useful life of the related asset.

   When the Company receives grants of non-
monetary assets, the asset and the grant are 
recorded at fair value amounts and released to 

expected useful life in a pattern of consumption 

annual instalments.

  i)  Operating Segments are reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision maker 

performance and position of the company, 
and makes strategic decisions. The CODM 
consists of the Chairman, Managing Director, 

  ii) The Company’s operating businesses are 
organised and managed separately according 
to the nature of products, with each segment 
representing a strategic business unit that 
offers different products and serves different 

Manufacturing and Sale of (a) Decorative 

  iii) The analysis of geographical segment is 
based on the geographical location of the 
customers. The geographical segments 
considered for disclosure are (a) Sales within 
India include sales to customers located 
within India; (b) Sales outside India include 
sales to customers located outside India.

  iv) Common allocable costs are allocated to 
each segment according to the ratio of their 
respective turnover to the total turnover.

  v) The Unallocated Segment includes general 
corporate income and expense items, which 
are not allocated to any business segment.

  i)  A related party is a person or entity that is 
related to the reporting entity preparing its 

   (a)  A person or a close member of that 
person’s family is related to reporting 
entity if that person;

    (i)  has control or joint control of the 
reporting entity;

reporting entity; or

    (iii)  is a member of the key management 
personnel of the reporting entity or 
of a parent of the reporting entity.

   (b)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if 
any of the following conditions applies;

    (i)  the entity and the reporting 
entity are members of the same 
group(which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow 
subsidiary is related to the others); 

    (ii)  One entity is an associate or joint 
venture of the other entity(or an 
associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the 
other entity is a member);

    (iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of 
the same third party;

    (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a 
third entity and the other entity is 
an associate of the third entity;

    (v)  The entity is a post-employment 

employees of either the reporting 
entity or an entity related to the 
reporting entity;

    (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly 

(a);
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or is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity(or of a parent of 
the entity); 

  (viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of 
which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the reporting entity or 
to the parent of the reporting entity.

  ii)  A related party transaction is a transfer of 
resources, services or obligations between a 
reporting entity and a related party, regardless 
of whether a price is charged.

    Close members of the family of a person are 
those family members who may be expected 
to influence, or be influenced by, that person 
in their dealings with the entity.

i.e. all forms of consideration paid, payable 
or provided by the entity, or on behalf of the 
entity, in exchange for services rendered to 
the entity. It also includes such consideration 
paid on behalf of a parent of the entity in 
respect of the entity.

    Key management personnel are those 
persons having authority and responsibility 
for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, 
including any director (whether executive or 
otherwise) of that entity.

  iii)  Disclosure of related party transactions 
as required by the accounting standard is 
furnished in the Notes on the Standalone 
Financial Statements.

  i)  Basic earnings per share are calculated by 

attributable to equity shareholders by the 
weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the period.

  ii)  For the purpose of calculating diluted 

the period attributable to equity shareholders 
and the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the period are adjusted 
for the effects of all dilutive potential equity 
shares.

  i)  In case of CSR activities undertaken by the 
Company, if any expenditure of revenue nature 
is incurred or an irrevocable contribution is 
made to any agency to be spent by the latter 
on any of the activities mentioned in Schedule 
VII to the Companies Act, 2013, the same is 
charged as an expense to its Statement of 

  ii)  In case, the expenditure incurred by the 
Company is of such a nature which gives 
rise to an asset, such an asset is recognised 
where the Company retains the control of 

accrues to it. A liability incurred by entering 
in to a contractual obligation is recognised to 
the extent to which CSR activity is completed 
during the year.
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2.

(Amount in `)

Particulars
Computer 
Software

 Cost of Assets 
 As at 1st April 2018 
 Addition  2,62,000  2,62,000 
 Disposal / Adjustments   -      -    

 Amortisation 
 As at 1st April 2018 
 Charge for the period 
 Disposal / Adjustments   -      -    

 Net Block 

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
(a) Investment in unquoted equity instruments 

Manufactures Association at ` 1000/- per share fully paid up 
 1,25,000  -   

(a) Investment in government scurities or trust scurities 
 -    10,000 

 4.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018

 Unsecured,considered good unless otherwise stated  1,71,87,896  1,85,08,010 

 5.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated

 9,66,128  23,16,780 

Notes to the Standalone Financial Statements (Contd.)
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 6. Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
(a)
(b)
(c)  17,717 
(d)  2,56,358 
(e)  12,78,602 
(f) Prepaid Expenses  6,81,25,009  -   

 7.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
(a) Raw Materials*  31,61,37,800  30,65,19,929 
(b) Work in progress  7,15,80,366 
(c) `

`
 38,65,95,705 

(d) Stores and spares  8,16,17,721 
(e)  12,06,163 

` 6733265/- (Raw 
material ` `

 8.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated

 9.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
(a) Balances with Scheduled Banks

In current Account  9,59,335  20,05,739 
In EEFC Account in USD  22,13,233  3,67,333 
In EEFC Account in EURO  -    58,073 

(b) Cash on hand

108



Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)

 10.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
(a)  Fixed Deposit with Banks*
       * The Company has pledged above margin money deposit with 

bank as margin money against credit facilities towards bank 
guarantee and letter of credit.

 11. (Unsecured considered good unless otherwise stated)

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
 3,16,18,262  2,50,00,000 

 12. Unsecured considered good) 

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
Balance with government authorities  2,88,61,829 

 7,15,20,872 
Advance to Suppliers  5,35,13,065 

 2,29,05,685 
Other Advances  57,72,962 
Insurance claim receivable  67,33,265  -   

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018

20000000 ( p.y 20000000) Equity Shares of ` 10/- each  20,00,00,000  20,00,00,000 

` 10/- each  fully paid 
up

 1) Reconciliation of the shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the reporting year

(Amount in `)

Particulars In numbers 2019 In numbers 2018
At the beginning of period
Issued during the year  2,13,872  21,38,720 
Outstanding at the end of year

` 10 per share. Each Share Holder ie eligible for 
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Particulars

As at  As at  

Number of 
shares held

that class of 
shares 

Number of 
shares held

that class of 
shares 

Ghanshyambhai Ambalal Thakkar  19,90,900.00  13.33  19,90,900.00  13.53 
Krupesh Ghanshyambhai Thakkar and Ghanshyambhai  12.36 

Krupesh Ghanshyambhai Thakkar  19,27,866.00  12.91 
Krupesh G. Thakkar Karta of Krupesh Ghanshyambhai 
Thakkar (HUF)

 13,89,683.00  9.31  13,89,683.00 

 7,77,700.00  5.21  -    -   

 14.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
 50,000  50,000 

1) Securities Premium 
Opening Balance  60,01,57,556 
Add : Addition during the year  19,80,90,320  19,68,25,200 

 33,00,000  33,00,000 

Opening Balance  60,00,000  60,00,000 
Add : Addition during the year  -    60,00,000  -    60,00,000 

Opening Balance  16,68,11,539  16,68,11,539 
Add : Addition during the year  1,83,87,602  -    16,68,11,539 
5) Retained Earnings

 78,30,92,008 

Tax

` 0.50 
(31st March, 2017 and 31st March,2018)

 72,53,333 

 -   

Opening Balance  -    5,00,00,000 
Add : Issued during the period  -   

 -    19,99,99,800 
Closing Balance  -    -    -    -   

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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 15.

(Amount in `)

Particulars

2019 2019
 

2018
 

2018
Current 

maturities
Non-Current 

Portion
Current 

maturities
Non-Current 

Portion

From Banks

I. Bank of Baroda (refer note 1 below)

 -    -    -   

(b)  Term loan-iii External Commercial Borrowing  
(USD 63,00,000 ) 

 -    -    -   

(c) Corporate loan A/c no 01500600020796  3,00,00,000  3,00,00,000  5,96,33,208 

(d) Term loan A/c no 01500600020907  62,50,000  1,10,07,986  62,50,000  1,72,52,252 

 62,50,000  1,86,37,866  62,50,000 

(f) Term loan  A/c no 01500600021195  2,33,32,000  58,33,000 

 2,00,00,000  -    12,00,00,000 

(h) Term loan  A/c no 01500600021225  28,12,500  9,37,500 

(i) Term loan  A/c no 01500600021317  -    25,03,92,905  -    -   

(J)  Term loan External Commercial Borrowing   -    38,03,52,500 - -

II. From Foreign Bank (refer note 2 below)

 -    -    -   

III. Yes Bank (refer note 3 below)

(a) Business loan A/c no 021588900000352  1,00,00,008  8,15,89,516  -    -   

 -    -    -   

 16,57,000  80,30,535 

 77,35,517 

 -    35,16,250  -    35,16,250 

 -    18,65,225  -   

 -    -   

 -   -  35,56,563 

-  36,88,610 -  -   

Inter corporate loans  -    -    -   

 -    1,67,67,778  -    1,37,55,638 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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 15. (Contd.)
 

Secured by way of 

(a) Hypothecation of  entire current assets of the company present and future, 

(b) Equitable mortgage of 

 
Shri Ghanshyambhai Thakkar 

 (iv)  plot stiuated at lati bazar, ahmedabad in the name of Shri Ghanshyambhai Thakkar

(c)  2nd Charge over machinery 800 CBM Capacity MDF board unit proposed to be purchased from Siempelkamp - Germany 

` 0.93 Cr 

(e) secured by way of personal guarantee of Shri Ghanshyambhai Thakkar and Shri Krupeshbhai Thakkar.

Particulars Repayment Schedule
Corporate loan A/C NO. 01500600020796

completion of moratorium period of 18 months from the date of 

basis.
No. of installments  

(` 
 

(` 
2015-16 150
2016-17 200
2017-18 250
2018-19 300
2019-20 300
2020-21 300

1500
Corporate loan A/C NO. 01500600020907

disbursement as under. The interest is to be served on monthly basis.   
No. of installments  

(` 
 

(` 
2015-16 62.50
2016-17 62.50
2017-18 62.50
2018-19 62.50
2019-20 62.50
2020-21 62.50

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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Particulars Repayment Schedule

disbursement as under. The interest is to be served on monthly basis. 
No. of installments  

(` 
 

(` 
2017-18 62.50
2018-19 62.50
2019-20 62.50
2020-21 62.50
2021-22 62.50
2022-23 62.50

Term loan A/C NO. 01500600021195
after a moratorium period of 9 months from the date of 
commencement of commercial production in Equal amount as 
under.The interest is to be served on monthly basis. 

No. of installments  
(` 

 
(` 

2018-19 58.333x1 58.33
2019-20 233.33
2020-21 233.33
2021-22 233.33
2022-23 233.33

233.33
58.333x3 175.02

1400.00

completion of moratorium period of 12 months from the date 
disbursement as under.The interest is to be served on monthly basis. 

No. of installments  
(` 

 
(` 

2019-20 200.00
2020-21 200.00
2021-22 200.00
2022-23 200.00

200.00
200.00

1200.00
Term loan A/C NO. 01500600021225

disbursement in Equal amount as under. The interest is to be served 
on monthly basis. 

No. of installments  
(` 

 
(` 

2018-19 9.375x1 9.38
2019-20 9.375x3 28.12
2020-21 37.50
2021-22 37.50
2022-23 37.50

37.50
37.50

225.00
Term loan A/C NO. 01500600021317 `

12 months from COD which is April 2020. Interest to be serviced as 
and when applied.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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2020.

  Secured by way of hypothecation of machinery, equipment for a Meduim Densiity Fiberboard (MDF) manufacturing plant to 

     

ahmedabad belonging to Shri Kurpeshbhai  G. Thakkar b) Rushil Corporate House, Nr GIHED House, off Sindhu Bhawan 

personal gurantee of Shri Krupesh Thakkar

Particulars Repayment Schedule
Business loan  A/c no 021588900000352 `

from November-2018
` 2,83,333/- commencing 

from November-2018

Secured by hypothecation on vehicle purchased under hire purchase agreements.Repayment schedule is as under.

Name of Bank including interest (In `) Period

AUR000302328191
 36,880 10.7.2017 TO 10.6.2020 10.7.2017

 18,556 1.06.2016 TO 1.05.2019 1.06.2016

 90,312 

5.5.2018 TO 5.10.2020 5.5.2018

 13,823 5.5.2018 TO 5.10.2020 5.5.2018

10.5.2017

 31,265 8.2.2019 TO 8.12.2022 8.2.2019

 22,235 8.2.2019 TO 8.12.2022 8.2.2019

KOTAK MAHINDRA BANK 1.10.2017 TO 1.9.2022 1.10.2017

No.01500600020859

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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 Secured against pledge of keyman insusance policies of directors.

Secured by way of Bank guarantee. The loan is repayable in 3 equal annual installment as per details mentioned below: 

Particulars of 
repayment of principal 

Particulars of 
repayment of principal 

Particulars of 
repayment of principal 

Particulars of 
repayment of principal 

 9,80,992  -  -  - 
 9,80,992  -  - 
 9,80,991  -  - 

 -  -   
 -  - 
 -  - 
 -    -    -   

* Repayment amount is actual repayment to be made while in books, outstanding basis after doing amortisation

 

(Amount in `)

Amount 2019 Amount 2018
- dues to micro and small enterprises  -    -   

-  dues to other than micro and small enterprises  
(including trade payable for capital goods `
year `

 

(Amount in `)

Current 
maturities

 Non-Current 
Portion 

 Current 
maturities 

 Non-Current 
Portion 

(a)  Trade Deposit from Customers  73,03,355  17,25,000  3,73,59,066 

 17.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
 1,37,56,009 

 16 (a)

 16 (b)
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 18.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 

 19.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount
 

2018

At the beginning of the year  1,31,79,592 
Add: Added during the year  -    -   

end of the year 

 Non-current 

At the beginning of the year  -   
Add: Added during the year  6,87,50,000 

of the year 
 -    6,87,50,000  -   

    -  -  15,79,785
  

 20.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
Current Borrowings  

capital demand loan of ` ` 10 Cr  (refer note no.1)
 23,08,03,317 

 17,37,22,667 

 Secured by way of 

 (a)  Hypothecation of  entire current assets of the company present and future, 
 (b)  Equitable mortgage of 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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Ghanshyambhai Thakkar 
       (iv)  plot stiuated at lati bazar, ahmedabad in the name of Shri Ghanshyambhai Thakkar
 (c)   2nd Charge over machinery 800 CBM Capacity MDF board unit proposed to be purchased from Siempelkamp - Germany 

` 0.93 Cr 
 (e)  secured by way of personal guarantee of Shri Ghanshyambhai Thakkar and Shri Krupeshbhai Thakkar.

 21.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount
 

2018

Total outstanding dues of micro and small enterprises   
(including trade payable for capital goods `
year `1,55,232) (refer note no.21a)

Total outstanding dues other than micro and small enterprises 
(including trade payable for capital goods `

preveious year ` 5,13,56,220/-)

 72,15,29,785 

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount
 

2018

b)  Interest paid by the company in terms of section 16 of Micro, 
Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 along 
with the amount of the payment made to the supplier beyond 
the appointed day during the year.

 -    -   

c)  Interest due and payable for the period of delay in making 
payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed 

under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 
2006

 -    -   

d) Interest accrued and remain unpaid as at year end  -    -   

e)  Further Interest remaining due and payable even in the 
succeeding year until such date when the interest dues as 
above are actually paid to the small enterprises

 -    -   

based on the information available with the Company regarding the status of registration of such vendors under the said 
Act, as per the intimation received from them on requests made by the Company. There are no overdue principal amounts / 
interest payable amounts for delayed payments to such vendors at the Balance Sheet date. There are no delays in payment 
made to such suppliers during the year or for any earlier years and accordingly there is no interest paid or outstanding 
interest in this regard in respect of payment made during the year or on balance brought forward from previous year.
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 22.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
 (a) Current maturities of long-term debt;  15,18,59,153 

 16,57,000 

 (c)  Interest accrued but not due on borrowings;  9,07,575 

 (d) Share Application Money (Refundable) (Refer Note No. 55)  250  -   

 (e) Unclaimed Equity Dividend  88,301  -   

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
Advance from customers  1,28,39,851 

Duties and taxes  1,06,77,873 

Deferred Revenue (Subsidy) 

 24.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018
 79,61,638  61,59,610 

 1,00,95,028 

 25.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount 2019 Amount 2018

For 2018 - 2019  25,11,736  -   

For 2017 - 2018  -   

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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 26.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

A.  Sale of Products

Direct Export Turnover  97,53,78,971 

Domestic Turnover

(Amount in `)

Amount Amount

 27.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount
Foreign Exchange Gain  5,05,28,983 

Interest Income (TDS `
`

Claim for loss of stock   -   

Deferred Revenue Amortised  
(IND AS-20) (Refer note No. 19)

 28.

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount
 

2019 Amount
 

2018

Opening Stock of Raw Material  30,65,19,929 

Resale `  ` 

1,85,82,97,635

 Freight,  Octroi, and  Clearing & 
Forwarding

 3,13,19,679 

 6,58,11,830 

 

`

31,61,37,800 30,65,19,929
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 29.

(Amount in `)

Particulars
Melamine  5,60,000  19,39,795 

 -    1,25,89,077 

 2,132 

Caprolactem  16,061  -   

-

 -   

Treated Kraft Sheets  -    922 

 23,973  2,36,907 

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

Finished Goods  38,65,95,705  28,28,32,868 

Finished Goods  38,65,95,705 

of `

 7,15,80,366 

Finished Goods & Stock-in-Progress

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount
Excise duty on Sales  -   

 -   

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount
Salary & Bonus  20,36,01,327 

 61,92,193 
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(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount
 Interest on Cash Credit 

 3,25,75,690 

 Interest to Unsecured loan 

 Interest to Financial Institution  17,98,232 

 Other Financial Charges  2,32,83,532  1,50,65,052 

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

Opening Stock  8,16,17,721 

 8,99,99,009 

 5,57,65,897  8,16,17,721 

Commission on Imports  5,55,877 

Central Excise Duty Expenses  1,22,081 

Jobwork Charges

Opening Stock  12,06,163 

 12,06,163  25,91,30,521 

Machinery  75,15,382 

Building  22,22,719  28,59,661 

Others  2,16,90,360  12,02,159  1,15,77,202 

Wages  10,38,37,730 

Transport Charges  12,22,535 

Factory Expenses  1,59,08,281 

Advertisement Expenses  2,68,19,769 

Audit Fees*  5,00,000  3,75,000 

Sales Commision  5,11,91,320 

Computer Maintenance Expenses  23,98,695  16,16,801 

Corporate Social Responsibility 
contribution

Donation  2,85,900 

General/ Miscellaneous Expenses

Insurance Expenses  58,06,571  35,67,908 

 1,75,18,576 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

 -    61,075 

Equity Enhancement Expenses  -    5,03,001 

 21,29,707  20,50,660 

Swachh Bharat Cess  -    2,55,610 

Krishi Kalyan Cess  -    2,52,691 

Rent,Rate and Taxes

Selling Expenses  25,57,35,957 

Sundry Balances Written off  25,02,268 

Travelling, Conveyance and Vehicle 
Expenses

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

As auditors - Statutory audit  3,50,000  2,50,000 

Tax audit  1,50,000  1,25,000 

Taxation Matters  -    -   

 -    -   

 -    -   

Reimbursement of expenses  -    -   

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

(1) Current Tax  6,58,67,735  10,51,00,000 

(2) Deferred Tax  1,99,76,577 

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

amount considering the enacted 

Enacted Income Tax Rate in India 
applicable to the Company

tax expenses at the enacted income 
tax rate in India

 8,00,89,532 

(Contd.)

122



Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)

(Amount in `)

Particulars Amount Amount

Non deductible expenses for Tax 

Deductible Expenses for Tax purposes

MAT Credit Entitlement  -    (3,30,50,673)

written back
 2,67,735  -   

Reconciliation of Deferred Tax 

Timing Difference of Depreciation 
(Deferred tax liability)

 2,13,12,158 

 2,13,12,158  -   

Capital gain on land revaluation-  -   

(Amount in `)

Particulars
  

Number of Equity Shares at the beginning of the year

Number of Equity Shares alloted during the year: 

80000 Shares alloted during the year dated 17th May 2017  -    80,000 

26666 Shares alloted during the year dated 29th May 2017  -    26,666 

105820 Shares alloted during the year dated 25th Nov. 2017  -    1,05,820 

 -   

190372 Shares alloted during the year dated 28th April 2018  1,90,372  -   

23500 Shares alloted during the year dated 19th July 2018  23,500  -   

Total Number of Equity Shares at the end of the year

Weighted average number of equity shares

` 

`  9.61  21.27 

(Contd.)
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Particulars
1. Disputed Income Tax Demand Matter Under Appeal `  ` 
2. Disputed Excise Demand  Matter Under Appeal `  ` 
3. Disputed Custom Duty Matter Under Appeal  `  ` 

`  ` 
5..

to inclusion of certain allowances within the scope of “Basic wages” for the purpose of determining 

Company, with respect to the period and the nature of allowances to be covered, and resultant impact on 
the past provident fund liability, cannot be reasonably ascertained, at present.

    (a)  It is not practicable for the company to estimate the timings of cash outflows, if any, in respect of 
the above, pending resolution of the respective proceedings as it is determinable only on receipt of 
judgments/decisions pending with various forums/ authorities.

    (b)   The Company has reviewed all its pending litigations and proceedings and has adequately provided for 

statements. The Company does not expect the outcome of these proceedings to have a materially 

` `

` `

    Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for net of advances, 
` ` 107,89,28,751/-).

  (2) EPCG Commitments

    Future export obligations / commitments under import of Capital Goods at Concessional rate of customs duty. As 
at 31st March, 2019  ` 203,36,62,500/-.

  The Company’s objective when managing capital is to:

  -  Safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that the Company is able to provide maximum return to 

  - Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

   The Company’s Board of director’s reviews the capital structure on regular basis. As part of this review the board 
considers the cost of capital risk associated with each class of capital requirements and maintenance of adequate 
liquidity.
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equity instrument are disclosed in Note (A) j, k, l and m.

  (i) Categories of Financial Instruments

(Amount in `)

Particulars
As at  As at                       

(i)  Trade and Other Receivables             59,11,35,950 50,17,52,732 
(ii)  Cash and Cash Equivalents                  65,89,823 56,51,699 
(iii) 2,73,16,780 
(iv)  Other Financial Assets                    1,25,000 10,000 

(i) Borrowings  2,33,18,26,120 
(ii)  75,99,33,053 
(iii)    16,16,55,880  19,76,66,873 

Fair 
. 

by analysing exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk 
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

changes in market prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk: interest rate, currency risk and other price risk, 

investments, trade payables, trade receivables, etc.

   Foreign Currency Risk

  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates 
relates primarily to the Company’s operating activities. The Company has a treasury department which monitors 
the foreign exchange fluctuations on the continuous basis and advises the management of any material adverse 
effect on the Company. 

   (a) For hedging currency

(Amount in `)

Particulars
As at  As at                       

Outstanding Forward Contract 2767.81
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otherwise are as under.

Particulars

Amount Payable in Foreign Currency
Foreign Currency Indian Currency  

(`
Foreign Currency Indian Currency  

(`
31-03-2019 157.00  

3.098512 EURO
6875.57

31-03-2018  1909.98 2.506316 USD 

Particulars
USD (215.50) 215.50 (73.33) 73.33
EURO

    Interest Rate Risk

deposits and availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet the 
obligations when due. 

Management monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the basis 
of expected cash flows. In addition, liquidity management also involves projecting cash flows considering 

liabilities and monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios.

liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The information included in the tables have been drawn up based 

be required to pay. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Company may be 
required to pay.

flows:

(Amount in `)

Particulars

2019 
Borrowings  2,33,18,26,120 

 75,99,33,053  - 
Other Financial  -  16,16,55,880 

Total  61,35,65,695  3,25,77,63,687 

2018 
Borrowings 

 - 
Other Financial  15,60,15,880  -  19,76,66,873 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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    Credit Risk

(primarily trade receivables). 

     An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for all the customers. 
In addition, a large number of minor receivables are grouped into homogenous groups and assessed for 
impairment collectively. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value 

Company has evaluated the concentration of risk with respect to trade receivables as low, as its customers 
are located in several jurisdictions and industries.

      The Company has a detailed review mechanism of overdue customer receivables at various levels within 
organisation to ensure proper attention and focus for realisation.

(Amount in `)

Particulars

2019 
 -                 9,66,128  -                        9,66,128 

Trade Receivables            1,71,87,896  - 59,11,35,950 
Other Financial 
Assets 

              3,16,18,262  -  -                   
3,16,18,262 

 - 

2018  
 -               23,16,780  - 23,16,780 

Trade Receivables            1,85,08,010  - 50,17,52,732 
Other Financial 
Assets 

              2,50,00,000                             -    - 2,50,00,000 

 - 

40.
respective parties.

41.

Government Grant.

42.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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  The chief operational decision maker monitors the operating results of its business segment separately for the purpose 
of making decision about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 

  The expenses and income which are not directly attributable to any business segment are shown as unallocable expenditure 
(net of allocable income).

  Segment assets include all operating assets used by the operating segment and mainly consist of property, plant and 
equipment, trade receivables, inventories and other operating assets. Segment liabilities primarily include trade payable 
and other liabilities. Common assets and liabilities which cannot be allocated to any of the business segment are shown as 
unallocable assets / liabilities.

on inter segment transfer are eliminated at the group level.

(Amount in `)

2018-19 2017-18
1718138732/-(*) 1668561726/-(*)

Medium Density Fiber Board 1557051650/-
60976128/-

(*) Does not include trading Sales of ` ` 17671592/-)

Revenue by geographical regions

(Amount in `)

2018-19 2017-18
India 661072272/- 693182755/-
Outside India 975378971/-

(*) Does not include Trading sales of ` ` 17671592/-)

 (ii) Medium Density Fibre Board

(Amount in `)

2018-19 2017-18
India 1555713699/-
Outside India 1337951/- -

(*) Does not include Trading sales of ` ` Nil/-)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

2018-19 2017-18
India 60976128/-
Outside India - -

  

(Amount in `)

  Sr. 
No.

Particulars

1
 a 1,82,93,38,733 1,81,32,73,115 
 b  -  - 
 c  Medium Density Fiber Board 1,72,52,01,318 
 d 
 e  Unallocated   -  - 

2,03,80,253 

2 Segment Results

 a 
 b (5,23,907) (9,65,561) 
 c  Medium Density Fiber Board 32,67,05,957 
 d (1,10,69,003) 
 e  Unallocated   - 

 i  Interest 8,70,23,507 
 ii  Other Unallocable expenditure 

 i  Unallocable income  -  - 

 Segment Assets 
 a 1,67,56,99,682 
 b 7,33,97,225 7,16,99,598 
 c  Medium Density Fiber Board 1,61,02,01,790 
 d 
 e  Unallocated  2,17,65,50,137 36,38,81,865 

 a 
 b 
 c  Medium Density Fiber Board 
 d 
 e  Unallocated  16,76,36,915 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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 (a) Names of related parties, and description of relationship, with whom transaction have taken place during the year:

Sr. 
No. Nature of Relationship Name of Related Parties
1 Enterprises over which Key Managerial person is able 

2 Mr. Ghanshyam A. Thakkar -  Whole Time Director
Mr. Krupesh G. Thakkar - Managing Director
Mr. Ramnik T. Kansagara – Executive Director (has 
been appointed dated 2nd February, 2019)
Mr. Kaushik J. Thakkar – Executive Director (has 
resigned dated 2nd February, 2019)

Mr. Hasmukh K. Modi – Company Secretary
3 Ghanshyambhai A. Thakkar HUF

Krupeshbhai G. Thakkar HUF
Ambalal D. Thakkar HUF
Krupaben K. Thakkar
Dinuben G. Thakkar
Rushil K. Thakkar
Masumi K. Thakkar
Rushvi R. Thakkar

Mrunal K. Gajjar
Viresh Thakkar

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)



(Amount in `)

 
Enterprises Personnel

As on -->  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18

1) Sales of Goods
2,75,29,568  -    -    -    -    2,75,29,568 

 -    -    -    -   

Rushil International 1,38,86,135  -    -    -    -    -    1,38,86,135  -   
 52,29,087  11,50,318  -    -    -    -    52,29,087  11,50,318 

Charges Paid
Ghanshyam  -    6,90,000  -    -    -    -    -    6,90,000 

5) Finance Charges
     Rushil International  -    -    -    -    -    -   

i)  Ghanshyambhai 
Thakkar-HUF

 -    -    -    -   
 -    -    -    -   

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -    25,909  25,909 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    6,78,651  6,78,651 

ii)  Ambalal D. 
Thakkar-HUF

 -    -    -    -    57,762  57,762 
 -    -    -    -    2,00,000  28,00,000  2,00,000  28,00,000 

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -   

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -   

iii)  Krupeshbhai G. 
Thakkar-HUF

 -    -    -    -   
 -    -    -    -    21,10,000  21,10,000 

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -    70,956  3,56,580  70,956  3,56,580 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    3,56,580  3,56,580 

iv)  Dinuben G. 
Thakkar

 -    -    -    -    3,60,150  2,32,227  3,60,150  2,32,227 
 -    -    -    -   
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(Amount in `)

 
Enterprises Personnel

As on -->  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18
Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -    99,195  99,195 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    99,195  16,16,610  99,195  16,16,610 

v)  Krupaben K. 
Thakkar

 -    -    -    -    3,78,523  5,19,763  3,78,523  5,19,763 
 -    -    -    -    12,11,000  3,21,83,069  12,11,000  3,21,83,069 

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -    1,20,307  1,20,307 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    3,26,16,090  3,26,16,090 

vi)  Rushil K. Thakkar
 -    -    -    -    6,37,607  6,37,607 
 -    -    -    -    5,32,262  8,61,650  5,32,262  8,61,650 

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -   

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -   

vii)  Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    5,65,83,130  -    -    5,65,83,130 
 -    -    -    -   

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -   

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -   

viii)  Mr. Ghanshyam A. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    -    -   
 -    -    90,90,666  -    -    90,90,666 

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    15,58,115  26,09,150  -    -    15,58,115  26,09,150 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    26,09,150  -    -    26,09,150 

ix)  Mr. Kaushik J 
Thakkkar

 -    -    13,00,000  2,00,000  -    -    13,00,000  2,00,000 
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    16,00,000  3,00,000  -    -    16,00,000  3,00,000 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    3,00,000  1,00,000  -    -    3,00,000  1,00,000 

x)  Masumi K. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    -    -    1,85,215  1,85,215 
 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    2,02,532  2,02,532 
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(Amount in `)

 
Enterprises Personnel

As on -->  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18
xi) Viresh Natvarlal 
Thakkar

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   
 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 31st 
March

 -    -    -    -    2,05,000  2,05,000  2,05,000  2,05,000 

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    2,05,000  2,05,000  2,05,000  2,05,000 

xii)  Rushil 
International

 -    -    -    -    -    -   
 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Balance at 31st 
March

53,60,00,000  -    -    -    -    -   53,60,00,000  -   

Balance at 1st 
April

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Remuneration
Mr. Ghanshyam A. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    1,05,69,278  -    -    1,05,69,278 

Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar 

 -    -   1,19,99,806  1,05,58,679  -    -    1,19,99,806  1,05,58,679 

Mr. Kaushik J. 
Thakkar (Resigned 
dated 2nd February 
2019)

 -    -    3,75,653  -    -    3,75,653 

Mr. Ramnik 
T. Kansagara 
(appointed in 2nd 
February 2019)

- -  20,15,693  -   - -  20,15,693  -   

Mr. Ghanshyam A. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    -    -   

Ghanshyambhai 
Thakkar HUF

 -    -    -    -    1,92,691  1,92,691  1,92,691  1,92,691 

Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    -    -   

Krupeshbhai 
Thakkar HUF

 -    -    -    -   

Dinuben G. Thakkar  -    -    -    -    1,23,258  1,23,258  1,23,258  1,23,258 
Krupaben K. 
Thakkar

 -    -    -    -   

Rushil K. Thakkar  -    -    -    -   
Rushil International  9,22,885  9,22,885  -    -    -    -    9,22,885  9,22,885 
Mrunal K. Gajjar  -    -    -    -    2,000.0  -    2,000  -   
Hasmukh K. Modi  -    -    0.5  0.5  -    -    0.5  0.5 
Rushvi R. Thakkar - - - -  0.5  0.5  0.5  0.5 

9)  Interest Expenses
Ghanshyambhai 
Thakkar HUF

 -    -    -    -    28,788  60,762  28,788  60,762 

Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    80,717  6,11,835  -    -    80,717  6,11,835 
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(Amount in `)

 
Enterprises Personnel

As on -->  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18
Krupeshbhai 
Thakkar HUF

 -    -    -    -    32,810  32,810 

Dinuben G. Thakkar  -    -    -    -    13,213  13,213 
Ambalal D. Thakkar-
HUF

 -    -    -    -   

Krupaben K. 
Thakkar

 -    -    -    -   

Rushil K. Thakkar  -    -    -    -    17,755  65,939  17,755  65,939 
Mr. Ghanshyam A. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    -    -   

Masumi K. Thakkar  -    -    -    -   
Rushil International  -    -    -    -    -    -   

Krupaben K. 
Thakkar

 -    -    -    -    53,69,512  53,69,512 

Rushil K. Thakkar  -    -    -    -    15,63,096  12,97,905  15,63,096  12,97,905 
Rushvi R. Thakkar  -    -    -    -    9,25,725  -    9,25,725  -   

 -    -    -    -    -    -   
11)  Salary to Key 

Personal 
Mr. Keyur M. Gajjar  -    -    57,59,099  -    -    57,59,099 
Mr. Vipul S. Vora  -    -    39,65,758  33,26,728  -    -    39,65,758  33,26,728 
Mr. Hashmukh K. 
Modi

 -    -    17,89,799  -    -    17,89,799 

Ratnatej 
Infrastructure 

 1,20,000  1,20,000  -    -    -    -    1,20,000  1,20,000 

Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    63,78,750  70,35,000  -    -    63,78,750  70,35,000 

Processing Fees
Mr. Krupesh G. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Ratnatej 
Infrastructure 

 70,00,000  32,00,000  -    -    -    -    70,00,000  32,00,000 

Ratnatej  3,20,658  -    -    -    -    -    3,20,658  -   

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)



(Amount in `)

 
Enterprises Personnel

As on -->  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18  2018-19 2017-18
16) Royalty paid

 1,00,000  -    -    -    -    1,00,000 

Rushil International 1,38,86,135  -    -    -    -    -    1,38,86,135  -   
 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Krupaben K. Thakkar  -    -    -    -    3,85,562  -    3,85,562  -   
Rushil K Thakkar  -    -    -    -    1,26,692  -    1,26,692  -   
Rushvi R Thakkar  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -    36,363  -    36,363  -   
Mr. Keyur M. Gajjar  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Mr. Vipul S. Vora  -    -    2,27,899  -    -    -    2,27,899  -   
Mr. Hashmukh K. 
Modi

 -    -    1,32,910  -    -    -    1,32,910  -   

Mr. Ghanshyam A. 
Thakkar 

 -    -    2,09,628  -    -    -    2,09,628  -   

Mr. Ramnik 
T. Kansagara 
(appointed on 2nd 
February 2019)

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

Ratnatej 
Infrastructure 

1,02,00,000  32,00,000  -    -    -    -    1,02,00,000  32,00,000 

44.

license agreements. These are generally non-cancellable and are renewable by mutual consent on mutually agreeable 
terms. The Company has given refundable security deposit in accordance with agreed terms.

(Amount in `)

Particulars
As at  As at  

1,15,26,168/- 96,80,759/-

45.

(Amount in `)

Particulars 2018-19 2017-18
Employers contribution to provident fund 61,92,193/-

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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provided for on the basis of third party actuarial valuation, using the projected unit credit method, as at the date of the 
Balance Sheet. 

   As the Company has not funded its liability, it has nothing to disclose regarding plan assets and its reconciliation. 

   I have outlined the following risks associated with the plan:

   Adverse Salary Growth Experience: Salary hikes that are higher than the assumed salary escalation will result into 
an increase in Obligation at a rate that is higher than expected.

   Variability in mortality rates: If actual mortality rates are higher than assumed mortality rate assumption than the 

acceleration of cash flow will lead to an actuarial loss or gain depending on the relative values of the assumed 
salary growth and discount rate.

   Variability in withdrawal rates: If actual withdrawal rates are higher than assumed withdrawal rate assumption 

are vested as at the resignation date.

be the fair value of instruments backing the liability. In such cases, the present value of the assets is independent 
of the future discount rate. This can result in wide fluctuations in the net liability or the funded status if there are 

If some of such employees resign/retire from the company there can be strain on the cash flows.

One actuarial assumption that has a material effect is the discount rate. The discount rate reflects the time value 

versa. This assumption depends on the yields on the corporate/government bonds and hence the valuation of 
liability is exposed to fluctuations in the yields as at the valuation date.

and the same will have to be recognised immediately in the year when any such amendment is effective.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)



(Amount in `)

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

Current Service Cost 39,08,510
7,97,936

Remeasurements - Due to Financial Assumptions 68,87,700
Remeasurements - Due to Experience Assumptions -
Remeasurements - Due to Experience Adjustments
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in interest income

(16,91,616)

(Amount in `)

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

1,37,20,981
- -

Current Service Cost
Total Remeasurements included in OCI (16,91,616)

- -
- (30,00,000)

1,37,20,981

1,37,56,009

(Amount in `)
2018-19

Under Base Scenario

(Amount in `)

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

Discount Rate (per annum)
Rate of escalation in salary (per annum)
Withdrawal rate
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46.

 (a) Gross amount required to be spent by the company during the year ` `

 (b) Amount spent during the year on:

(Amount in `)

Particulars
Amount spent (`) Amount yet to be 

spent (`)
`)

(i) Construction/acquisition 
of any asset

2018-19 Nil Nil Nil

(ii) On purposes other than (i) 
above

2018-19 Nil

47. In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the current assets, loans and advances are  approximately of the value stated, if 
realised in the ordinary course of business and the provisions for depreciation and all known and ascertained liabilities are 
adequate and not in excess of the amounts reasonably necessary.

48.
 The Company has lodged claim in respect of loss of stock amounting to ` 67,33,265/-. The stock 

of ` 67,33,265/- consists of Raw Material of ` `

49.

process up to 02nd day of June, 2019 as per conditions stipulated in the said revocation order. However, the operations of 
the company is treated as going concern.

50.

.The Company had submitted its 

revocation order. However, the operations of the company is treated as going concern.

51.

52.
has received an order u/s 281B of the IT Act, 1961 dated 09.05.2019 from the Joint Commissioner of Income Tax (OSD), 
Circle-3(1)(2), Ahmedabad and accordingly the company’s unit situated at 607-608, GIDC, Mansa, Dist. Gandhinagar, 

further action in the above case.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)
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(Amount in `)

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Total revenue

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control of products to customers.

  Revenue from sale of products represents revenue generated from external customers which is attributable to the 
company’s country of domicile i.e. India and external customers outside India as under:

(Amount in `)

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

Revenue from
- Outside India
- In India 97,53,78,971

All assets are located in the Company’s country of Domicile.

 (b)    Contract assets and liabilities

(Amount in `)

Particulars
For the year ended For the year ended 

Contract Assets 59,11,35,950 50,17,52,732

1,28,39,851

(c) Performance obligations

in the contract with respective customer.

54.
  The breakup of Deferred Tax as at 31.03.2019 is as under.

(Amount in `)

Particulars
As on  As on  

- Timing Difference of Depreciation (Deferred tax liability) 26,53,83,029
-

- 62,63,962
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55. During the year under review, the company had issued 190372 equity share  of ` 10 each at a premium of ` 935/- each on 

April 2018. The Company has received share application money from Mr. Manish Srivastava who based in Singapore. Mr. 
Manish Srivastava has given Share application money of ` 7,99,00,000/-, while remitting the fund, in the FIRC (Foreign 

was written as Repayment of loan instead of Share application money  and  hence the same requires correction from the  
` 10 each at premium 

of ` 935 making total allotment including premium of ` 7,98,99,750/-  and hence there was a surplus of ` 250/- which the 
company has  asked their  banker to refund the said amount to Mr.  Manish Srivastava  but because of non-compliance 

be refunded. In spite of repeated reminder to the shareholder Mr. Manish Srivastava, has not got its FIRC  Corrected and 

application money to the extent refundable is not treated as Violation of Section 73 of the Companies Act, 2013. Till the 
date of signing the audit report the said Share application Money of ` 250/- is lying with Axis Bank as non-refunded to 
shareholder. Thus company has shown ` 250/- as share application money (Refundable) under the head “Other Financial 

56.

Notes to the Financial Statements (Contd.)

As per our report of even date attached.
For  
Chartered Accountants
(Firm Regn.No.107525W)

Partner                                                               Chairman Managing Director                
DIN :01059666                 

DATE   : 18th May, 2019  Company Secretary 
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ATTENDANCE SLIP
PLEASE COMPLETE THIS ATTENDANCE SLIP AND HAND IT OVER AT THE ENTRANCE OF THE MEETING HALL.

Details of Shareholder:

No. of Shares held: DP ID No.:

Client ID No. *Folio No.:

Name(s) of Shareholder(s)/Proxy (IN BLOCK LETTERS) : ....................................................................................................................

...................................................................................................................................................................................................................

Address: ...................................................................................................................................................................................................

...................................................................................................................................................................................................................

I/We hereby record my/our presence at the 25th Annual General Meeting of the Company being held on Saturday, the 21st day 
of September, 2019 at 12:30 P.M. at S. No. 125, Near Kalyanpura Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol, Dist. 
Gandhinagar - 382845, Gujarat, India.

               Signature of the Member / Proxy 
holder     

* Applicable for investors holding shares in Physical form.
1. Member/Proxy holder should bring his/her copy of the Annual Report for reference at the meeting.

RUSHIL DECOR LIMITED

 S. No.125, Near Kalyanpura Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol,  
Dist. Gandhinagar – 382845, Gujarat, India  

Tel.: (079) 61400400, Fax: (079) 61400401 Email ID: ipo@rushil.com Website: www.rushil.com

RUSHIL DECOR LIMITED

 S. No.125, Near Kalyanpura Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, Tal. Kalol,  
Dist. Gandhinagar – 382845, Gujarat, India  

Tel.: (079) 61400400, Fax: (079) 61400401 Email ID: ipo@rushil.com Website: www.rushil.com
PROXY FORM

FORM NO. MGT – 11
 [Pursuant to section 105(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 19(3) of the Companies  

(Management and Administration) Rules, 2014]

Name of the member (s)
Registered Address

E-mail Id
Folio No/ Client Id
DP Id

I/We, being the member(s) of  holding ............................................ shares hereby appoint: 

1. Name : Address:
E-mail Id : Signature : ......................................................., or failing him/her

2. Name : Address:
E-mail Id : Signature : ......................................................., or failing him/her

3. Name : Address:
E-mail Id : Signature : ..........................................................., 

as my/our proxy to attend and vote (on a poll) for me/us and on my/our behalf at the 25th Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held on 

https://www.rushil.com/


Resolution  
No.

Resolution OPTIONAL2

ORDINARY BUSINESS For Against
1.

2.
3.

rotation and, being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment.
SPECIAL BUSINESS

5.

6.

Related Party.

Signed this ................ day of ...................................... 2019

                                                                                  
Signature of the member                                                                                 Signature of the proxy holder(s)

Notes:

2.  It is optional to put a ‘X’ in the appropriate column against the Resolutions indicated in the Box. If you leave the ‘For’ and 
‘Against’ column blank against any or all Resolutions, your Proxy will be entitled to vote in the manner as he / she thinks 
appropriate.
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Disclaimer
This document contains statements about expected 
future events and fi nancials of Rushil Décor Limited, 
which are forward-looking. By their nature, forward-
looking statements require the Company to make 
assumptions and are subject to inherent risks and 
uncertainties. There is signifi cant risk that the 
assumptions, predictions and other forward-looking 
statements may not prove to be accurate. Readers 
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements as a number of factors could cause 
assumptions, actual future results and events to differ 
materially from those expressed in the forward-looking 
statements. Accordingly, this document is subject 
to the disclaimer and qualifi ed in its entirety by the 
assumptions, qualifi cations and risk factors referred to in 
the Management Discussion and Analysis of this Annual 
Report.

Please fi nd our online version at 
https://www.rushil.com/fi nancial

Or simply scan to download

Investor information
Market Capitalisation as at 31st March, 2019 : ` 685 Crore 
CIN : L25209GJ1993PLC019532
BSE Code : 533470 
NSE Symbol : RUSHIL
Bloomberg Code : RDL:IN
Dividend Declared : 5% (` 0.50 per share)
AGM Date : Saturday, 21st September, 
                                                                                        2019    
AGM Venue Registered offi ce of the Company at S. No. 125, Near 

Kalyanpura Patia, Village Itla, Gandhinagar Mansa Road, 
Tal. Kalol, Dist. Gandhinagar-382845, Gujarat INDIA. 

Shareholding 
Structure

Promoters and Promoters Group (52.85%)
Public (47.15%)
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